
1

MEETING: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

DATE: Wednesday 17th March, 2021

TIME: 3.00 pm

VENUE: Remote Meeting

Member Substitute

Councillor Robinson (Chair)
Councillor Roche (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Brennan
Councillor Cluskey
Councillor McGinnity
Councillor O'Hanlon
Councillor Pugh
Councillor John Sayers
Councillor Shaw
Councillor Sir Ron Watson

Councillor Bradshaw
Councillor Carr
Councillor Dowd
Councillor Roscoe
Councillor Yvonne Sayers
Councillor Irving
Councillor Evans
Councillor Spencer
Councillor Lewis
Councillor Brough

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby
Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2181
E-mail: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk

  

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

Public Document Pack



2

This page is intentionally left blank.



3

A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting by switching their 
camera and microphone off during the whole consideration of 
any item of business in which he/she has an interest, except 
where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer by 12 Noon the day 
before the meeting to determine whether the Member should 
withdraw from the meeting, during the whole consideration of 
any item of business in which he/she has an interest or 
whether the Member can remain in the meeting, or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 December 2020 (Pages 7 - 12)

4.  Statement of Accounts 2019/2020 (To Follow)
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

5.  Corporate Risk Management (Pages 13 - 
38)

1. Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services

2. Presentation on Cyber Security Risk, by the Senior 
Manager, ICT & Digital

6.  Audit and Governance Terms of Reference (Pages 39 - 
52)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

7.  Members Code of Conduct (Pages 53 - 
74)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 



4

Customer Services

8.  Revisions to Employee Code of Conduct (Pages 75 - 
110)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

9.  Amendments to the Constitution - Highways (Pages 111 - 
116)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

10.  Financial Management Code (Pages 117 - 
142)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

11.  Treasury Management Position to January 2021 (Pages 143 - 
152)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

12.  Risk and Audit Performance Report (Pages 153 - 
192)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

13.  Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 (Pages 193 - 
224)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

14.  Proposed changes to the Constitution in relation to 
Planning Committee

(Pages 225 - 
232)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

15.  Exclusion of Press and Public
The following report is not Exempt/Confidential, but includes 
appendices which contain exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A under Section 
100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. Namely:

 Item 16 –Appendices 1 and 2 

Members are therefore requested to indicate whether or not 



5

they wish to discuss any matters referred to in the exempt 
appendices and accordingly, consider passing the following 
resolution:

That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for 
any items of business which might involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. The Public Interest Test 
has been applied and favours exclusion of the information 
from the Press and Public.

16.  Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts > £10,000 (Pages 233 - 
254)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

7

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE REMOTE MEETING
ON  16 DECEMBER 2020

PRESENT: Councillor Robinson (in the Chair)
Councillor Roche (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Brennan, Cluskey, McGinnity, Pugh, 
John Sayers, Shaw and Irving

12. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors O’Hanlon, Sir Ron 
Watson and Brough (Substitute for Councillor Watson) and Mr Richard 
Tyler, External Auditor (Ernst and Young).

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

14. MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2020 be confirmed 
as a correct record.

15. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/2020 

Further to Minute No. 6 of 16 September 2020, the Committee considered 
the report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services which provided an update on the current position regarding the 
audit of the 2019/20 Statement of Accounts.

RESOLVED: 

That the current position with regard to the audit of the 2019/20 Statement 
of Accounts be noted.

16. AMENDED DATA PROTECTION AND CONFIDENTIALITY 
POLICY 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services, which sought approval for 
the updated Council Data and Confidentiality Policy attached at Appendix 
1 to the report.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH 
DECEMBER, 2020

8

The report indicated that in accordance with the accountability principle 
under Article 5 of the General Data Protection Regulation and Data 
Protection Act 2018, the Council was required to put in place appropriate 
technical and organisational measures to meet the requirements of 
accountability; and adopting and implementing a data protection policy 
was one of those measures.

The Data Protection and Confidentiality Policy had first been created in 
January 2014, had subsequently been reviewed a number of times and 
would continue to be reviewed on an annual basis.  The recent revisions 
included details of the enforcement action the Information Commissioner’s 
Officer (ICO) might take against a data controller, including the fines which 
might be imposed, details of the criminal offences under the Data 
Protection Act 2018, payment of the Data Protection fee and additional 
information on the Council’s Information Governance framework. It was 
noted that a small number of revisions would be made in January to reflect 
technical amendments resulting from the UK GDPR. 

RESOLVED:

That the revised Data Protection and Confidentiality Policy (December 
2020) be approved.

17. ICT SECURITY POLICY 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services, which sought approval for 
the updated ICT Acceptable Use Policy (September 2020) (Appendix A) 
and the ICT Starters, Movers and Leavers Policy (Appendix B).

Mr Jamal Aslam, Service Delivery Lead, Corporate Resources, presented 
the report and indicated that work was currently being undertaken in 
respect of the Council’s Password Policy and therefore was not included 
within the report. 

Mr David McCullough, Chief Legal and Democratic Officer also advised 
that following consultation with the Chair subsequent to publication of the 
agenda, the recommendation contained in the report had been amended 
as follows:

1) That the ICT Acceptable Usage Policy 2020 be recommended to 
Council for approval and inclusion in the Constitution.

2) That the Sefton Council – ICT Starters, Movers and Leavers Policy 
be approved and it be recommended to Council that it be removed 
from the Constitution given the managerial operational nature of the 
policy not being appropriate for the Constitution.

3) That it be noted that the Password Policy referred to in the report 
will be submitted to a later meeting of the Committee.

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH 
DECEMBER, 2020

9

RESOLVED: That

(1) Council be requested to give its approval for the ICT Acceptable Use 
Policy and inclusion in the Constitution;

(2) Council be requested to give its approval for the ICT Starters, Movers 
and Leavers Policy and it be recommended to Council that it be 
removed from the Constitution, given the managerial operational 
nature of the policy not being appropriate for the Constitution; and

(3) it be noted that the Council’s Password Policy referred to in the 
report, will be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee.

18. CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services on the updated Corporate 
Risk Register, indicating that since the last meeting, the Corporate Risk 
Register had been reviewed and updated.

The report indicated that there had been no new risks which had been 
added or escalated from the Service Risk Register to the Corporate Risk 
Register; that following continual monitoring, the risk of ‘failing to secure 
external finding for revenue projects/programmes had been de-escalated 
to the service risk register for Economic Growth and Housing, where it 
would continue to be assessed.  

Mr David Eden, Chief Internal Auditor, presented the report and indicated 
that the risks had been re-scored in accordance with the revised 
assessment guidance included in the Corporate Risk Management 
handbook approved by the Committee in December 2019 and a revised 
Corporate Risk Management handbook was provided at Appendix 2 to the 
report, for noting by the Committee. The report also provided information 
on the planned work to formally define the Council’s Risk Appetite and the 
further proposed review of the Risk Management Handbook.

Mr Eden reminded the Committee that at the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 18 December 2019, it had been agreed that for future 
meetings, a short presentation would be made by a risk owner on one of 
the risks listed in the Corporate Risk Register. In this respect Mr Chris Lee, 
Service Manager, Special Educational Needs and Disability – SEND had 
been invited to provide a presentation to the Committee on measures 
being taken to ameliorate the risk in respect of the Dedicated School Grant 
High Needs Funding for Special Educational Needs which was inadequate 
to meet requirements.  Accordingly, Mr Lee gave a presentation to the 
Committee and answered questions thereon.

RESOLVED: That

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH 
DECEMBER, 2020

10

(1) the contents of the Corporate Risk Register, particularly the nature 
of the major risks facing the Council and the controls and planned 
action in place to mitigate these risks be noted;

(2) the updated Corporate Risk Management Handbook be approved;

(3) the planned work to formally define the Council’s Risk Appetite 
and the further review of the Risk Management Handbook be 
noted; and 

(4) Mr Lee be thanked for his informative presentation on the risk 
associated with the Dedicated School Grant Dedicated School 
Grant High Needs Funding for Special Educational Needs and 
measures being put into place to reduce / remove the risk and he 
be requested to provide copies of the presentation slides to 
Members.

19. RISK AND AUDIT SERVICE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services which provided details of the 
performance and key activities of the Risk and Audit Service for the period 
6 September 2020 to 6 December 2020.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the progress in the delivery of the 2020/21 Audit Plans and the 
activity undertaken for the period 6 September 2020 to 6 December 
2020 be noted;

(2) the revisions in the Annual Internal Audit Plan be noted; and

(3) the contributions made by the Health and Safety, Insurance, 
Assurance and Risk and Resilience teams in facilitating the 
management of the Council’s key risks be noted.

20. SEFTON COUNCIL ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services which provided details of the 
Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy.

RESOLVED:

That the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy be approved.

21. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2020/21 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH 
DECEMBER, 2020

11

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services which provided a review of 
the Treasury Management Activities undertaken to 30 September 2020.  
This was the second report of the ongoing quarterly monitoring reports 
provided to the Audit and Governance Committee whose role it was to 
carry out scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the Treasury Management update to 30 September 2020 be 
noted; and 

(2) the effects of the decisions taken in pursuit of Treasury 
Management Strategy and the implications of changes resulting 
from regulatory, economic and market factors affecting the 
Council’s management activities be noted.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Corporate Risk Management

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

The Corporate Risk Register is presented to each meeting of the Audit and
Governance Committee. Since the last Committee meeting in December 2020, the
Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed and updated.

There have been no new risks which have been added or escalated from the Service
Risk Registers to the Corporate Risk Register.

No risks have been de-escalated from the Corporate Risk Register to the Service Risk 
Registers.

The following two EU exit risks have been amalgamated into one risk;

1. Failure to mitigate impacts of COVID-19, EU Exit, winter, austerity, on the Sefton 
economy.
2.  Failure to mitigate risks of or develop and maximise opportunities from EU Exit. 

The risks have been re-scored in accordance with the revised assessment guidance
included in the Corporate Risk Management handbook which was approved by the
Committee in December 2020.

A presentation on one of the risks within the Corporate Risk Register, Cyber Security, will 
be provided to Members at March meeting.

Recommendation(s):

(1) Consider the updated Corporate Risk Register, in particular noting the nature of the
major risks facing the Council, and the controls and planned actions in place to
mitigate these.

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
A robust system of risk management will assist the Council in meeting its identified
objectives

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
None.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs - There are no direct financial implications arising from this 
report. However, the Council benefits from the work of the Risk and Audit section in 
reducing the potential impact and likelihood (and therefore the costs) of the risks 
identified.

(B) Capital Costs - There are no direct capital cost implications arising from this 
report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no direct resource implications.

Legal Implications:

There are no legal implications.

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive impact

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive impact

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive impact

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive impact

Drivers of change and reform: Positive impact

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Positive impact

Greater income for social investment: Positive impact

Cleaner Greener: Positive impact

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6327/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4428/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4053
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Corporate Risk Register – March 2020

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Risk Management is defined as ‘systematic application of principles, approach and
processes to the task of identifying and assessing the risk and the planning and
implementing of risk responses’.

1.2 Whilst the process of risk management is routinely undertaken within the Council in a
number of areas, both at a strategic level and operationally, it is recognised that there
is still scope, to develop a more integrated risk management approach. This report
seeks to continue the process of formalising a system of robust Corporate Risk
Management, and embedding this into the organisation. The Corporate Risk
Management Handbook outlines that there should be three tiers of risk registers in
place across the organisation which are identified through the scoring of the risks:

 Corporate Risk Register – risks scored at 16 plus and these are the key risks
affecting the Council

 Service Risk Registers – risks scored between eight and 15 which are owned
and managed by the Head of Service.

 Operational Risk Registers – risks scored at seven and below which are
owned and managed by Service Managers

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



1.3 An updated Corporate Risk Register is presented at each meeting of this Committee.
The Corporate Risk Register has been shared with and reviewed by senior officers to
ensure that the risk register reflects the most significant risks facing the Council. The
completion of a risk register also demonstrates that the Council has set out an
approach to mitigate the risks that have been identified. This should give members
assurance that there is a robust corporate approach to the management of the most
significant threats to the achievement of the Council’s objectives. The updated
Corporate Risk Register is set out at Appendix A, using the revised scoring approved
by Members in December 2020, for noting by the Committee.

1.4 The Service Risk Registers are owned and reviewed by the Heads of Service on a
quarterly basis and are provided to the Risk and Audit team for information. The
completed Service Risk Registers are used by Audit as an agenda item in the formal
quarterly meeting with the Heads of Service and are also used for the monthly budget
meetings that are held by Finance with the Service Management teams. Due to the
wider use of the risk registers there has been a noticeable improvement in the
engagement on risk.

1.5 The Operational Risk Registers are owned and revised by Service Managers.
Members may remember that the Risk and Resilience Team assisted by the Internal
Audit Team completed an exercise in 2018/19 to fully implement this tier of risk
registers across the organisation facilitating the completion of over 70 risk registers.
This exercise was completed in March 2019. The Risk and Audit Team assisted by
the Internal Audit Team work with the individual teams to facilitate regular reviews of
the risk registers which will help to embed risk management at the centre of the
Council’s activities.

2. Key Developments

2.1 Since the December 2020 update to the Audit and Governance Committee, the
Corporate Risk Register has been fully reviewed and updated.

2.2 There have been no new risks which have been added or escalated from the 
Service Risk Registers to the Corporate Risk Register.

2.3 No risks have been de-escalated from the Corporate Risk Register to the Service 
Risk Registers

2.4 The following two EU exit risks have been amalgamated into one risk;

 Failure to mitigate impacts of COVID-19, EU Exit, winter, austerity, on the 
Sefton economy.

 Failure to mitigate risks of or develop and maximise opportunities from EU 
Exit. 

2.5 The scoring of the risks has been reviewed by the risk owners in line with the
revised scoring matrix approved by the Committee in December 2020.

2.6 At the Audit and Governance Committee in December 2019 it was agreed that for
each meeting a short presentation would be made by a risk owner on one of the
risks from the Corporate Risk Register. The briefing, in line with good practice on
risk management, should be on the background to the key risk, the current

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



controls and the actions to mitigate the risk further. A presentation on Cyber 
Security will be provided to Members at the March 2021 meeting.

2.7 The Risk and Resilience Team are monitoring the updating of the operational risk
registers and will starting from June 2021 provide granular details on which risk
registers are not being updated. This will also apply to Service Risk Registers.

2.8 Work is currently on-going to define a process to formally define the Council’s
Risk Appetite. An update on the progress will be provided to future meetings.

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Significant impact on Service Delivery for 
Planning and Sefton LA

Causes Government are completing an overhaul of Planning System

Result Impact - Requirement to review and amend local plan, impact on financials as creates a removal of revenue. Loss of control with 
potential impact on Town Centre Recovery and Community cohesion

Current 
treatments and 
controls

Added on 05.08.20 impact and associated actions not yet known, requires escalation onto CRR
As controls and Govt detail become clearer the impact will be re-assessed and this may be removed from CRR.

Risk owner DM
Proposed 
actions

The Actions associated are still to be defined and finalised as Government guidance on requirements still needs further clarity, 
maintain on the CRR P

age 19

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to effectively manage and support 
the response to a pandemic incident

Causes Major pandemic incident occurs where there are multiple community outbreaks of  COVID-19 impacting on the local area and staff.
Recovery plans not in place.

Result

 Increased morbidity and mortality    
 Reduced capacity across the Local Authority and partner organisations.
 20-35% staff absences anticipated in services across the Local Authority and partner organisations.
 Services delivery reduced as a result of the implementation of business continuity.
 Increased demand of services in response to outbreaks.
 Increased social anxiety.
 Services, businesses and schools being temporarily closed.
 Surge of demand in supply chains.
 Negative socio-economic impact.
 High level of media and public interest in the Council's actions
 Loss of reputation

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Sefton Council Strategic Coordination Group (SCG) for COVID-19 established and meeting weekly. Sefton Governance 
structure and operational response cells in place to manage impacts of COVID- 19 and support Sefton residents, businesses 
and delivery of council services.  Sefton operational cells align to multi-agency workstreams on the Merseyside Resilience 
Forum (MRF), Liverpool City Region and other regional / North West forums. 

 Engagement with the Merseyside Resilience Forum (MRF) and participation in twice weekly multi-agency Strategic and 
Tactical Co-ordination Groups to manage response to COVID-19 impacts for Merseyside.  Sefton Officers chair,  lead and 
are active members of multiple MRF multi-agency response cells working across the Merseyside footprint and linked into 
national government via MHCLG. 

 Enhanced partnership working with Sefton based agencies to deliver effective response outcomes e.g. Sefton CVS, CCGs, 
Health agencies, Care Homes, schools and private sector organisations. 

 Enhanced working practices to facilitate remote, agile and home working for majority of staff. Robust IT systems to allow 
virtual meetings and extended customer contact centre opening hours.  Co-ordinated approach to recruit and mobilise 
volunteers/council staff to deliver support to Sefton residents/communities who become vulnerable to the impacts of the 
pandemic.  Re-prioritisation of council activities and re-direction of staff roles to provide support where it most needed or to 
enhance capacity for service areas that become severely under staffed as a result of increase in demand or loss of personnel 
able to work.

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

 Pro-active Communications strategy for public facing, internal and multi-agency working, co-ordination of information and 
guidance updates and out of hours on call Comms rota. 

 Links to national guidance and Gov.uk latest information repository pushed out via staff intranet, social media and other 
partner communications /news platforms.

 Sefton Major Incident Guidance Document/Sefton Business Continuity Policy/Sefton Business Continuity Strategy/Service 
Area COVID-19 BC plans/E- learning module on Business Continuity 

 Sefton dedicated and knowledgeable teams including Public Health Team and Risk and Resilience Function
 Continuous reinforcement of hand hygiene and infection control messages from Public Health both internally and externally.
 Regular Communications from HoS and Senior Managers to staff with regard to observation of social distancing and on-

going ‘stay safe’ COVID-19 advice including continue to work at home wherever possible.
 Outbreak Board chaired by Leader meeting weekly.  Wider partnership outbreak board meeting bi-weekly.
 Additional public health staff recruited to strengthen health protection response
 Locally supported contact tracing service in place.
 Community and targeted asymptomatic Lateral Flow testing in place.                                                                                                                                                                                                             
 Surge testing completed in three wards in Southport in response to identification of Variant of Concern

Risk owner DPH/CEO

Proposed 
actions

 Review Council Pandemic Plans, including the Outbreak plan in response to publication of COVID-19 Response Spring 2021
 Asymptomatic testing plan to be reviewed in light of expanding national testing streams
 Contact tracing service will flex in response to changing rates of infection and provide additional cover (testing, vaccine 

promotion etc) as wider Council workforce return to routine duties.
 Funding secured to develop Community Connectors programme
 MRF multi-agency Strategic Recovery Co-ordinating Group planning in development.
 Place based planning in progress

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

The Council is the victim of a cyber-attack.

Causes Malware, ransomware or another virus infects the Council's systems.

Result

 Services will not have access to systems and data as standard and will have to fall back on non-ICT delivery methods, albeit 
without access to key data.

 Data breach occurs. 
 Financial impact of ransom.
 Reputational damage

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Cyberattack prevention measures are in place, including 
- Upgraded Council firewalls and active SIEM monitoring service.
- Anti malware tools
- New Acceptable use policy ready for deployment
- LGA Stocktake completed
- PSN Accreditation achieved
- New security standards for email encryption implemented

 Back-up disaster recovery facility is in place at a separate site, allowing Agilisys to restore the top 20 critical systems.
 Agilisys has a Business Continuity-Disaster Recovery plan in place which covers an action plan for this priority restoration, 

and the subsequent restoration of all other systems - this is aligned to the Business Continuity work programme
 Ongoing monitoring in in place via ICT governance arrangements
 Windows Defender anti-virus software is constantly updated- the Council will move to ESET imminently
 Communication to employees regarding the rise in malware attacks is in place, with plans to roll out better user education on 

this topic.

Risk owner ED CR&CS

Proposed 
actions

 The ongoing ICT Transformation programme will see the majority of systems and data migrated to Microsoft Azure cloud 
hosting, which will reduce the overall risk; however, a review of all security controls is underway by the Security Committee

 Deployment of industry standard ESET solution in progress
 Formal rollout of Cyber Security Awareness training.
 Develop new Business Continuity-Disaster Recovery plan in line with wider Corporate review of Business Continuity

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Financial sustainability beyond 2021/22

Causes

 The national review of local government funding and the next comprehensive spending review and subsequent 3 year 
financial settlement places further strain on the Council's overall medium term budget.

 Due to the scale of budget reductions since 2010 there is a risk that further suitable cost-saving/income generating measures 
will be difficult to identify.   The current pandemic will also significantly affect both the in year and future years budget pending 
advice and further support from central government

 The impact of the Global pandemic will also have an impact on the council’s finances with increased demand for services, a 
reduction in income and reductions in collection Fund income 

Result
 Degradation of service could have an adverse impact on residents and communities
 The reputation of the Council may be compromised
 Financial sustainability could be compromised 

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Continual work is undertaken to deliver financial sustainability. A budget Plan for 2020/21 was agreed by Council on 27 
February 2020 and an updated MTFP for 2021/22 to 2022/23 was approved by cabinet in October 2020. Reports are 
presented each month to Cabinet on the potential impact of COVID 19 together with required actions throughout the year

 The financial sustainability of the council at this time will be driven by the support offered by central government to mitigate 
the impact of COVID 19.  The spending review announcement on 25 November and subsequent local government finance 
settlement in December 2020 have informed a budget package for 2021/22 that will be approved by Council on 4 March 
2020.  This budget will be monitored in 21/22 in the same way as in 2020/21 ie focussing on the approved budget, impact of 
the pandemic and impact on the collection fund.  The budget report clearly sets out the risks that will exist next year and that 
remedial actions maybe required.  As stated, the level and nature of government support aligned with national and local 
restrictions will be key influencing factors.  Within the budget report is a defined approach to setting the 22/23 to 24/25 budget 
and the propose move to setting multi year budgets if possible.  This has served the council well since 2010

Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Deliver the Councils Budget Plan 2020/21 and manage the financial impact of COVID
 Approve the Councils Budget Plan for 2021/22 on 4 March 2021
 Commence the development of the MTFP for the 3 years from 2022/23 to 2024/25 in advance of the 3 year comprehensive 

spending review due in October 2021, taking particular account of the risks posed in the collection fund and Children's Social 
Care

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

 Start the development of budget proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25 as part of the Framework for Change 2020 taking full 
account of COVID19 

 Inform the governments fair funding review and comprehensive spending review and lobby for additional support to mitigate 
the impact of COVID 19

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Data breach resulting in the wrongful 
release of personal and/or sensitive 
information

Causes
Policies and processes coordinated by Information Management and Governance Executive Group are not adhered to, resulting in a 
higher incidence of breaches caused by human error
System error occurs

Result Failure to comply with legal requirements; loss of privacy, distress or harm to the data subject; damage to Council's reputation; loss of 
public confidence; and significant financial penalties.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Information management and governance, including data breaches and actions to prevent data breaches, is overseen by the 
Information Management and Governance Executive Group (IMGEG), which consists of Heads of Service with lead 
responsibilities for key aspects of IMG (i.e. designated Chief Information Officer, Senior Information Risk Owner and Lead 
officer for ICT infrastructure) supported by other officers with key roles relating to IMG.

 Each service has designated Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators. Policies, procedures, 
processes and issues are communicated to these officers through the Information Management and Governance Tactical 
Group.

 Support, co-ordination, advice and guidance is provided corporately, and appropriate training/refresher training is in place
 The Council has implemented policies, procedures and processes to prevent, manage and respond to potential and actual 

data breaches.
Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Appropriate resourcing, prioritisation and focus on information management and governance across the Council include the following:
Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of policies, procedures and processes to prevent, manage and respond to potential and actual 
data breaches.

 Ongoing review of information systems to ensure no inappropriate or unforeseen data linkages exist within systems or reports. Review of 
systems ahead of updates to identify any unintended changes.

 Ongoing education of staff and monitoring of activity by IAOs and IAAs to identify and prevent areas of human error.
 Regular review of information contained to ensure information is accurate and any information that should be removed is removed.
 Regular reporting by IMGEG to SLB and Audit and Governance Committee as necessary
 Maximise the opportunities from the Council's ICT Transformation to increase and embed effective information management and 

governance

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to manage historic records 
effectively

Causes
The risk is amplified by the implementation of GDPR (in particular the right to erasure and tighter deadlines for response to Subject 
Access Requests).   In addition, the Council’s Asset Maximisation programme which may lead the Council to leaving, redeveloping or 
selling buildings where records are held and moving to Paper Light working arrangements. 

Result
 Failure to comply with legal requirements relating to retention, consideration, release or correct disposal of historical 

information; damage to Council's reputation; loss of public confidence; and significant financial penalties.
 Historical information is not stored or managed correctly, such that it is lost, damaged or incorrectly disposed of
 Not known to the organisation when making relevant decisions; retained when it should have been correctly disposed of.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Information management and governance is overseen by the Information Management and Governance Executive Group 
(IMGEG), which consists of Heads of Service with lead responsibilities for key aspects of IMG (i.e. designated Chief 
Information Officer; Senior Information Risk Owner; and Lead officer for ICT infrastructure), supported by other officers with 
key roles relating to IMG.

 Each service has designated Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators. Policies, procedures, 
processes and issues are communicated to these officers through the Information Management & Governance Tactical 
Group.

 Support, co-ordination, advice and guidance is provided corporately and appropriate training/refresher training is in place.
 The Council has implemented policies, procedures and processes for the management of information and has in place 

corporate contracts for appropriate digitisation, disposal and archive storage services.
 The Council has implemented a Historic Records Pilot Project to identify the scale, condition and correct management of all 

historic records held. This project reports regularly to IMGEG.
 Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of policies, procedures and processes to prevent, manage and respond to 

potential and actual data breaches.
 Regular communications to workforce reminding them of training and responsibilities.

Risk owner All Heads of Service

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Proposed 
actions

 Appropriate resourcing, prioritisation and focus on information management and governance across the Council, including 
support for Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Administrators including action on the following. 

 Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of policies, procedures and processes for the management of information, 
including historic information.

 Regular monitoring and review by IMGEG of the progress and implications of the Historic Records Pilot Project, including 
reporting to SLB and Audit and Governance Committee as necessary.

 Maximise the opportunities from the Council's ICT Transformation to increase and embed effective information management 
and governance.

 Commission training to improve understanding of data handling requirements and checks and controls
 Ongoing education of staff and monitoring of activity by IAOs and IAAs to identify and prevent areas of human error.

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Inadequate capability to prepare for and 
respond effectively to a major incident 
affecting the Council or occurring in Sefton 
as per the Council's responsibilities under 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004.

Causes A major incident occurs affecting the Council or the Borough.   This risk is accentuated as the government has determined the terror 
threat level as "severe" and was raised to "critical" on two occasions in 2017.

Result

 Loss of human life, illness or serious injury 
 Major damage or destruction to infrastructure, property and/or the environment
 Disruption or loss of critical services such as transport, communications, utility services
 Reputational or financial harm to the authority

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Emergency Response Manual and Major Incident Guidance in place.
 Revised Command and Control structure in place which defines Strategic and Tactical level officers.
 Emergency Duty Co-ordinators invited to attend quarterly briefing sessions, and all are able to access Resilience Direct 

containing incident response plans. 
 Relevant training provided to Emergency Duty Co-ordinators and volunteers on an ongoing basis.
 Attendance and participation in Merseyside Resilience Forum and joint planning across Merseyside.
 Humanitarian volunteers in place and team strengthened following successful recruitment drive.
 Plans for response and recovery are the subject of ongoing review and update, particularly in light of the government's 

assessment of the terror threat level as "severe".
 Ongoing development and review of supporting plans.
 Business Impact Analysis training for the Risk and Resilience team has been completed. This has resulted in the production 

of BIAs for all service areas.
 Business Continuity Policy and strategy have been devised and approved.

Risk owner All Heads of Service

Proposed 
actions

 Business Continuity Planning Implementation Plan has been devised and is currently being implemented.  This includes the 
following:

 Service Level Business Continuity Plans will be complete by end April 2021.
 Sefton Corporate Level Business Continuity Plan to be produced by end April 2021.
 Business Continuity Testing and exercising to be undertaken.

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Dedicated Schools Grant High Needs 
Funding for Special Educational Needs is 
inadequate to meet requirements.

Causes

 High Needs budgets are under considerable pressure from increasing numbers of children being diagnosed with complex 
and life-long SEND related issues.

 National funding allocations are not increasing annually to reflect increases in local population demand and so any additional 
commissioned places need to be financed from within existing budget envelope. 

 The number and value of requests from mainstream schools for "top-up" funding (for children with SEND) has increased by 
over 25% in the last 12 months.  

 Maintained special school provision is full and so more and more children are being placed in independent provision which is 
more expensive.

 Central Government have advocated parental preference for SEND provision - which has added to the number of children 
being placed in independent provision - with no additional funding.

Result

 Sefton’s High Needs budget is forecast to overspend by £4.5m this financial year  and this will increase the balance sheet 
deficit to around £8m

 The estimated deficit on the high needs block will be held on the Council’s Balance Sheet. The DfE do not expect the Local 
Authority’s General Fund to cover accumulated deficits, however the external auditors and CIPFA are still to confirm their 
interpretation of treatment in the year-end accounts.

 Ofsted inspection affected.

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Report to Cabinet on work programme , timescales and objectives
 Engagement with Head of Education Excellence and the SEN team Managers on how costs can be contained.
 Sufficiency statement produced that will drive future strategy and financial sustainability
 Lobbying and engagement of both DFE and MCCLG on financial impact and the need for increased support
 Engagement with special schools actively working with individual schools to review impact of any proposed changes to their 

funding, reviewing three-year financial plans, identifying any strategic savings to mitigate high calls on DSG High Needs 
funding.

 Review of place and top up levels of funding.
 In addition, further work is being undertaken on alleviating the barriers to inclusivity within mainstream settings and
 assessment of effectiveness of capital spend to maximise mainstream settings for children and young people.
 Sefton Schools Forum has agreed to the continuation for an additional year of intra-block funding decisions made in 2019/20
 to increase funding available in 2020/21.

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

 The transfer of 0.5% (£0.824m) from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block, will target funding towards supporting the
 most inclusive schools;
 A transfer from the Early Years Block to the High Needs Block of £200k to support additional provision for 0 to 4-year olds.
 The National High Needs Block formula funding allocation to Local Authorities has increased by £780m in 2020/21 compared
 to the 2019/20 baseline. Sefton’s share of the additional funding is £3.853m  

Risk owner Head of Education Excellence

Proposed 
actions

 Lobbying of Government continues with a view to securing increased funding. 
 The SEND Schools Forum is the Project Group tasked with implementing an action plan to address the annual overspend, 

cumulative deficit and bringing the budget back into an in-year balanced position for 2021/22
 To date three meetings have taken place and workstreams developed with LA and School representatives as key 

workstream owners including:
 Developing a new funding model to support children with EHCPs;
 Clarifying high needs funding outside of the EHCP process;
 Reviewing provision and placement sufficiency.

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to manage increasing demand for 
services within Children’s Social Care

Causes
Increase in the number of children needing a CSC intervention including increase in LAC and CP
Budgets reduced to meet Council Targets has had an impact on the delivery of early help services

Result

 Inability to cope with demand, increased safeguarding risks
 Loss of reputation and poor inspection outcomes
 Increase in budget pressures 
 Increase in Social Work Caseloads

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Regular audit of cases, scrutiny of data and understanding of demand to predict future demand (needs analysis)
 Demand Management Programme as part of the next PSR projects in place with a number of workstreams to reduce 

demand for services
Risk owner HoCSC

Proposed 
actions

 Demand management workstream with project management
 Recruitment of Support workers to undertake non - social work tasks
 Managed Service in place to support reduced SW caseloads
 Increased resource to discharge Care Orders at home

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to plan within annual budget for 
increased placement costs for Children's 
Social Care

Causes
Numbers of children in care increase, demand for placements cannot be met as cost increases. Impact of Covid 19 on demand
Increased cost of placements

Result Costs increase and quality and sufficiency of placements decreases

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Fortnightly meeting to monitor placement costs and reduce high cost placements
 Programme of market reform in residential market
 Focus on recruitment of in house foster carers
 Work with LCR on a wider programme of market reform.

Risk owner HoCSC

Proposed 
actions

 Development of market to meet need
 Opportunities to collaborate across LCR to develop market 
 Regular review of budgets to identify and mitigate pressures
 Project Management through Demand Management Workstream

P
age 32

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Impact of regulatory framework and 
outcome of Joint Target Area Inspection

Causes
Joint Target Area Inspection with a deep dive into Mental Health identified Priority Actions for the Partnership
ILAC inspection likely to take place in the next 6 months

Result
 Services are found to not adequately safeguard children
 Reputational damage to the Council and Statutory partners
 Significant impact on LA reputation if priority actions are not addressed

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Improvement plan in place to address Priority actions from the JTAI and mostly complete (some Covid 19 Impact)
 Governance arrangements reviewed and strengthened with Children's Improvement Partnership Board reporting to Health 

and Wellbeing Board
 Immediate actions taken to address Priority Actions across the partnership
 QA framework in place including regular audit and external audit
 Preparation in place for ILAC inspection
 LGA have undertaken  some independent audits of cases within CSC
 Response to Improvement Plan submitted to Ofsted in March 2020 was that it indicated an accurate understanding of areas 

of priority action and findings of the joint inspection team.
Risk owner HoCSC

Proposed 
actions

 CSC Improvement plan updated and actioned
 Performance meetings to continue
 Support via Partners in Practice to scrutinise effectiveness of partnership arrangements and permanence arrangements for 

children
 Programme of audit and independent audit

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to mitigate impacts of COVID-19, 
EU Exit, winter, austerity, on the Sefton 
economy

Causes

 Lack of support for business
 Lack of progress on projects that can support recovery
 Lack of capital and revenue funding from government
 Impact of wider issues on local businesses (e.g. national retailers)
 Loss of key employers to the borough and towns, particularly Bootle and HMRC
 Impact on key sectors (especially hospitality) in Southport

Result

 Increased business failure
 Increased unemployment
 Financial and reputational risks to the Council
 Impact on communities of port disruption, increased traffic, etc
 Loss of reputation         
 Impact of wider economic change on residents, particularly the most vulnerable Financial and reputational risks to the 

Council

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Sefton Strategic Recovery - Economy Plan:
• Plan currently being adapted to include in more detail the Covid-19 and EU Exit requirements.
• The Sefton Economic Strategy (SES) Action Plan is being used as the "Foundation Document" for the Economic Recovery 
Plans
• The SES A/Plan has been thoroughly reviewed and is fit for purpose for foundation of recovery planning.

 The SES A/Plan and associated recovery actions will report through the Economy Cell structure.
 The Economy Cell will report through the Growth board and Exec for Place. 

• Covid related Grants will be managed effectively as all previous e.g. discretionary Grants and will report through the 
Economy Cell.
• Growth programme - Will ensure through regular review and Stewardships that projects if applicable focus on recovery for 
the Economy
• Ongoing business and Employment support via InvestSefton and Sefton@Work in context of and when required focused on 
pandemic and of EU Exit
• Full engagement in regional growth-related forums 

P
age 34

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

• Establishment of multi-stakeholder working groups focused on recovery in key town centres.
• Recovery planning activity in Southport underpinned by Town Deal opportunities

 EU Exit Specific:
• The Council has an EU Transitions Lead Officer, and is fully engaged with national EU Transitions and Ports groups, as well
as all City Region EU Exit Working Groups, the Merseyside Resilience Forum (MRF), North West CEOs and the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government.
• A Sefton internal steering group has been set up comprising officers from across the organisation ensuring ongoing
communication and preparedness.
• The Council has undertaken both community and organisational risk assessments based on central government National
Planning Assumptions.
• Service Area EU Exit risk registers have been developed following an externally facilitated workshop and remain up-to-date.
• Officers are continuing to engage with key partners and stakeholders, including but not limited to the Port of Liverpool, 
Chambers of Commerce, Growth Platform, and Department of International Trade (DIT).

Risk owner HoEG&H

Proposed 
actions

 Actively pursue opportunities for additional external funding via LCR/CA and HMG to develop projects
 Investor proposition development and proactive business development activity to ensure attraction and retention of 

businesses and employers in the borough
 Finalise Sefton-specific recovery plans and investor pack materials
 Investor Material prepared (Mickledore) in sign off. Additional funding from all sources followed up, Recovery Plan (outward 

version) ready and prepared with Comms Team. Strategic Recovery Plan - Economy being re-visited in lieu of current 
changing circumstances

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Market failure of Adult Social Care 
provision

Causes
 Lack of market engagement and market development due to lack of capacity and resource.
 Capability and capacity of the available workforce to provide domiciliary care.
 Lack of diversity of supply in the market to provide choice and control

Result

 Inability to provide packages of care for service users
 Inability to maximise the opportunity of reablement
 Lack of alternative providers able to support social care
 Poor quality service provision
 Significant increase in unmet needs of service users due to a fragile market that is not developing

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Market Position Statement 2020
 Winter Planning/checklist
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025
 Integrated Commissioning Group
 Centralised Commissioning Support function
 Commissioning priorities and full work plan

Risk owner HoASC/HoSS

Proposed 
actions

 Recovery and transition review to explore Workforce, process, commissioning and partnerships post pandemic 
 Winter Planning/checklist evaluation
 Review and align strategic plans to current contracts to ensure Value for Money and objectives are met.
 Continual cycle of review in ways of working
 Development of new opportunities through working with LCR, CCG and wider commissioning partnerships. 
 Commissioning priorities and full work plan.
 Workforce development of the independent workforce.
 Ensure involvement of key stakeholders 
 As per commissioning workshop, review structure and workplan to deliver the above.

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 5



Sefton Corporate Risk Register March 2021

Risk Description Previous risk score Current risk score Target risk score

Failure to adequately invest in the 
Highway network and associated assets.

Causes Budget reductions; inadequate funding levels to meet need.

Result

 Deterioration of highway assets
 Potential increase in claims
 Financial and reputational risks 
 Potential increase in accidents resulting in injury and/or death

Current 
treatments and 
controls

 Essential work is prioritised within available budget. Regular inspections of most assets to monitor and guide prioritisation of 
works in order to mitigate risk. 

 Regular updates provided to Cabinet Member
 Preventive surface treatments used to prolong the life of the network and to treat more of it than if more long-term 

maintenance solutions were used (i.e. resurfacing) 
Risk owner Ho H&PP
Proposed 
actions

Actively pursue opportunities for additional external funding via LCR/CA and others to maintain and improve network.

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Council

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

18th May 2021

Subject: Audit and Governance Terms of Reference

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Regulation, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report reviews the current terms of reference for the committee and recommends a 
revised terms of reference in order to comply with best practice as recommended by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

Audit and Governance Committee

Recommendation:

That the revised terms of reference be recommended to Council for adoption.

Council

Recommendation:

That the revised terms of reference for the Audit and Governance Committee be 
adopted.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

In order for the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee to adhere to best practice as 
recommended by CIPFA.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None

(B) Capital Costs

None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

 
Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services: 

The purpose of an audit committee is to provide those charged with governance 
assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal control 
environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual governance process.

Place – leadership and influencer: See above

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6329/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4430/21.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: David McCullough
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2008
Email Address: david.mccullough@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

 Appendix 1 – Current Terms of Reference

 Appendix 2 – Revised Terms of Reference 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction

1.1 Chartered Institute Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has issued Practical 
Guidance for Local Authorities and Police on the role of the Audit Committee in 
Local Authorities and the Police. This publication sets out CIPFA’s guidance on the 
function and operation of audit committees in local authorities and police bodies, 
and represents best practice for audit committees in local authorities throughout the 
UK and for police audit committees in England and Wales. 

1.2 This publication incorporates CIPFA’s Position Statement: Audit Committees in 
Local Authorities and Police (2018) (‘the Position Statement’), which sets out 
CIPFA’s view of the role and functions of an audit committee as well as model 
Terms of Reference for a Public Sector Audit Committee – Appendix A CIPFA 
Model Terms of reference for Audit Committee.

2. Audit and Governance Committee Terms of Reference
Page 41

Agenda Item 6



2.1 The Council’s Audit and Governance Committee has been reviewed compared to 
the proposed model Terms of Reference from CIPFA and a number of changes 
have been incorporated into a proposed revised Terms of Reference to ensure that 
the Committee meets the good practice outlined in the publication.  

2.2 As part of the review it was noted that not all of the existing responsibilities included 
in the current Terms of Reference are reviewed by the Committee, for example by 
an exception report provided at least once a financial year, which would help to 
ensure that the Committee discharged its duties effectively. An example of this is 
whistleblowing and money laundering.

2.3 The changes, enclosed as Appendix 2 Proposed Sefton Audit and Governance 
Committee Terms of reference, essentially adopt the model CIPFA Terms of 
Reference and include additional responsibilities that the Council’s Audit and 
Governance Committee have, which are not included in the model Terms of 
Reference, including:

 To consider the Council’s arrangements for health and safety and receive regular 
assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

 To consider write-offs of debt above £10,000. 

 To have responsibility for all standards issues relating to the Council’s Members 
Code of Conduct

 To recommend changes to the Council’s Constitution

2.4 Members are requested to review the proposed Terms of Reference, offer 
comments and provide a recommendation to Council for their adoption.

2.5 Following the approval of the Terms of Reference by Annual Council in May 2021 a 
proposed work plan will be brought to the following meeting of the Audit and 
Governance Committee, June 2021, ensuring that through the delivery of the work 
plan all of the responsibilities of the Committee in the proposed Terms of Reference 
are discharged during the financial year.

3. Recommendation

3.1 Members are requested to recommend the adoption of the proposed Terms of 
Reference to Council for adoption

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 1

Current Terms of Reference

24 To consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report and opinion, and a summary of 
internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give 
over the Council's Corporate Governance arrangements.

25 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.

26 To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers 
of internal audit services.

27 To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented 
within a reasonable timescale.

28 To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to 
those charged with governance.

29 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.

30 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives 
value for money.

31 To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the Council's external 
auditor.

32 To commission work from internal and external audit.

33 To maintain an overview of the Council's constitution of contract procedure rules, 
financial regulations and codes of conduct and behaviour.

34 To review any issues referred to it by the Chief Executive or Head of Service, or any 
Council body.

35 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and 
corporate governance in the Council.

36 To consider the Council’s arrangements for health and safety and receive regular 
assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

37 To monitor Council policies on 'whistle-blowing' and the anti-fraud and anti-corruption 
strategy anti-money laundering, bribery and the Council's complaints process and 
review as necessary.

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



38 To oversee the production of the authority's Statement of Internal Control and to 
approve its adoption.

39 To consider the Council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing 
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice.

40 To consider the Council's compliance with its own and other published standards and 
controls.

41 To review and approve the annual statement of accounts in accordance with the 
relevant statutory timescales.  Specifically, to consider whether appropriate 
accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from 
the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of 
the Council.

42 To consider the external auditor's report to those charged with governance on issues 
arising from the audit of the accounts.

43 To receive the audited accounts and activities of external service providers.

44 To make payments or provide other benefits in cases of maladministration etc. under 
Section 92 of the Local Government Act, 2000 in excess of £1,000.

45 To consider write-offs of debt above £10,000.

46 To make recommendations to the Council on the adoption, implementation and 
maintenance and review of a local Code of Conduct for Members – co-opted 
Members and officers of the Council.

47 To determine effective training of Councillors and Co-opted Members in matters of 
conduct and advice to individuals on issues relating to the treatment of interests and 
on the propriety of conduct generally.

48 To deal with the arrangements for Councillors to receive dispensations to speak on, 
or participate in, matters in which they have an interest. 

49 To determine the appropriate action on matters referred to the Committee by the 
Monitoring Officer including disciplinary matters relating to the conduct of individual 
and/or groups of Councillors.

50 To ensure compliance throughout the Council with all appropriate Codes of Conduct 
and procedures from time to time determined by the Committee 

51 To deal with appropriate matters referred to it from other Committees.

52 To determine any applications for the grant and supervision of exemptions from 
political restrictions in accordance with Section 3A of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.

53 To determine whether a valid petition for a Community Governance review has been 
received and to determine the terms of reference for such a review, how the review 

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



will be conducted including the required consultation and consider replies to a 
consultation and then make a recommendation to Full Council on the preferred 
outcome. The Committee has the authority to establish a working group to undertake 
the committee’s responsibilities in this regard.

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 2

Revised Terms of Reference

Statement of purpose 

1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component of Sefton’s corporate 

governance. It provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, 

assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 

financial standards. 

2 The purpose of the Audit and Governance Committee is to provide independent 

assurance to the members of the adequacy of the risk management framework 

and the internal control environment. It provides independent review of Sefton’s 

governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversees the financial 

reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees internal audit and 

external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements 

are in place.

Governance, risk and control 

3 To review the council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good 

governance framework, including the ethical framework and consider the local 

code of governance. 

4 To review the Annual Governance Statement prior to approval and consider 

whether it properly reflects the risk environment and supporting assurances, 

taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 

effectiveness of the council’s framework of governance, risk management and 

control. 

5 To consider the council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review 

assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements. 

6 To consider the council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it adequately 

addresses the risks and priorities of the Council. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



7 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and 

Corporate Governance in the Council. 

8 To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the committee 

including the Corporate Risk Register. 

9 To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 

implementation of agreed actions. 

10  To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council from 

fraud and corruption. 

11 To monitor the following activities:

 Counter-fraud/ bribery strategy, actions and resources. 

 Whistleblowing

 Money Laundering

 Council Complaints Process including make payments or provide other 

benefits in cases of maladministration etc. under Section 92 of the Local 

Government Act, 2000 in excess of £1,000.

 Breaches of Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules

12 To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 

partnerships or collaborations and where appropriate obtain annual third party 

assurance statements. 

13 To make recommendations to Council for amendments to the Constitution.

14 To make recommendations to the Council on the adoption, implementation and 

maintenance and review of a local Code of Conduct for Members – co-opted 

Members and officers of the Council. 

15 To determine effective training of Councillors and Co-opted Members in matters of 

conduct and advice to individuals on issues relating to the treatment of interests 

and on the propriety of conduct generally. 

16 To deal with the arrangements for Councillors to receive dispensations to speak 

on, or participate in, matters in which they have an interest. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



17 To determine the appropriate action on matters referred to the Committee by the 

Monitoring Officer including disciplinary matters relating to the conduct of 

individual and/or groups of Councillors including alleged misuse of a Members 

Self-Maintained Website.

 

18 To ensure compliance throughout the Council with all appropriate Codes of 

Conduct, including the Protocol for relationships between members and officers of 

Sefton Council, and procedures from time to time determined by the Committee 

19 To deal with appropriate matters referred to it from other Committees. 

20 To determine any applications for the grant and supervision of exemptions from 

political restrictions in accordance with Section 3A of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989. 

21 To determine whether a valid petition for a Community Governance review has 

been received and to determine the terms of reference for such a review, how the 

review will be conducted including the required consultation and consider replies 

to a consultation and then make a recommendation to Full Council on the 

preferred outcome. The Committee has the authority to establish a working group 

to undertake the committee’s responsibilities in this regard. 

Internal audit 

22  To approve the internal audit charter. 

23 To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external providers of 

internal audit services and to make recommendations. 

24 To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s resource 

requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and any work 

required to place reliance upon those other sources. 

25 To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan and 

resource requirements. 

26 To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the head of internal audit 

to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



27 To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from additional 

roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the head of internal audit. To 

approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such impairments. 

28 To consider reports from the head of internal audit on internal audit’s performance 

during the year, including the performance of external providers of internal audit 

services. These will include

a) updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 

concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work 

b) regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance Improvement 

Plan (QAIP)

c) reports on instances where the internal audit function does not conform 

to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local 

Government Assurance Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-

conformance is significant enough that it must be included in the Annual 

Governance Statement (AGS). 

d) to consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not 

implemented within a reasonable timescale.

29  To consider the head of internal audit’s annual report: 

a) The statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN 

and the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will indicate 

the reliability of the conclusions of internal audit. 

b) The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s 

framework of governance, risk management and control together with the 

summary of the work supporting the opinion – these will assist the 

committee in reviewing the AGS. 

30  To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested. 

31 To receive reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit has 

concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 

unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the 

implementation of agreed actions. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



32 To contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality assessment of 

internal audit that takes place at least once every five years. 

33 To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the AGS, 

where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations (see Appendix A). 

34 To provide free and unfettered access to the Audit and Governance Committee 

Chair for the head of internal audit, including the opportunity for a private meeting 

with the committee. 

External audit 

35 To support the independence of external audit through consideration of the 

external auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any 

issues raised by PSAA or the authority’s auditor panel as appropriate. 

36 To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports and the report to 

those charged with governance. 

37 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 

38 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives 

value for money. 

39 To commission work from internal and external audit. 

40 To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between external 

and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.

Other Assurance areas

41 To consider the Council’s arrangements for health and safety and receive regular 

assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.

42 To consider write-offs of debt/ assets above £10,000. 

43 To regularly review the Council’s Treasury Management activities 

Financial reporting 

44 To review and approve the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider 

whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there 

are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to 

be brought to the attention of the council. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



45 To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on 

issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 

Accountability arrangements 

46 To report to those charged with governance on the committee’s findings, 

conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and effectiveness of 

their governance, risk management and internal control frameworks, financial 

reporting arrangements, and internal and external audit functions. 

47 To report to full council on a regular basis on the committee’s performance in 

relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in 

meeting its purpose. 

48 To publish an annual report on the work of the committee.

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Members Code of Conduct

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Regulation, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The Local Government Association (LGA) has published a model Councillor Code of 
Conduct (the Model Code). The Model Code, attached at Appendix A, is
described by the LGA as ‘designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good 
conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government’. Guidance is expected to 
follow in April 2021.

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the Committee review the new Code of Conduct for Members and consider 
whether to recommend its adoption to Full Council.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed this Model Councillor Code
of Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the
sector, as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to
aspire to high standards of leadership and performance. This is in response to a
recommendation from the Committee for Standards in Public Life (CSPL) to the LGA
and Government.

The Model Councillor Code of Conduct is a template for local authorities to adopt in
whole and/or with local amendments.

Under the Localism Act 2011 all councils must adopt a code of conduct dealing with
the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members when that are acting
in that capacity.

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

Not to review the Council’s Member’s Code of Conduct in light of the LGA Model Code 
risks Sefton’s Code not remaining up to date with best practice.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None

(B) Capital Costs

None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Under the Localism Act 2011 all councils must adopt a code of conduct dealing with
the conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members when that are acting
in that capacity. There is no national prescribed version of a code in England and no
obligation to adopt a particular model. The code must be consistent with the principles
of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership.
Councils must also ensure that their codes include appropriate provisions about
declaring pecuniary and other interests.

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications arising directly out of this report. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Place – leadership and influencer:  Having a robust Members Code of Conduct adhered 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



to by all members will demonstrate that members are accountable to the citizens of the 
borough. The Code is designed to protect the democratic role of members, encourage 
good conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6336/21) 
has been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the report.  The 
Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4437/21) is the author of the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: David McCullough
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2008
Email Address: david.mccullough@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Appendix A – revised Code of Conduct

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



1. Introduction

Pursuant to the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 the Council must promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by its members and co-opted members. In 
discharging this duty, the Council must adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is 
expected of its members and co-opted members when they are acting in that 
capacity.

2. The Council must ensure that a code adopted by it is, when viewed as a whole, 
consistent with the following Seven Principles of Public Life principles—

• selflessness;
• integrity;
• objectivity;
• accountability;
• openness;
• honesty; and
• leadership.

3. In addition, the Council must ensure that its code of conduct includes the provision 
the authority considers appropriate in respect of the registration in its register, and 
disclosure, of- 

• pecuniary interests, and
• interests other than pecuniary interests.

The Local Government Association (LGA) Review

4. The LGA undertook a review of the member model code of conduct in response to 
the recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life, but also in 
response to rising local government concern about the increasing incidence of public, 
member-to-member and officer/member intimidation and abuse and overall 
behavioural standards and expectations in public debate, decision making and 
engagement. 

5. The LGA aimed to develop a code that benchmarks a standard for all public office 
and for those engaged in public discourse and debate. It aimed set out the duties and 
expectations of persons in public office as well as their rights, particularly their right to 
be protected from abuse and intimidation resulting from their undertaking of public 
office. 

6. The LGA’s objectives in reviewing the model code of conduct were to: 

• articulate what local government believes are good standards for all in public 
office 

• show leadership in good standards of conduct for those in public office, both 
elected and as employees 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



• achieve consensus between the stakeholders affected by local government 
conduct 

• support its member councils and partners in achieving good standards of conduct 
• produce a code that is fit for purpose, useful and held in high regard 
• enhance the reputation of local government and local politicians 
• support the good running of councils 
• support all democratically elected local representatives to deliver their best on 

behalf of their local communities 
• build on the good practice that already exists within member councils 

7. The Local Government Association (LGA) has developed a Model Councillor Code of 
Conduct, in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the 
sector, as part of its work on supporting all tiers of local government to continue to 
aspire to high standards of leadership and performance. It is a template for councils 
to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments.

8. In introducing the new model code the LGA issued the following statement:

8.1. “The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our 
country’s system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held 
accountable and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the 
role. Our conduct as an individual councillor affects the reputation of all 
councillors. We want the role of councillor to be one that people aspire to. We 
also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be 
putting themselves forward to become councillors.

8.2.As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and 
deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to 
represent our local area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We 
have both an individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations 
by maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by 
challenging behaviour which falls below expectations.

8.3. Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being 
intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general 
public.

8.4.This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good 
conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.”

9. The new model code is attached at Appendix A and some of the main points of 
difference to the Council’s current code are:

9.1.This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 
councillor which may include when:

9.1.1. you misuse your position as a councillor

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



9.2.Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 
with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor;

10.The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

• at face-to-face meetings
• at online or telephone meetings
• in written communication
• in verbal communication
• in non-verbal communication
• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments.

11.The new code keeps the obligation to treat others with respect and not to bully any 
person but it provides helpful definitions of these terms.

12.The new code introduces an obligation to undertake code of conduct training 
provided by the Council and to cooperate with a code of conduct investigation and / 
or determination.

13. In terms of gifts and hospitality the new code increases the amount of gift or 
hospitality that needs to be registered with the Monitoring Officer from £25 to £50.

Conclusion

14. In accordance with the Council’s statutory duty to promote and maintain standards of 
conduct members are asked to consider whether the new code should be adopted by 
the Council in its entirety or in part or to keep the current code. Code of Conduct 
training sessions will be held for all members and co-opted members in the new 
municipal year.

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A

New Members Code of Conduct

Definitions

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “Member” means a member or co-opted 
member of a local authority [or a directly elected mayor]. A “co-opted member” is defined 
in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority 
but who:

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;

b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint 
sub- committee of the authority;

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes the upper tier 
councils, town or parish councils and the combined authorities across the Liverpool City 
Region.

Purpose of the Code of Conduct

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in modelling the 
behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set 
out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to 
protect you, the public, fellow Members, local authority officers and the reputation of local 
government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all Members and your 
specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The fundamental aim of the Code 
is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of Member and local government.

General principles of Member Conduct

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, 
including ministers, civil servants, Members and local authority officers; should uphold 
the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles.

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 
specifically for the role of Member.

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:

 I act with integrity and honesty

 I act lawfully

 I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and

 I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 
Member.

Page 59

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


In undertaking my role:

 I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community

 I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 
person

 I avoid conflicts of interest

 I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and

 I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 
authority’s requirements and in the public interest.

Application of the Code of Conduct

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance 
of the office of Member or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues 
to apply to you until you cease to be a Member.

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a Member 
which may include when:

 you misuse your position as a Member; or

 your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 
with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Member.

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:

 at face-to-face meetings

 at online or telephone meetings

 in written communication

 in verbal communication

 in non-verbal communication

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 
comments.

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all 
times when acting as a Member.

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of 
Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any 
matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish Members are 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring 
Officer.

Standards of Member conduct

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of you as a Member. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken.

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should 
be followed.

General Conduct

1. Respect

As a Member:

1.1 I treat other Members and members of the public with respect.

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner 
organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with respect 
and respect the role they play.

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 
Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a Member, you 
can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in 
a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people 
or organisations to personal attack.

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and 
offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in Members.

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of 
the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any 
conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the 
relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow Members, where 
action could then be taken under the Member Code of Conduct, and local authority 
employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s Member- 
officer protocol.

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination

As a Member:

2.1 I do not bully any person.

2.2 I do not harass any person.

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person.

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might 
be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on social 
media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social events and 
may not always be obvious or noticed by others.

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes 
alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at 
least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted 
communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to cause 
distress or fear in any reasonable person.

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation.

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members have a central 
role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's 
performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public commitment 
to equality across public services.

3. Impartiality of officers of the local authority 

As a Member:

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone 
who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, 
for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a 
report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them to act differently, 
change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their 
professional integrity.

4. Confidentiality and access to information 

As a Member:

4.1 I do not disclose information:

a. given to me in confidence by anyone

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, 
is of a confidential nature, unless

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give 
it;

ii. I am required by law to do so;

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 
obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third 
party agrees not to disclose the information to any other 
person; or

iv. the disclosure is:

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the 
reasonable requirements of the local authority; and

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its 
release.

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a 
Member for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, 
my employer or my business interests.

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to 
by law.

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed 
materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You 
should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is required by law that 
discussions, documents and other information relating to or held by the local authority 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include personal data relating to 
individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations.

5. Disrepute

As a Member:

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.

As a Member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your 
actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of 
the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, 
other Members and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s confidence in your 
or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour 
that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute.

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow Members to account and are able to 
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 
undertaken by the local authority whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this 
Code of Conduct.

6. Use of position 

As a Member:

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 
disadvantage of myself or anyone else.

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities, 
responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others. 
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further your own or 
others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities

As a Member:

7.1 I do not misuse local authority resources.

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use by 
others:

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 
unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to 
facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the 
local authority or of the office to which I have been elected or 
appointed.

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in 
carrying out your duties as a Member.

Examples include:
 office support

 stationery

 equipment such as phones, and computers

 transport

 access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a Member more effectively and 
are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance 
with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local authority’s own policies 
regarding their use.

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct 

As a Member:

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination.

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be 
involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have 
breached the Code of Conduct.

It is extremely important for you as a Member to demonstrate high standards, for you to 
have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local 
authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the local 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your Monitoring 
Officer.

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority

9. Interests

As a Member:

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 
maintain a register of interests of Members of the local authority.

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 
fellow Members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The 
register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The 
register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to 
be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you 
should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if 
others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know 
about any interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other Members when 
making or taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open 
and honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local 
governance is maintained.

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set 
out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in 
doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer.

10. Pre-Determination or Bias

As a Member I:

10.1 Never place myself under any financial or other obligation to outside 
individuals or organisations who might seek to influence me in the 
performance of my official duties.

10.2 Consider all matters with an open mind and make decisions based upon 
weighing the best evidence before me, fairly and on merit.

Page 66

Agenda Item 7



Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue which 
does not impact on your personal and/or professional life, you should not be prohibited 
from participating in a decision in your role as Member.  However, you must ensure that 
your integrity is no compromised.

You may be pre-disposed to a number of outcomes to a decision, based upon your, 
philosophy, beliefs or political allegiance (including any application of a Group whip), but 
this must not predetermine your actions or the outcome of a decision you are to make. 
You must always remain open to the potential for further evidence or argument to alter 
any previously expressed or held viewpoint at the time of making your decision. For this 
reason, particularly in relation to contractual matters or those affecting individuals’ civil 
rights, it is often best to be cautious about how or if your views are expressed before 
coming to make a decision. 

11. Gifts and hospitality 

As a Member:

11.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 
reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 
persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 
authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 
any permission, licence or other significant advantage.

11.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its 
receipt.

11.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift 
or hospitality that I have been offered but have refused 
to accept.

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably 
believe to be) offered to you because you are a Member. The presumption should 
always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, there may be times when 
such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case you could accept it 
but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and 
hospitality which are not related to your role as a Member, such as Christmas gifts from 
your friends and family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal 
expenses and hospitality associated with your duties as a Member. If you are unsure, do 
contact your Monitoring Officer for guidance.

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life

The principles are:

Selflessness

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

Integrity

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should 
not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests 
and relationships.

Objectivity

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using 
the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and 
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

Openness

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and 
lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty

Holders of public office should be truthful.

Leadership

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



Annex B Registering interests

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set 
out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should 
also register details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set 
out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests).

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you 
are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below.

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.

“Standard Dispensation” means a dispensation that has been granted by the Authority 
relieving the member or co-opted member from the restrictions or obligations under this 
Code as detailed in Table 3 below.

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 
days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered 
interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 
Member, or a person connected with the Member, being subject to violence or 
intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with 
the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer 
agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Disclosure and Non-participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation or a Standard 
Dispensation applies. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose 
the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation may be 
granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a 
matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered 
or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and 
must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for 
someone else to deal with it.

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests and Non-Registerable 
Interests (Personal and Prejudicial Interests)

Personal Interests
6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects:

a. your own financial interest or well-being;

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative, close associate; or

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable 
Interests as set out in Table 2

you must disclose the interest.  In order to determine whether you can 
remain in the meeting after disclosing the interest the following test 
should be applied

Prejudicial Interests
7. In the following instances, you must disclose the interest and you may speak 

on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the 
matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 
dispensation.

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 
interest.

a. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 
Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2).

b. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your 
financial interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close 
associate. 

c. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:

1. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the 
majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

2. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 
believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest

8. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you 
have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make 
sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and 
nature of your interest.

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out 
in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.

Subject Description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain.
[Any unpaid directorship.]

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any 
other financial benefit (other than 
from the local authority) made to the 
Member during the previous 12-
month period for expenses incurred 
by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a Member, or towards 
his/her election expenses.
This includes any payment or 
financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract made between the 
Member or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the
Member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or a body that such person 
has a beneficial interest in the securities 
of*) and the council
—

(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; 
and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which 
is within the area of the council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, 
servitude, interest or right in or over 
land which does not give the Member 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living 
as if they were spouses/ civil partners 
(alone or jointly with another) a right to 
occupy or to receive income.

Page 71

Agenda Item 7

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s 
knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the Member, 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living 
as if they were spouses/ civil partners 
is a partner of or a director* of or has a 
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* 
of a body where—

(a) that body (to the Member’s 
knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the 
council; and

(b) either—

(i) ) the total nominal value of the 
securities* exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that 
body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the Member, or his/ her spouse 
or civil partner or the person with whom 
the Member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class.

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other 
than money deposited with a building society.

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates 
to or is likely to affect:

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to 
which you are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests

Table 3: Standard Dispensations

1. You will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in any business of 
your authority in respect of any Other Registerable Interest:

(a) where that business relates to:

(i) another local authority of which you are also a member;

(ii) another public authority or body exercising functions of a public 
nature in which you hold a position of general control or 
management;

(iii) a body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated 
by your authority, but only in the circumstance where the sole 
purpose of participating is to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence relating to the business at the request 
of the [elected mayor, cabinet, cabinet member or] Committee 
meeting

(iv) your role as a school governor, unless it relates particularly to the 
school of which you are a governor; or

(v) your role as a member of a National Health Service board or 
governing body;

(b) except that no dispensation described in sub-paragraph (a) above will 
apply where the business to be transacted at the meeting is the 
determination of any regulatory approval, consent, licence, permission 
or registration (for example, determination of an application for 
planning permission or consent or licence under the Licensing Act 
2003).

2. You will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in any business 
where that business relates to: 

(a) the housing functions of your authority where you hold a tenancy or 
lease with your authority, provided that you do not have arrears of rent 
with your authority of more than two months, and provided that those 
functions do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease;

(b) the functions of your authority in respect of school meals, transport and 
travelling expenses, where you are a guardian, parent, grandparent or 
have parental responsibility (as defined in section 3 of the Children Act 
1989) of a child in full time education, unless it relates particularly to 
the school which that child attends;

(c) the functions of your authority in respect of statutory sick pay under 
Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, 
where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of such pay 
from your authority;

(d) the functions of your authority in respect of an allowance or payment 
made under sections 22(5), 24(4) and 173 to 176 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, an allowance or pension under section 18 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or an allowance or payment 
under section 100 of the Local Government Act 2000;

(e) any ceremonial honour given to one or more Members; or

(f) the setting of the authority’s council tax requirement, council tax, levy 
or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Page 74

Agenda Item 7



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Revisions to Employee Code of Conduct

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: None

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Service 

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To obtain approval for revisions to the Employee Code of Conduct policy.

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the revised Employee Code of Conduct is recommended to Council for approval.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Following an audit review of Ethics and Code of Conduct conducted by Internal Audit.   
The audit report highlighted several recommendations, which were reviewed and 
addressed in the attached revised draft Employee Code of Conduct.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None

(B) Capital Costs

None

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Bi-annual mandatory training for all employees in the form of an e-learning short course.

Legal Implications:

None

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: positive

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:  positive

Commission, broker and provide core services:  positive

Place – leadership and influencer:  positive

Drivers of change and reform:  positive

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  positive

Greater income for social investment: positive

Cleaner Greener:  positive

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer and the Executive Leadership Team/Strategic 
Leadership Board have been consulted regarding the proposed changes

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6322/21.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4473/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Joanne Mercer
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3395
Email Address: joanne.mercer@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Draft revised Employee Code of Conduct
 Recommended format for Service Area Registers

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the Internet, are 
attached to the report.

 Internal Audit Report – Ethics and Code of Conduct

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Internal Audit carried out an audit review of Ethics and Code of Conduct.  This 
review was undertaken as part of the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21.  

1.2 The objectives of this audit review were:

 To provide Senior Management Corporate Resources with assurance that the 
risks are being adequately managed and addressed in respect of the key 
auditable areas of Ethics and Code of Conduct, and 

 The Audit review to contribute to the overall opinion on the strength of internal 
control within the Council, which is reported on and provided by the Chief 
Internal Auditor as part of the Internal Audit Annual Report.

1.3 Following the audit, a report was provided to the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer and Chief Personnel Officer.  The audit report highlighted several 
recommendations, which were reviewed and addressed in the attached revised 
draft Employee Code of Conduct.

2. Overview of revisions

2.1 A copy of the draft Employee Code of Conduct is attached at Appendix A and B.

2.2 Listed below is an overview of the proposed amendments to the policy:

a) References to associated policies updated
b) Reference to availability of declaration forms on the intranet updated

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



c) Additional sections included detailing the Framework for the Code (section 2.0) 
and Anti-Fraud, Bribery, Corruption with a link to the Council’s policy (section 3.0)

d) Updated requirement for each Executive Director/Head of Service to ensure their 
Service Area Registers are maintained/up-to-date in the recommended format and 
submitted each financial year to the Monitoring Officer by the 30th April (section 
16.5).  A new recommended format for Registers is available at Appendix E of the 
policy.

e) A new declaration procedure flowchart has been included at appendix A to 
improve clarity.

f) All declaration forms have been updated at appendix B.C, D
g) Employee conduct in relation to equal opportunities at appendix F has been 

updated
h) The Member/Officer Protocol from the Constitution has been included as part of 

the policy at appendix G
i) Previous employee guide to the code of conduct removed as this led to a 

duplication of the policy.

2.3 In addition, bi-annual online refresher training will also be designed and developed 
in conjunction with the Workforce Learning and Development team to increase and 
raise awareness of the Employee Code of Conduct to ensure compliance with the 
policy.  The training would be in the form of an e-learning course similar to the 
Council’s current mandatory information compliance e-learning course.  

2.4 Subject to approval of the Audit and Governance Committee, the Employee Code 
of Conduct would then proceed to Council for approval and inclusion in the 
Constitution. 

3. Implementation

3.1 It is proposed that the policy will be communicated to all employees following 
approval. 

Page 78

Agenda Item 8



Sefton Council – Code of Conduct

October 2020

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



The Code and its Purpose

1. The Code of Conduct (the Code) was approved by the Council on 8th January 1997 
and has since been updated on a number of occasions to comply with best practice.  
The Code has been communicated to all departments.

2. The purpose of the Code is to provide employees with guidance on the behaviour and 
conduct which is expected of them as public sector employees, so as to protect them 
from any misunderstanding or criticism.

3. The main areas covered by the Code include disclosure of information, undertaking 
additional employment, offers of gifts/hospitality, appointments and political neutrality.  
In certain circumstances, employees are required to complete a declaration form, the 
arrangements for which are described below.

4. The Code applies to all employees of the Council, and is commended to schools; it 
should, therefore, be included in the induction of new starters to the Authority.

Declaration Forms

5. Declaration forms are available on the Council’s Intranet.  These forms relate to 
Sections 4, 5 and 13 of the Code, which are concerned with personal or financial 
interests, gifts/hospitality, and additional employment.

6. PART A of the form is for the declaration of offers of gifts/hospitality and other 
favours.  The reason for declaring gifts/hospitality/favours is to demonstrate the 
openness and integrity of the Authority and its employees.  As with many 
codes/procedures, it is not possible to define specific limits on what is or is not 
acceptable; however, gifts which are of a promotional or insignificant nature, such as 
calendars, diaries or office sundries, which are offered to a wide variety of people, and 
thank you gifts of a token nature, are generally acceptable.  Any other offers of 
gifts/hospitality/favours, whether or not they are accepted, must be declared by the 
employee on PART A of the declaration form.  Gifts donated to charity must also be 
recorded on the declaration form.

7. PART B of the form is for the declaration of personal or financial interests and for 
declaration of membership of/association with clubs/organisations.  Employees must 
declare any personal or financial interest that they consider conflict with the Council’s 
interests using PART B of the declaration form.

8. PART C of the form (AE1) is concerned with requests for approval to undertake 
additional employment.  No employee is permitted to undertake additional work which 
conflicts with the interests of the Authority.  Employees must not undertake any 
additional work without the express consent of the Authority.  Employees must put 
their request in writing to their Head of Service using PART C (AE1) of the form.  In 
line with the policy “Additional Employment during off Duty Hours” all employees are 
required to provide information relative to any additional employment they undertake.

9. Declaration forms should be forwarded to the Executive Director/Head of Service; 
forms completed by Heads of Service/Executive Directors should be forwarded to the 
Chief Executive.  Responses must be made within ten working days to declaration 
forms, and a copy of the form, together with the response/acknowledgement, must be 
retained on the employee's personal record (excluding declarations for gifts, hospitality 
or favours) and recorded on the Service Area Register maintained by each Executive 
Director/Head of Service. A copy of form PART B (Declaration of Personal/Financial 
Interest) must be sent to the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer.  Where a decision is 
made not to allow additional employment or participation in a particular activity, a full 
reason must be provided.

Page 80

Agenda Item 8



Additional Information 

10. The Code does not provide an exhaustive list of when an employee should make a 
declaration; there is an onus on the employee to consider whether a particular course 
of action may lead to accusations of impropriety; as a general rule, where an 
employee has any doubt, then he/she should not accept offers and must declare the 
matter on the appropriate form.

11. Where an employee is dissatisfied with the administration of the Code of Conduct in 
his/her particular case, he/she should use the Council's Grievance Procedure.

12. The Code is admissible as evidence and may be taken into account in disciplinary 
hearings which relate to matters covered by the Code.

Links to Other Policies

 Politically Restricted Posts 
 Additional Employment During Off Duty Hours
 Whistleblowing Policy
 Equal Opportunities Policy Statement
 Grievance Procedure
 Disciplinary Procedure and guidelines
 Anti-Fraud, Bribery & Corruption Policy
 The Bribery Act 2010
 Contract Procedure Rules
 Financial Procedure Rules
 Recruitment and Selection guidelines
 Induction Policy
 Data Protection and Information Handling
 Information Compliance
 Social Media Policy
 ICT Acceptable Use Policy
 Constitution
 Protocol for relationships between members and officers of Sefton Council

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



CODE OF CONDUCT FOR ALL EMPLOYEES

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all employees 
who work for local government.  This Code is intended to provide guidance to assist 
all employees of the Council in their day-to-day work.

1.2 The Code sets out the minimum standards that are required of employees.  The aim 
of the Code is to lay down guidelines for employees which will help maintain and 
improve standards and protect employees from misunderstanding or criticism that 
they have been influenced by improper motives.

1.3 Inevitably, some of the issues covered by the Code will affect senior managerial and 
professional employees more than it will others but the Code is intended to cover all 
employees of the Council and is commended to schools, and other organisations 
associated with the Council, for adoption.

1.4 The Code requires employees to declare their interests or seek approval for certain 
activities and refers to the circumstances in which such declarations must be made.  
Paragraph 16 describes the practical arrangements for the making of declarations, and 
the relevant forms are included as annexes.  Declaration forms are also available on the 
Council’s Intranet under Personnel Policies and Procedures.

2.0 Framework for the Code

2.1 The Code takes into account the requirements of legislation and national/local terms 
and conditions of employment

2.2 National Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service (the National Agreement) 

The basic principle is stated in Part 2 paragraph 2, Key National Provisions of the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services, National Agreement on Pay 
and Conditions of Service:

 Official Conduct 
- Employees will maintain conduct of the highest standard such that public confidence 

in their integrity is sustained; and 
- Local codes of practice will be developed to cover the official conduct and the 

obligations of employees and employers. 

Similar provisions are incorporated in the National Conditions of Service of Chief 
Officers.

2.3 The Bribery Act 2010, and the Local Government Act 1972 are relevant. 

The Bribery Act 2010 makes it an offence for an employee to give advantage to 
someone in return for favours in relation to the Council’s business (see section 3.0 
of the Code, Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption). 

Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that employees notify the 
authority in writing of any direct or indirect financial interests which they have in any 
Council contracts, or proposed contracts, of which they become aware. Breach of 
Section 117 is a criminal offence subject to a fine (see section 4.0 of the Code 
Financial, Personal and Other Interests).

Page 82

Agenda Item 8



2.4 Seven Principles of Public Life 

This Code reflects the seven principles of public life (also known as ‘the Nolan 
Principles’) which outlines the ethical standards those working in the public sector are 
expected to adhere to. 

Principle 1 – Selflessness

You should act solely in terms of the public interest.

Principle 2 – Integrity

You must avoid placing yourself under any obligation to people or organisations that 
might try inappropriately to influence you in their work. You should not act or take 
decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, 
or your friends. You must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

Principle 3 – Objectivity

You must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best 
evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Principle 4 – Accountability

You are accountable to the public for your decisions and actions and must submit 
yourself to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

Principle 5 – Openness

You should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner.  Information 
should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so 
doing.

Principle 6 – Honesty

You should be truthful.

Principle 7 – Leadership

You should exhibit these principles in your own behaviour. You should actively 
promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour 
wherever it occurs.

3.0 Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption

3.1 The Council is committed to the protection of public funds and seeks to fulfil its 
responsibility to reduce the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption through an integrated 
approach which includes deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of 
incidences. 

3.2 Where fraud, bribery or corruption is identified, whether from internal or external 
sources, appropriate action will be taken as necessary. This may include disciplinary 
and/or legal action. The penalties for committing an offence under the Bribery Act 
2010 can be serious.  Failing to prevent bribery can result in a fine.  Offences of giving 
or receiving a bribe can result in fines and/or up to 10 years’ imprisonment.

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



3.3 The Council’s framework for managing the risk of fraud includes a commitment to: 

• maintain an anti-fraud culture across the organisation 
• minimise opportunities for fraud, bribery and corruption through effective systems, 

procedures and controls 
• maintain effective systems and procedures for the detection of fraud, corruption 

and bribery 
• investigate confirmed reports of fraud, bribery and corruption in an appropriate 

manner
• report incidents of fraud, bribery and corruption to the appropriate authorities as 

appropriate 
• ensure staff are aware of the risks of fraud, bribery and corruption and their 

obligations 
• impose sanctions and recovering losses where fraud, bribery and corruption is 

identified 

3.4 The Council’s Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy (the Policy), available on the 
intranet, sets out the Council’s approach to managing the risk of fraud, bribery and 
corruption, both internally and externally, and applies to all individuals who work for the 
Council e.g. employees, members etc. and those who have dealings with the Council 
e.g. partners, suppliers, contractors, service users, customers etc. 

3.5 The Policy includes details of the Council’s strategy in preventing, detecting, 
investigating fraud, bribery and corruption. It provides guidance on how any individual 
can report, in confidence, any suspected fraudulent or corrupt activity.

4.0 Financial, Personal and Other Interests

4.1 Any financial interests of an employee which could conflict with the Authority's 
interests, e.g. work for which a fee is received must be declared on the correct form 
and forwarded to his/her line manager or the Executive Director/Head of Service for 
appropriate action (see section 16 and form at Appendix C).  It is a criminal offence, 
under the provisions of the Local Government Act 1972, for an employee to accept in 
the course of his/her employment any fee or reward other than his/her proper 
remuneration.

4.2 Interests of a non-financial nature which may conflict with the Authority's interests (for 
example, if an employee is involved in a decision making capacity with an outside 
organisation that has dealings with the Council, e.g. grant requests) must also be 
declared on the correct form and forwarded to his/her line manager or Executive 
Director/Head of Service for appropriate action (see section 16 and form at 
Appendix C). Such a declaration must be made as soon as an employee becomes 
aware of the possibility of any such conflict arising or indeed that may be 
perceived/construed as arising.  A good test is for the employee to ask himself/herself 
whether others would think that the interest is of a kind to make this possible.  An 
employee must avoid any action which may create the impression that he/she is using 
his/her position to promote a private or personal interest.  Private and personal 
interests include those of the employee's family and friends, as well as those arising 
through membership of, or association with clubs, societies and other organisations.  
Employees must be sensitive to the suspicion that can be generated from belonging to 
organisations which have secrecy about rules, membership or conduct and are 
encouraged to declare any involvement.

4.3 A more detailed explanation on the disclosure of financial and non-financial interests 
can be found on the reverse of Part B of the form.

Page 84

Agenda Item 8

http://intranet.smbc.loc/our-council/counter-fraud.aspx


5.0 Gifts, Hospitality and Other Favours

5.1 All gifts, offers of hospitality and other favours, however received, must be 
declared and recorded by the employee on PART A of the declaration form.  
Declaration forms are available on the Intranet (see section 16 and form at 
Appendix B).

5.2 In the event of an employee receiving a legacy or bequest from a person for whom 
services have been provided by the authority, or from a relative of such a person, a 
declaration by the employee must be made on Part A of the declaration form. 

5.3 It is recognised that in the private sector, corporate hospitality and promotions are 
often accepted as part of the normal conduct of business.  However, within local 
government a greater burden or responsibility rests with employees not only to ensure 
that all dealings are completely beyond reproach but also to be able to demonstrate it 
publicly.

5.4 It is accepted that gifts and favours, such as hospitality, may be offered by outside 
agencies in good faith and purely in the furtherance of promoting a good working 
relationship and understanding.  Constant refusals to accept such offers could impair 
essential working relationships and possibly create an atmosphere of distrust with a 
consequential detrimental effect on the business  being conducted.

5.5 Where employees find themselves in a position where they have to refuse and/or 
return gifts or favours, they must not behave in ways which donors of gifts/favours 
might regard as impolite or unnecessarily critical of a private sector practice.  These 
situations must be handled diplomatically.

5.6 It is sometimes acceptable to the giver, for a gift, which in other circumstances would 
be refused as in (above) to be donated instead to charity.  An arrangement of this sort 
must only be made with Executive Director/Head of Service approval, must be 
recorded on the declaration form, and the giver informed in writing that the gift has 
been donated to charity.

5.7 Any offer of gifts, favours or hospitality made to an employee must be treated with 
extreme caution.  Employees are personally responsible for avoiding the risk of 
damage to public confidence which could result from acceptance of inappropriate 
inducements.  Common sense dictates whether the level of hospitality or the nature 
and scale of any gifts is appropriate to the particular circumstances in which they 
arise.  As a general rule an employee must only contemplate accepting a gift if it is of 
token value or nature.  Gifts of a promotional or insignificant nature offered to a wide 
variety of people (e.g. calendars, diaries, office sundries) are generally acceptable as 
are tokens of thanks, and hospitality is acceptable where it is on a scale appropriate to 
the circumstances, reasonably incidental to the occasion, and not extravagant.  All 
offers/acceptances of gifts (other than basic office sundries, etc.) must be recorded, 
regardless of whether they are accepted or declined.

5.8 Gifts, hospitality or favours must not be accepted from the same party on a frequent or 
regular basis to avoid any concern that proper working relationships are consequently 
being compromised.

5.9 Where any suggestion of improper influence may be inferred, gifts or hospitality must 
be refused (and declared).  Special caution is necessary where hospitality is offered 
by a person or body seeking contracts with, or licences or permissions or grant 
assistance from the Authority, especially where the offer is to an individual employee.  
For example, a working lunch immediately prior to the acceptance of a tender, or the 
letting of a contract, may be questionable, whereas it could be acceptable during the 
currency of the contract.

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



5.10 Offers of free or significantly reduced goods or services, vouchers or any other item 
with a significant cash value or offers of loans, works to personal property or holidays 
must be refused.  Offers to attend purely social or sporting functions may be accepted 
only when these are part of the life of the community or where the Authority must be 
seen to be represented.  Where it is considered appropriate to accept offers of 
hospitality, including purely social and sporting events, authorisation must be obtained 
in advance, prior to acceptance of the offer.  This should be clearly recorded on the 
appropriate form. 

5.11 Acceptance by employees of hospitality through attendance at relevant conferences 
and courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is corporate rather than 
personal, where consent is given in advance by the Executive Director/Head of 
Service or other nominated Manager and where the Authority is clearly not 
compromised in any way.

5.12 The essential principle is that gifts and favours must not affect proper working 
relationships or allow concern that they are affecting proper working relationships.  A 
secretive treatment of gifts and favours is much more likely to give rise to concern of 
impropriety than favours dealt with in the open knowledge of colleagues.

5.13 If in any doubt as to the acceptability of any offers of gifts, hospitality, etc., the advice 
of the employee's line manager or Executive Director/Head of Service must be sought.

6.0 Sponsorship - Giving and Receiving

6.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor a Council activity, whether by 
invitation or voluntarily, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or 
hospitality apply (see above).  Particular care must be taken when dealing with 
contractors or potential contractors.

6.2 Where the Authority wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee nor 
any partner, spouse or relative must benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way 
without there being full disclosure to the employee's line manager of any such interest.  
Similarly, where the Authority through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other 
means, gives support in the community, employees should ensure that impartial 
advice is given and that there is no conflict of interest involved.

7.0 Use of Financial Resources

7.1 Employees must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible 
and lawful manner.  They must strive to ensure value for money to the local 
community and to avoid legal challenge to the Authority.

8.0 Disclosure of Information

8.1 Employees must not use any information obtained in the course of their employment 
for personal gain or benefit, nor must they pass it on to others who might use it in 
such a way.  Any particular information received by an employee from a Councillor 
which is personal to that Councillor and does not belong to the Authority must not be 
divulged by the employee without the prior approval of that Councillor, except where 
such disclosure is required or sanctioned by the law.

8.2 The proceedings of Committees and Sub-Committees from which the press and public 
have been excluded to enable the discussion of exempt or confidential matters must 
not be disclosed by employees to the press or public.

Page 86

Agenda Item 8



8.3 Employees must ensure that confidential or sensitive documents are not left where 
they can be read by other staff or members of the public.

9.0 Relationships with Others

Councillors

9.1 The role of some employees is to give advice to Councillors and senior managers and 
all employees are there to carry out the Authority's work.  Mutual respect between 
employees and Councillors is essential to good local government.  Close personal 
familiarity between employees and individual Councillors can damage the relationship 
and prove embarrassing both to other employees and Councillors and must, therefore, 
be avoided.  Any requests from Councillors for preferential treatment for themselves, 
their families or friends must be declared.  The Protocol for relationships between 
Members and officers of the Council can be found at Appendix G of the Code.

The Local Community and Service Users

9.2 Employees must always remember their responsibilities to the community they serve 
and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all groups and 
individuals within that community as defined by the policies of the Council.

Contractors

9.3 All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or potential 
contractors, must be declared.  Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by 
fair competition against other tenders, and special favour must not be shown to 
businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or relative in the tendering process.

9.4 Employees who engage or supervise contractors or have any other official relationship 
with contractors and have previously had or currently have a relationship in a private 
or domestic capacity with contractors, must declare their interest.

Related Party Transactions

9.5 Senior Officers must disclose whether they, or a close member of their family, or 
someone from the same household, have a controlling interest in a related party, i.e. 
an organisation (e.g. companies, partnerships or trusts) that receives a significant 
proportion of its business from the Council.  Note: A related party transaction can 
occur even if there are no financial transactions, e.g. if services were provided free of 
charge.

10.0 Separation of Roles During Tendering

10.1 Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors must be 
clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the Authority.  Employees 
who have both a client and contractor responsibility must be aware of the need for 
accountability and openness.

10.2 Employees in contractor or client units must exercise fairness and impartiality when 
dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and sub-contractors.

10.3 Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either 
internal or external contractors must not disclose that information to any unauthorised 
party or organisation.

Page 87

Agenda Item 8



10.4 Employees contemplating a management buyout must, as soon as they have formed 
a definite intent, declare their interest and withdraw from the contract awarding 
processes.

10.5 Employees must ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former 
employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to 
businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial 
capacity.

11.0 Appointments

11.1 When applying for jobs within the Authority, candidates must state whether they have 
a close personal relationship or are related to any Councillor or Senior Manager within 
the Authority.  If it is found, after appointment, that a candidate has failed to declare 
such information, then he/she shall be liable to dismissal.

11.2 Employees who are involved in recruitment and selection must ensure that 
appointments are made on the basis of merit, and that candidates are considered on 
the basis of their ability to undertake the duties of the job in accordance with the 
Authority's Recruitment and Selection Policy.

11.3 In order to avoid any accusation of bias, any employee who is involved with an 
appointment where he/she is related to an applicant, or has a close personal 
relationship with an applicant, must declare this fact to his/her manager, and must not 
be involved in the recruitment process.

11.4 It is similarly important that employees are not involved in decisions about the 
promotion, discipline or payment of monies to any other employee to whom they are 
related, or with whom they have a close personal relationship.  Any employee who 
may find him/herself in such a situation must declare the fact to his/her manager 
immediately.

11.5 Canvassing of staff or Elected Members for any appointment under the Council shall 
automatically disqualify the candidate.  Employees must declare any such incidents.

12.0 Political Neutrality

12.1 Some jobs within the Authority are politically restricted.  This means that the 
employees in these posts are not allowed to take part in political activities, such as 
standing as a candidate for election to a public body, canvassing at elections or being 
a non-executive Director of a Health Trust, etc.  The posts are listed in the Politically 
Restricted Posts Policy in the Personnel Handbook of Policies and Procedures.

12.2 Employees in politically restricted posts are, as part of their Contract of Employment, 
obliged to observe the regulations.  If they fail to do so, they are in breach of their 
contract and subject to disciplinary action.

12.3 All employees, regardless of whether their posts are politically restricted, serve the 
Authority as a whole, and must not allow their personal or political views to interfere 
with their work.  No bias must be shown by employees who must ensure that they 
provide equal service to Members of all political groups, regardless of their own 
personal views.

13.0 Additional Employment

13.1 Employees may wish to undertake additional work outside the Authority.  This is not 
permissible for any employee in circumstances where the work conflicts with the 
interests of the Authority.

Page 88

Agenda Item 8

http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/recruitment-and-selection/politically-restricted-posts.aspx
http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/recruitment-and-selection/politically-restricted-posts.aspx


13.2 Employees are not permitted to engage in any other business without declaring the 
work/activity and obtaining the express consent of the Authority.  An employee who 
wishes to undertake additional work must make his/her request, in writing using Part 
C - form AE1, to his/her Executive Director/Head of Service (see section 16 and 
form at Appendix D).  Any employee who fails to do so will be liable to disciplinary 
action.

13.3 No employee is allowed to carry out other business or additional work in the 
Authority’s time, on the Authority’s premises, or using the Authority’s equipment.  Any 
employee who does so will be liable to disciplinary action.

14.0 Intellectual Property

14.1 Intellectual property means any inventions, creative drawings, writings, computer 
systems or programmes.

14.2 Some employees may be involved, during the course of their work within the Authority, 
with the production of intellectual property.  This property belongs to the Authority, and 
employees must not use it in any connection other than with his/her work for the 
Authority.  Employees are not permitted to use intellectual property for their own 
personal gain, or to pass on such property, or information relating to it, to anybody 
outside the Authority.

14.3 Employees must be aware that the reproduction of the Authority's intellectual property 
outside the Authority is unlawful.

14.4 These rules apply equally to employees who leave the Authority and move to another 
employer, it would be unlawful for them to use intellectual property belonging to Sefton 
Council in their new employment.  Similarly, any employees who have employment 
elsewhere are obliged to observe these conditions.

15.0 Equality

15.1 The Council has an equal opportunities statement on service delivery and also an 
equal opportunities policy which aims "to ensure that no job applicant or employee 
receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership, race, religion 
or belief, sex or sexual orientation, or is disadvantaged by conditions or requirements 
which cannot be shown to be justifiable".

15.2 Every employee has a duty to behave in a non-discriminatory way towards all 
individuals with whom he/she has contact at work, including Councillors, members of 
the local community, customers and other employees.  Further information regarding 
equal opportunities and employee conduct can be found at Appendix F.

16.0 Declarations

16.1 A written record of all declarations or requests must be made on the appropriate form.  
The forms can be found on the Intranet, under Personnel Policies & Procedures, 
Conduct in the Workplace, Code of Conduct.  All declarations forms must by securely 
held and recorded by each Executive Director/Head of Service on their Service Area 
Register.  The recommended format for Registers is available in at Appendix E.  A 
flowchart is available at Appendix A which sets out the procedure for making a 
declaration.

16.2 Gifts, Hospitality or Favours – PART A

Page 89

Agenda Item 8

http://intranet.smbc.loc/personnel/policies-and-procedures/conduct-in-the-workplace/code-of-conduct.aspx


16.2.1 All offers of gifts, hospitality or favours must be declared on PART A of the 
form.  This form relates to Section 4 of the Code, which provides an 
explanation as to the circumstances in which a declaration must be made.

16.2.2 Employee's must forward completed forms to their line manager.
16.2.3 The employee’s line manager will forward these to their Executive Director/ 

Head of Service for appropriate action.
16.2.4 The Executive Director/Head of Service or nominated Senior Officer must 

countersign all declarations made by employees on receipt of a declaration 
form for appropriate action.  Responses must be made within ten working 
days to declaration forms.

16.2.5 Declarations by Executive Director/Heads of Service must be provided to the 
Chief Executive (CE) for approval.  Declarations by the CE will be held by the 
Chief Legal and Democratic Officer and will be made available to the party 
leaders upon request or in the event of a decision being required.

16.2.6 All declaration forms, together with the response/acknowledgement, must be 
securely held and recorded by the Executive Director/Head of Service on the 
Service Area Register (or by the CE in the case of Executive Director/Heads 
of Service).  Any queries or allegations should, in the first instance, be 
directed to the Executive Director/Head of Service to enable an appropriate 
response to be initiated.

16.2.7 In response to declarations it is feasible for the Executive Director/Head of 
Service (or CE) to initiate or make further enquiries as appropriate.  

16.3 Personal or Financial Interests - PART B

16.3.1 PART B of the form must be used for the declaration of personal or financial 
interests and for the declaration of membership of clubs/associations.  
Section 3 of the Code provides an explanation as to the circumstances in 
which a declaration must be made.

16.3.2 Employee's must forward completed forms to their line manager.
16.3.3 The employee’s line manager will forward these to their Executive Director/ 

Head of Service for appropriate action.
16.3.4 The Executive Director/Head of Service, or nominated Senior Officer, must 

countersign all declarations made by employees on receipt of a declaration 
form for appropriate action.  Responses must be made within ten working 
days to declaration forms.

16.3.5 Declarations by Executive Director/Head of Service must be provided to the 
Chief Executive (CE) for approval.  Declarations by the CE will be held by the 
Chief Legal and Democratic Officer and will be made available to the party 
leaders upon request or in the event of a decision being required.

16.3.6 All declaration forms, together with the response/acknowledgement, must be 
securely held and recorded by the Executive Director/Head of Service on the 
Service Area Register (or by the CE in the case of Executive Director/Heads 
of Service).  A copy of the form must be held on the employee’s personal 
record and a copy must be sent to the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer. 
Any queries or allegations should, in the first instance, be directed to the 
Executive Director/Head of Service to enable an appropriate response to be 
initiated. 

16.3.7 In response to declarations it is feasible for the Executive Director/Head of 
Service (or CE) to initiate or make further enquiries as appropriate.  Where a 
decision is made not to allow participation in a particular outside activity, a full 
reason will be provided.

16.4 Additional Employment - PART C

16.4.1 PART C of the form (AE1) must be used for requests for approval to 
undertake additional employment.  Section 13 of the Code provides an 
explanation as to the circumstances in which a declaration must be made.

Page 90

Agenda Item 8



16.4.2 Employee's must forward completed forms to their line manager.
16.4.3 The employee’s line manager will forward these to their Executive Director/ 

Head of Service for appropriate action.
16.4.4 The Executive Director/Head of Service or nominated Senior Officer must 

countersign all declarations made by employees on receipt of a declaration 
form for appropriate action.  Responses must be made within ten working 
days to declaration forms.

16.4.5 Declarations by Executive Director/Head of Services must be provided to the 
Chief Executive (CE) for approval.  Declarations by the CE will be held by the 
Chief Legal and Democratic Officer and will be made available to the party 
leaders upon request or in the event of a decision being required.

16.4.6 All declaration forms, together with the response/acknowledgement, must be 
securely held and recorded by the Executive Director/Head of Service on the 
Service Area Register (or by the CE in the case of Executive Director/Heads 
of Service). A copy of the form should be placed on the employee’s personal 
record. Any queries or allegations should, in the first instance, be directed to 
the Executive Director/Head of Service to enable an appropriate response to 
be initiated.

16.4.7 In response to declarations it is feasible for the Executive Director/Head of 
Service (or CE) to initiate or make further enquiries as appropriate.  Where a 
decision is made not to allow outside employment a full reason will be 
provided.

16.5 All Service Area Registers containing all employee declarations must be open for 
inspection at any time and without prior notice to the following:

a) Chief Executive 
b) Executive Directors and Heads of Service
c) The Monitoring Officer
d) Internal Auditors
e) External Auditors

It is the responsibility of each Executive Director/Head of Service to ensure that their 
Service Area Register is up-to-date and maintained in the recommended format.  
Registers must be submitted each financial year to the Monitoring Officer by the 30th 
April.  

17.0 Suspected Impropriety

17.1 The Council expects employees to report suspected impropriety, or serious concerns 
relating to any aspect of the Council's work.  Employees may be assured that provided 
their action is well founded, treated as confidential within the Authority and pursued as 
specified in the Whistleblowing Policy the Council will support them and confidences 
will be respected.  Those who voice their concerns can do so without fear of 
victimisation, subsequent discrimination or disadvantage.

18.0 Convictions

18.1 The Council has access to criminal records for those employees whose posts would 
involve responsibility for children and/or other vulnerable groups or posts that are 
exempt from the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. This is referred to as a 
Disclosure and is obtained via the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). 

18.2 Employees whose roles are subject to Disclosures must report any indictments / 
convictions during the course of their employment to their Managers. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



19.0 Summary

19.1 This document is not intended to provide a complete list of all areas where 
declarations of interest are required.  It is intended to show the most common areas 
where problems may occur.  The onus is on the employee to consider whether the 
course of action, which he/she intends to take, may lead to accusations of impropriety.  
As a general rule, if an employee is in any doubt then he/she must not accept offers, 
etc., and must declare the matter on the appropriate form.

19.2 This code will be made widely available to employees and must be included in the 
induction material provided to new starters.   

19.3 The provisions of the code are admissible as evidence and may be taken into account 
in disciplinary hearings relating to matters covered by the code.

19.4 Any employee who is dissatisfied with any aspect of the administration of the code in 
his/her particular case will have access to the Council's Grievance Procedure.

19.5 The Chief Personnel Officer is  responsible for monitoring the operation of the code.

This code is reviewed annually. All employees should therefore ensure they regularly 
familiarise themselves with the Code and its contents. 

Page 92

Agenda Item 8



Appendix A: Making a declaration

Step 1: Inform
Inform your Line Manager of the potential area 
of conflict as soon as it arises i.e. offer of a gift, 
any financial interests, membership of a club, 
additional work etc..

Step 2: Complete the declaration form
Complete the appropriate form below giving details 
of any potential conflict. If you are unsure whether a 
conflict exists, it is better to declare it.

Step 3: Submit the declaration form
 The Line Manager submits the employee’s completed 

forms to the Executive Director/ Head of Service.
 Executive Director/Heads of Service must submit 

their declarations to the Chief Executive (CE).
 CE submits declaration to the Chief Legal and 

Democratic Officer

Step 4: The decision
The Executive Director/Head of Service /Chief Executive will be responsible for deciding whether or not a 
conflict of interest exists. Further enquiries may need to be made.  Responses must be made within 10 working 
days. 

Step 5: Confirmation
Where a decision is made not to allow additional 
employment or participation in a particular activity, a 
full reason must be provided.  

All declarations will be recorded on your Service Area 
Register (or by the CE in the case of Executive 
Directors/Heads of Service).  Part B & C forms will be 
held on your personal record. A copy of Part B forms 
must be sent to the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer

Step 6: Appeal
If you wish to appeal against the decision, you 
should use the Council’s Grievance Procedure.

Step 7: Inspection/Monitoring
All Service Area registers containing employee 
declarations are available for inspection at any 
time.  
Registers must be submitted each financial year 
to the Monitoring Officer by the 30th April. Step 8: Updates

If your circumstances change it is your responsibility 
to inform the Council and make a new declaration.

Page 93

Agenda Item 8



Appendix B (Updated October 2020)

GIFTS, HOSPITALITY OR FAVOURS
EMPLOYEE DECLARATION

This form should be used when reporting an offer of a gift, hospitality or favour to be 
recorded on the Service Area Register in accordance with the guidance above.

NAME TEL. NO  
POSITION GRADE  
EMPLOYEE NUMBER  LINE MANAGER’S NAME ______________
DEPARTMENT  
SERVICE AREA  

PART A. DECLARATION
I wish to declare:
Subject of Declaration (Give full details of the matter which you wish to declare including, if 
applicable, the name of the person/organisation who made the offer/approach to you; the date/time 
when the event happened and your response; estimated value.  Gifts donated to charity must be 
recorded on the declaration.  Continue on a separate sheet if necessary.

Signed: Date:

Authorised by:  Print name: __________________________
(Executive Director/Head of Service/Nominated Senior Officer)

Date:

Received on: Date entered on 
Service Area 
Register

Acknowledged on:

Reply sent on:
(If appropriate)

Page 94

Agenda Item 8



Appendix C (Updated October 2020)

PERSONAL OR FINANCIAL INTERESTS
EMPLOYEE DECLARATION

NAME TEL. NO  
POSITION GRADE  
EMPLOYEE NUMBER  
DEPARTMENT  SERVICE AREA  

PART B. DECLARATION
I wish to declare:
Subject of Declaration (Give full details of the matter which you wish to declare including, if 
applicable, the name of the person/organisation who made the offer/approach to you; the date/time 
when the event happened and your response.  If you wish to declare your membership of/ association 
with a society or other organisation, please state its name, your position and how long you have been 
a member).  Continue on a separate sheet if necessary.

Signed: Date:

Authorised by:  Print name: __________________________
(Executive Director/Head of Service/Nominated Senior Officer)

Date:

(See over/page 2 for 'Request for approval to engage in Additional Employment')

Received on: Date entered on 
Service Area 
Register

Acknowledged on: Date copy sent to 
THR for Employee 
Personal record

Reply sent on:
(If appropriate)

Copy to Chief Legal 
and Democratic 
Officer

Page 95

Agenda Item 8



PERSONAL OR FINANCIAL INTERESTS

(i) Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interest

The Local Government Act 1972 Section 117 makes specific provision requiring 
employees to disclose (make known) pecuniary (monetary or financial) interests, 
whether direct or indirect, in any contract with which the Council is concerned 
(“conflicts of interest”).  The relevant extracts from Section 117 are as follows:

(a) If it comes to the knowledge of an Officer employed, whether under this Act or any 
other enactment, by local authority that a contract in which he has any pecuniary 
interest, whether direct or indirect (not being a contract to which he is himself a 
party), has been, or is proposed to be, entered into by the authority or any 
committee thereof, he shall as soon as practicable give notice in writing to the 
authority to the fact that he is interest therein.  

(b) An officer of a local authority shall not, under cover of his office or employment, 
accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than his proper remuneration.

(ii) Failure to declare an interest may be a criminal offence

(a) Section 117 of the local Government Act 1972 states that employees are required 
to give notice in writing to the Chief Executive as soon a practicable of any 
interest under that section.

(b) There are also areas other than contracts where pecuniary interest must be 
disclosed even though there is no statutory requirement.  Remuneration from a 
firm which as dealing with the Council is a direct interest.  If the remuneration 
were to be paid by the firm to a partner or relative this would also be regarded as 
a direct interest.

“Remuneration” includes commission, honoraria, dividends, agency fees and interest, 
as well as salary, wages or fees.  “Firm” includes all organisations and individuals.

(iii) Non-pecuniary Interest

There may be a conflict of interest even where no pecuniary interest or advantage 
exists or accrues.  This covers areas where relationships might be seen to influence 
judgements and convey the impression of personal motive.  A simple example is 
where a Council employee, who works for a voluntary association, is also directly 
involved during the course of his/her employment, with claims for grant from the 
Council.  When such circumstances arise, the employee must advise their Executive 
Director/Head of Service in writing of their interest on PART B of the declaration form.

You must not allow the impression to be created that you are, or may be, using your 
position to promote a private or personal interest including those of your family and 
friends as well as those arising through membership of, or association with, clubs, 
societies and other organisations.

In order to avoid any possible accusations of bias, employees must not be involved in 
an appointment where they are related to an applicant or have close personal 
relationship outside work with him/her.  Similarly, employees must not be involved in 
decision relating to discipline, promotion or pay adjustments, for any other employee 
who is a partner or relative.  Equally, the canvassing of Members or Officers of the 
Council for yourself or anyone else in relation to a job appointment is strictly prohibited 
and will lead to automatic disqualification for the person concerned and disciplinary 
action for yourself.

The Council recommends that all interests, financial or otherwise which could be seen as 
creating a possible conflict, are disclosed.

PART B - page 2

Page 96

Agenda Item 8



PART C.  ADDITIONAL EMPLOYMENT - EMPLOYEE DECLARATION   (Form AE1)
(Updated October 2020)

Name
Department 
& Service 
Area

Position: Grade

Employee No. Date of
Appointment

Name of Line 
Manager/Supervisor Tel. No.

Details of your existing working arrangements: (Please provide details of hours worked per week, 
together with details of actual days/nights worked if operating on a shift system)

Complete PART 1 if your additional employment is within the Council.
Complete PART 2 if your additional employment is outside the Council.
Complete PART 3 if your additional employment is self-employment.

If you have more than one additional job please complete Part 1, 2 or 3 (as appropriate) and 
continue on a separate sheet.

PART 4  to be completed by all employees declaring additional employment.

PART 1  (if your additional employment is within the Council)

Department

Designation Grade

Employee No. Date of
Appointment

Name of Line 
Manager/Supervisor Tel. No.

Details of additional working arrangements:  (Please provide details of hours worked per week, 
together with details of actual days/nights worked if operating on a shift system)

PART 2  (if your additional employment is outside the Council)

Designation Date of 
Appointment

Name and Address 
of Employer

Tel. No.

Details of additional working arrangements: (Please provide details of hours worked per week, 
together with details of actual days/nights worked if operating on a shift system)

PART 3  (if your additional employment is self-employment)

Appendix D

Page 97

Agenda Item 8



Date of Commencement

Details of additional working arrangements: (Please provide details of hours worked per week)

PART 4  (to be completed by all employees)

Would any of the work, which you propose to undertake involve transactions with the Authority, or 
require the approval of the Authority (e.g. building plans, operating a residential home etc.):

Do you consider that the work, which you propose to undertake, would conflict in any way or react 
detrimentally to the Authority’s interests or in any way weaken public confidence in the conduct of the 
Authority’s business?

Signature Date

PART 5  (To be completed by the Executive Director/Head of Service/or nominated Senior Officer)

Consent given (please tick as appropriate): Yes No

Signature

Print Name

Date

 (Note: if consent refused a full reason must be given to the employee and he/she will have the 
opportunity to appeal under the Grievance Procedure)

Received on: Date entered on 
Service Area 
Register

Acknowledged on: Date copy sent to 
THR for Employee 
Personal record

Reply sent on:
(If appropriate)

Appendix F
Equal Opportunities – Employee Conduct

Equal Opportunities Policy

Sefton Council is an Equal Opportunities Employer. It strives to ensure that no job applicant 
or employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or 
belief, sex or sexual orientation, or is disadvantaged by conditions or requirements which 
cannot be shown to be justifiable.  

What you are expected to do in relation to the policy

To make the policy work, every employee has a responsibility to act in a fair, respectful and 
considerate manner towards colleagues, members of the public, clients/customers and 
councillors.

Page 98

Agenda Item 8



The lists below give examples of what is expected from you at work.

Employees of Sefton Council are expected to treat  people with dignity:
 by respecting individual rights and the right to be different;
 by respecting individual beliefs and feelings;
 by treating others as they wish to be treated;
 by making it acceptable for all individuals to voice an opinion or share a problem.

Respect the differences in other people:
 by not displaying offensive material;
 by not using offensive language or making hurtful remarks or jokes;
 by thinking of the impact of their actions and words on others;
 by listening to what individuals tell them if they are upset.
 by catering for cultural diversity

By following these guidelines, you will be upholding Sefton’s equality policy, and will be 
contributing to the Council’s status as an equal opportunities employer. You will also be 
complying with the Council’s Code of Conduct for employees.

Further Information

Further information about equality and diversity in Sefton Council can be found on the 
intranet.

The Council holds the Navajo Charter Mark in recognition of our 
commitment and knowledge of the specific needs, issues and barriers 
facing lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) people.

The Navajo Merseyside & Cheshire LGBT Charter Mark is an equality mark 
sponsored by In-Trust Merseyside & Sefton Embrace and supported by the 
LGBTQ Community networks across Merseyside.

The Council is a Disability Confident Employer which means that 
it is committed to removing barriers for disabled people and 
those with long term health conditions in employment. As part of 
this scheme candidates are able to apply for all non-schools 
vacancies under a guaranteed interview scheme. 

Equality and Diversity Training is available through the Workforce Learning and 
Development Team.  

The courses, 'Equality & Diversity Awareness' and 'Equality & Diversity for Managers' are 
designed to help learners to understand more about their responsibilities for promoting 
equality and diversity in the workplace.

For further information please visit the intranet or for any queries 
email training.services@sefton.gov.uk or call 0151 934 2872.

(Updated October 2020)

Page 99

Agenda Item 8

http://intranet.smbc.loc/our-council/equality-diversity.aspx
mailto:training.services@sefton.gov.uk


Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council Constitution Appendix G

Dated September 2020

CHAPTER 11 – OFFICERS AND MEMBERS
G PROTOCOL FOR RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS OF 
SEFTON COUNCIL 

INTRODUCTION 

73. The Purpose of this Protocol is to serve Members and Officers as a guide to 
conducting their relationship in a way that promotes good governance. This is not 
intended as a comprehensive guide, aimed to cover all eventualities but rather as an 
outline of the core principles. The guidance in this Protocol is underpinned by the duties 
and obligations contained within the respective individual Codes of Conduct for Members 
and Officers. 

DEFINITIONS 

74. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to the term Council include the 
Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and other committees and sub-
committees. 

75. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms Member and Members includes 
elected Councillors and non-elected Members who have been co-opted to serve as part 
of a formal Committee structure or process 

76. Officers and staff mean all persons employed by the Council. 

77. Senior officer shall mean all senior management posts graded Hay 5 or above, this 
will generally refer to Heads of Service and above. 

78. Party Group shall mean any group or part thereof acting in a party political capacity. 

PRINCIPLES 

79. Members and officers must at all times observe the principles set out in this protocol. 

80. The protocol has been approved by full Council and the Council's Audit and 
Governance Committee will monitor its operation. 

81. Whilst Members and officers are indispensable to one another, their responsibilities 
are distinct. Members are accountable to the electorate and serve only for as long as 
their term of office lasts. Officers are accountable to the Council as a whole for as long 
as they are employed. Their job is to give advice to Members (individually and 
collectively) and to carry out the Council's work under the direction of the Council. 

82. Good governance flows from a shared ethos or culture, as well as from systems and 
structures. 

83. It is imperative to good governance and the integrity of the Council that the Members 
and Officers demonstrate a high level of respect and professional conduct in their 
dealings with one another. 

84. To achieve good governance this code builds upon the seven principles for the code 
of people in public life that were established by the Committee on Standards, known as 

Page 100

Agenda Item 8



the Nolan Committee, as revised by the Localism Act 2011. These principles are located 
in Chapter 2 of the Constitution – Members’ Code of Conduct 

85. These revised Nolan principles underpin this protocol. Officers are also bound by the 
Council's own code of conduct for employees and, in some cases, by the codes of their 
professional associations. 

THE ROLE OF MEMBERS 

86. Members have a number of roles and need to be alert to the potential for conflicts of 
interest which may arise between the roles. Where such conflicts are likely, Members 
may wish to seek the advice of senior colleagues, the relevant senior officer(s) and/or 
the Monitoring Officer. 

87. Members represent the community, act as community leaders and promote the 
social, economic and environmental well-being of the community often in partnership 
with other agencies. 

88. Members represent their electoral ward and are advocates for the citizens who live in 
their area. 

89. Members may express the values and aspirations of the party political groups to 
which they belong, recognising that in their role as Members they have a duty always to 
act in the public interest. 

90. Members may approach officers of the Council to provide them with such information 
and advice as they may reasonably need in order to assist them in discharging their 
duty. 

91. Members must respect the impartiality of officers and do nothing to compromise it. 

THE ROLE OF OFFICERS 

92. Officers are responsible for giving advice to Members to enable them to fulfil their 
role. In doing so, officers will take into account all available relevant factors. 

93. Under the direction and control of the Council (including, as appropriate, the Cabinet, 
committees and sub-committees) officers manage and provide the Council's services 
within the framework of responsibilities delegated to them. 

94. Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial. They must not allow their 
professional judgement and advice to be influenced by their own personal views. 

95. Officers have the right not to support Members in any role other than that of 
Member, and not to engage in actions incompatible with this protocol. In particular, there 
is a statutory limitation on officers in politically restricted posts. 

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEMBERS AND OFFICERS: GENERAL
 
96. The conduct of Members and officers should be such as to instil mutual confidence 
and trust. 

97. The key elements are recognition of and a respect for each other's roles and 
responsibilities. These should be reflected in the behaviour and attitude of each to the 
other both publicly and privately. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 8



98. Officers work to the instructions of their senior officers, not individual Members. It 
follows that, whilst such officers will always seek to assist a Member, they must not be 
asked to exceed the bounds of authority they have been given by their managers. 

99. Members should direct their requests and concerns to the appropriate officer, in the 
relevant department. If there is any doubt on the part of the Member as to whom the 
appropriate officer is, or in light of the nature of the particular request or concern, 
Members are asked to approach a senior officer with the relevant department. 

100. Officers reserve the right to refer a matter to a more senior officer, where they feel 
that it would not be appropriate to deal with the Member’s request. 

MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES OR SUB-COMMITTEES AND OFFICERS 

101. This section does not apply to the role of Cabinet or Cabinet Members, whilst acting 
in their capacity as Cabinet Member. 

102. The appropriate senior officers will offer to arrange regular informal meetings with 
chairs or vice-chairs of committees or sub committees. 

103. Senior officers (including the Monitoring officer and the designated Finance Officer) 
have the right to present reports and give advice to committees and sub-committees. 

104. Members of a committee or sub-committee shall take decisions within the remit of 
that committee or sub-committee and will not otherwise instruct officers to act. 

105. At some committee or sub-committee meetings, a resolution may be passed which 
authorises a named officer to take action between meetings in consultation with the 
chair. In these circumstances it is the officer, not the chairman, who takes the action and 
is responsible for it. A chair has no legal power to take decisions on behalf of a 
committee or sub-committee, neither should he/she apply inappropriate pressure on the 
officer. 

PARTY GROUPS AND OFFICERS 

106. Senior officers may properly be asked to contribute when a party group deliberates 
matters concerning Council business. 

107. Officers will review their attendance at a party group meeting, should the party 
group include individuals who are not Members of the Council. 

108. An officer accepting an invitation to the meeting of one party group shall not decline 
an invitation to advise another group about the same matter. He/she must give 
substantially the same advice to each. 

109. An officer who is not a senior officer shall not be invited to attend a party group 
meeting, but a senior officer may nominate another officer to attend on his/her behalf. 

110. Officer support is limited to providing factual information or professional advice in 
relation to matters of Council business. 

111. Officers will respect the confidentiality of any party group discussion at which they 
are present and, unless requested to do so by that party group, will not relay the content 
of such discussions to another party group or to any other Members. 

Page 102

Agenda Item 8



112. This shall not prevent an officer providing feedback to other senior officers on a 
need-to-know basis. Any such information will also be subject to the confidentiality 
requirements contained in Employees’ Code of Conduct. (Chapter 12) 

113. An officer should be given the opportunity of verifying comments and advice 
attributed to him/her in any written record of a party group meeting. 

114. No Member will refer in public or at meetings of the council to advice or information 
given by officers to a party group meeting. 

LOCAL MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

115. Members need to be fully informed about matters affecting their ward. Senior 
officers must ensure that all relevant staff are aware of the requirements to keep local 
Members informed thus allowing Members to contribute to the decision-making process 
and develop their representative role. 

116. Issues may affect a single ward. Where they have a wider impact, a number of 
local Members will need to be kept informed. 

117. Whenever a public meeting or event is organised by the Council with respect to a 
local issue, the relevant Cabinet Members and/or Members representing the wards 
affected will usually be invited to attend the meeting as a matter of course. 

118. If a local Member intends to arrange a public meeting on a matter concerning some 
aspect of the Council's work, they should inform the relevant officer. Provided the 
meeting has not been arranged on a party political basis: 

a) an officer may attend but is not obliged to do so, and 
b) the meeting may be held in Council-owned premises. 

120. No such meetings should be arranged or held in the immediate run-up to Council 
elections. Any such meetings must comply with the Purdah1 guidelines, which should be 
consulted when seeking clarity on such issues. 

121. In the Purdah period it may be necessary to convene a public meeting due to an 
emergency situation or a previously unknown matter for which it would not be in the local 
public’s interest to postpone. In these circumstances it will be appropriate for Officers 
and Members to attend the meeting with a view to resolving the local issue. 

122. It is acknowledged that some Council staff may receive and handle messages for 
Members on topics unrelated to the Council. Care should be taken to avoid Council 
resources being used for private or party political purposes. 

123. In seeking to deal with constituents' queries or concerns, Members should not seek 
to jump the queue but should respect the Council's procedures. 

124. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with the Access to 
Information Rules in the Council's constitution. 

125. Members may request senior officers to provide them with such information, 
explanation and advice as they may reasonably need to assist them to discharge their 
roles as Members. Where information is requested on behalf of a third party, it will only 
be provided if: 

1 The term Purdah means the pre-election period in the UK; it refers to the time between when an election is 
announced and the final election results. The Cabinet Office issues guidance prior to each election.Page 103

Agenda Item 8



a) it is in the public domain, and 

b) it is not barred by the Data Protection Act 2018 (as amended) from being 
given. 

126. Every Member of a committee, and/or any other committee or sub-committee has a 
right to inspect documents about the business of the particular Committee. 

127. A Member who is not a Member of a particular committee, other committee or sub-
committee, or the Cabinet may have access to any document of that specific part of the 
Council provided: 

a) he/she can demonstrate a reasonable need to see the documents in order to 
carry out his/her roles as a Member (the "need to know" principle), and 

b) the documents do not contain "confidential" or "exempt" information as defined 
by the law. 

128. Disputes as to the validity of a Member's request to see a document on a “need to 
know” basis will be determined by the Monitoring Officer. Officers should seek his/her 
advice if in any doubt about the reasonableness of a Member's request. 

129. Where any person is expected to be present at the meeting of a particular 
committee, other committee or sub-committee or Cabinet, where documents containing 
confidential or exempt information (as defined under the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (Chapter 12)), are to be discussed or distributed and the person in 
question is not privy to that information, then the following procedure shall be followed: 

a) In advance of the meeting and at earliest possible notice, the relevant Officer of the 
Council shall be notified that such person may be present, and 

b) Upon receipt of such notification, the Officer shall advise of the appropriate course of 
action at the meeting in order to ensure that the confidential or exempt information 
remains secure. 

130. A Member should obtain advice from the Monitoring Officer in circumstances where 
he/she wishes to have access to documents or information: 

a) where to do so is likely to be in breach of the Data Protection Act 2018 (as amended), 
or 

b) where the subject matter is one in which he/she has a disclosable pecuniary or other 
interest as defined in the Members' code of conduct. 

131. Information given to a Member must only be used for the purpose for which it was 
requested. 

132. It is an accepted convention that a Member of one party group will not have a need 
to know and therefore a right to inspect a document which forms part of the internal 
workings of another party group. 

133. Members and officers must not disclose information given to them in confidence 
without the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless required by law to do so. 

134. When requested to do so, officers will keep confidential from other Members advice 
requested by a Member. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 8



135. Members and officers must not prevent another person from gaining access to 
information to which that person is entitled by law. 

CORRESPONDENCE 

136. Correspondence between an individual Member and an officer should not be copied 
to another Member unless the author expressly intends and states that this is the case 
or consents. Where correspondence is copied, this should always be made explicit, that 
is there should be no "blind" copies. 

137. Official letters written on behalf of the Council should normally be in the name of 
the relevant officer. It may be appropriate in some circumstances (for example 
representations to a Government Minister) for letters to appear in the name of a Cabinet 
Member or the chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny committee. 

138. The Mayor may initiate correspondence in his/her own name. 

139. Letters which create legally enforceable obligations or which give instructions on 
behalf of the Council should never be sent in the name of a Member. 

140. When writing in an individual capacity as a ward Member, a Member must make 
clear that fact. 

141. If a Member has another role, distinct from their role as a Member, which regularly 
requires correspondence with the Council, the Member must make it clear in which 
capacity they are seeking information or advice. 

142. When corresponding through any social media sites or public forums, Members 
and officers must have regard to the general principles of this code and the ICT and 
Information Security Policy. 

ACCESS TO PREMISES 

143. Officers have the right to enter Council land and premise to carry out their work. 
Some Officers have the legal power to enter property in the ownership of others. 

144. Members have a right of access to Council land and premises to fulfil their duties. If 
appropriate, Members may wish to alert the relevant Head of Service and/or Director 
when they are visiting Council premises, particularly those that are not generally open to 
members of the public. 

145. When making visits in their official capacity as elected Members, Members should 
adhere to their code of conduct plus any particular rules and regulations that apply to the 
site they are visiting. 

USE OF COUNCIL RESOURCES 

146. The Council provides all Members with services such as typing, printing and 
photocopying, and goods such as stationery and computer equipment, to assist them in 
discharging their roles as Members of the Council. They should not be used for private 
purposes or in connection with party political or campaigning activities. 

147. Members should ensure they understand and comply with the Council's own rules 
about the use of such resources. Members should not put pressure on staff to provide 
resources or support which officers are not permitted to give, such as political or 
personal matters. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



INTERPRETATION, COMPLAINTS AND ALLEGATIONS OF BREACHES 

148. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with the Council's 
"Whistleblowing" policy. 

149. Members or officers with questions about the implementation or interpretation of 
any part of this protocol should seek the guidance of the Monitoring Officer. 

150 If direct discussion with the officer is inappropriate (e.g. because of the seriousness 
of the concern) or fails to resolve the matter, the Member should raise the issue with the 
officer's manager or the relevant senior officer. 

151 An officer who believes a Member may have acted other than in accordance with 
this protocol should raise his/her concern with the Monitoring Officer. 

152 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in relation to this part of the protocol 
should be raised with the Chief Executive and the relevant party group leader. 

CONSEQUENCES FOR BREACHING THE CODE 

153 A serious breach of this protocol by an officer may lead to an investigation under the 
Council's disciplinary or capability procedure. 

154 Breaches by a Member may be referred to the leader of the relevant party group, or 
in more serious cases may also involve breaches of the Member’s code of conduct, and 
may be referred to the Council’s Audit and Governance committee. 

Page 106

Agenda Item 8



SEFTON COUNCIL CODE OF CONDUCT - SERVICE AREA REGISTER

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS REGISTER YEAR:  2020/21
(NB. Submit register to Monitoring Officer by 30/04/21)

SERVICE AREA:

EMPLOYEE NO NAME JOB TITLE/POSITION DEPARTMENT

EXAMPLE:
111111 John Jones Admin Manager Planning

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX E

DATE DECLARATION FORM
COMPLETED

DECLARED
INTEREST/ADDITIONAL
EMPLOYMENT
NAME OF
BUSINESS/ORGANISATION

INTEREST/ADDITIONAL
EMPLOYMENT

01/01/2019 XYZ Limited Shares in family company and
Director of Company. The
Company is an Events
Company and does not trade
with Sefton MBC

(NB. Submit register to Monitoring Officer by 30/04/21)

Page 108

Agenda Item 8



TYPE OF INTEREST
FINANCIAL/PERSONAL/A
DDITIONAL
EMPLOYMENT

DATE
FROM

DATE
 TO

DATE OF APPROVAL
BY LINE MANAGER
(INITIALS)

Financial 01/01/2019 Present 05/01/2019
(LM)

Page 109

Agenda Item 8



DATE OF APPROVAL BY
HEAD OF SERVICE (OR BY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE IF HEAD
OF SERVICE DECLARATION)

DATE FORM
SENT TO
TRANSACTIONAL
HR FOR UPLOAD TO
EMPLOYEE RECORD

DATE SENT TO
CHIEF LEGAL &
DEMOCRATIC
OFFICER
(PERSONAL OR
FINANCIAL
INTERESTS ONLY)

MITIGATION AND COMMENTS

07/01/2019 07/01/2019 07/01/2019 As company does not trade with
the Council no mitigation needed.
(AB)

Page 110

Agenda Item 8



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Council

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Tuesday 18 May 
2021

Subject: Amendments to the Constitution - Highways Act 1980 and  
Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Locality Services and Communities and Housing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

N/A

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The report recommends amendments to the Council’s Constitution to allow for the 
authority to enter into s38 and s278 Highways Act 1980 agreements and to make and 
amend Traffic Regulation Orders with regards to Disabled Parking Places outside 
people’s homes, to be delegated to the Head of Service for Highways and Public 
Protection.

The report also seeks to amend the Council’s Constitution to detail that the Council’s 
responsibilities under the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 are to be the 
responsibility of the Cabinet Member for Communities and Housing.

Audit and Governance Committee

Recommendations:

(1) That Committee recommend to Council that the Constitution be amended to allow for 
the authority to enter into agreements under s38 and s278 Highways Act 1980 and the 
making and amending Traffic Regulation Orders in regards to Disabled Parking Places 
outside an individual’s property to be delegated to the Head of Service for Highways and 
Public Protection.

(2) That Committee recommend to Council that the Constitution be amended to provide 
that the Council’s responsibilities under the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 be 
the responsibility of the Cabinet Member for Communities and Housing.

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



Council

Recommendations:

(1) That the Constitution be amended to allow for the authority to enter into agreements 
under s38 and s278 Highways Act 1980 and the making and amending of Traffic 
Regulation Orders with regards to Disabled Parking Places outside an individual’s 
property to be delegated to the Head of Service for Highways and Public Protection.

(2) That the Constitution be amended to provide that the Council’s responsibilities under 
the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 be the responsibility of the Cabinet Member 
for Communities and Housing.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

It is considered more expedient and efficient for the Head of Service for Highways and 
Public Protection to have delegated authority to enter into agreements under s38 and 
s278 Highways Act 1980 and the making and amending Traffic Regulation Orders in 
regards to Disabled Parking Places outside an individual’s property.

To comply with the 2020 statutory guidance issued pursuant to the Counter Terrorism 
and Security Act 2015.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

The option to make no changes was rejected as it would hamper good decision making 
within the Council with respect to recommendation (1) and the Council would not be 
adhering to statutory guidance with respect to recommendation (2). 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

None

(B) Capital Costs

None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:
Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015
Highways Act 1980

Page 112

Agenda Item 9



Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

 
Protect the most vulnerable: 

Compliance with the Council’s statutory duties under the Counter Terrorism and 
Security Act 2015 will help protect and prevent people from being drawn into terrorism. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 

Commission, broker and provide core services: 

To improve the decision making processes for the Council in relation to the provision of 
core services in relation to the Highways Act 1980 and Traffic Regulation Orders.

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6332/21.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4433/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Cabinet Member – Locality Services http://smbc-modgov-
03/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=63884&Opt=0

(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Page 113

Agenda Item 9

http://smbc-modgov-03/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=63884&Opt=0
http://smbc-modgov-03/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=63884&Opt=0


Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: David McCullough
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2008
Email Address: david.mccullough@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Section 38 & section 278 Highways Act 1980 and Disabled Parking Places.

1.1.The Council’s current scheme of delegation, lies with the Cabinet Member to 
grant approval for the Council to enter into agreements pursuant to section 
38 & section 278 of the Highways Act 1980. The Cabinet Member also has 
the authority to approve new or amendments to existing Traffic Regulation 
Orders in respect to Disabled Parking Places outside an individual’s home.

1.2.The nature of these agreements follow standard procedures and are seldom 
controversial. In the case of section 38 & section 278, the agreements 
merely facilitate approvals already gained through the planning process.

1.3.Matters within the Cabinet Member portfolio for Locality Services are dealt with in 
different ways dependent on whether they are considered to be executive or non-
executive functions and/or whether they significant in terms of budget or policy.

1.4.The decision to approve entering into Agreements between the Council and a 
developer, pursuant to section 38 and section 278 of the Highways Act 1980, are 
currently considered to be executive with the delegated powers falling to Cabinet 
Member. 

1.5.Section 38 Highways Act 1980 Agreements enable a local highway authority to 
enter into an agreement with a developer to adopt a highway, provided that the 
highway has been constructed to a specified standard and to the satisfaction of 
the local highway authority. A Section 278 Highways Act 1980 Agreement is an 
agreement between the Council and a developer that enables modifications to 
the existing highway network to facilitate or service a development.

Page 114

Agenda Item 9



1.6.Both agreements set out the financial liabilities and implications and stipulate that 
all costs will be borne by the applicant. This includes fees for the supervision and 
construction of the respective site. There are also protections added to any 
agreement in the form of bonds or surety’s that should the developer cease 
trading ensures the cost of completing the works does not fall to the Authority.

1.7.The Councils scheme of delegation must follow that prescribed in the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended). Under this legislation, ‘Local Choice Functions’ (which include section 
38 and 278 agreements) are functions that the Council can decide whether it is 
executive (Cabinet) or non-executive. In Sefton, the Constitution has put the 
decisions as those of the Executive. 

1.8.Therefore, if it was considered appropriate, it would be legally permissible to 
delegate the authority to approve the entering into section 38 and section 278 
agreements to Head of Service under the 2000 Regulations. However, as it 
stands, this would require amending the Constitution to make it permissible within 
the authority.

1.9.The Council receives frequent requests for Disabled Parking Places to be 
established outside of individuals’ homes. Checks are made to ensure that a 
vehicle is registered to a disabled person at the property. A letter is requested 
from the applicant’s doctor to confirm their mobility range and visits are made to 
assess if the bay is required. On these visits an officer will assess if parking is an 
issue which could mean that the resident is not able to park close to their home 
within their mobility range. If the applicant’s vehicle is observed to always be 
parked close to their property then it is unlikely that a bay would be provided, but 
if they are unable to park within their mobility range of the property then the bay 
would be approved.

1.10. Cabinet Member approval has been required in order to advertise these 
proposals, but it is now proposed that this approval be given by the Head of 
Service through a Chief Officer’s report.

1.11. Any objections received would still be reported in the normal way through 
the Licensing and Regulatory Committee.

1.12. Should the authorisation be delegated to Head of Service, officers will 
continue to advise Cabinet Member on a quarterly basis of approvals granted, 
and also discuss any particularly sensitive issues on an ad hoc basis prior to 
approval through the Chief Officer Report process.

2. Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015

2.1.Section 26 of the of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 (CT&S) Act 
2015 places a duty on certain bodies in the exercise of their functions to have 
‘due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism’. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9



2.2.Section 36 of the CT&S Act sets out the duty on local authorities and partners of 
local panels to provide support for people vulnerable to being drawn into 
terrorism. In England and Wales, this duty is met through Channel panels. 

2.3. In recognition of the importance of this duty the statutory guidance Channel Duty 
Guidance: Protecting people vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism , 2020 
states that as a designated statutory duty, the requirements of Channel should be 
reflected in relevant local policy, guidance and the local authority’s constitution. 

2.4.The Community Safety Partnership has governance responsibility for the 
Channel Panel and the Community Safety officer reports on Prevent activity at 
each meeting.

3. Channel Panel responsibilities

3.1.Channel is designed to work with individuals of any age who are at risk of being 
exploited by extremist or terrorist ideologies. For those cases where it is 
assessed there is a risk of radicalisation, a multi-agency Channel panel chaired 
by the local authority will meet to discuss the referral and decide on what tailored 
package of support can be offered to the individual. Participation in Channel is 
voluntary and confidential and is not a criminal sanction. 

3.2.The Channel panel is chaired by the local authority and includes a variety of 
statutory partners such as the police, children’s services, social services, 
education professionals and mental health care professionals. If a Channel 
intervention is required, the panel works with local partners to develop an 
appropriate tailored support package. The type of support available is wide-
ranging, and can include help with education or career advice, dealing with 
mental or emotional health issues, drug/alcohol abuse, online safety training for 
parents and specialist mentoring from a Channel Intervention Provider. The 
support package is monitored closely and reviewed regularly by the Channel 
panel.

3.3.The CT&S Act is intended to secure effective local cooperation and delivery of 
Channel in all areas, and build on the good practice already operating in many 
areas. In practice this means:

• local authorities will have a Channel panel in their area
• the local authority will provide the panel chair and deputy chair
• the panel will develop a support plan for individuals adopted as Channel 

cases
• where Channel is not appropriate, the panel will consider alternative forms of 

support, including health care and social care services
• the panel will ensure accurate records are kept detailing the support plan, 

agreed actions and decision-making and outcomes
• all partners of a panel as far as is appropriate and reasonably practicable, will 

cooperate with the police and the panel in the carrying out of their functions

4. To adhere to the statutory guidance it is recommended that the Constitution be 
amended to reflect that the Cabinet Member – Communities and Housing has the 
responsibility for the Council’s responsibilities under the CT&S Act 2015. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 9



Report to: Audit and
Governance
Committee

Date of Meeting: 17 March 2021

Subject: Financial Management Code

Report of: Executive Director
of Corporate
Resources and
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards)

Cabinet Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services
Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) have issued a 
Financial Management (FM) Code which aims to ensure a high standard of financial 
management in local authorities. This purpose of this report is to provide an assessment 
of the Council’s current compliance with the code together with areas for improvement.

Recommendation(s):

It is recommended that the Committee:

(1) Note the introduction of the CIPFA FM Code and the self-assessment of 
compliance with the Code which is detailed in the appendix to this report

(2) Note the action plan including recommended actions which have been identified 
and will be carried out to further improve both compliance with the Code and 
financial management across the authority

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To demonstrate the extent to which the Council complies with the FM Code and areas for 
improvement. This will support good financial management, governance and risk 
management within the authority.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Compliance with the FM Code is not a statutory requirement and so the Council could 
choose not to adopt it. However, adopting good practice in relation to financial 
management is an effective tool for managing risk. CIPFA also state that its members
must comply with it as one of their professional obligations.

Page 117

Agenda Item 10



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no direct revenue costs associated with this report.

(B) Capital Costs

There are no direct capital costs associated with this report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
Any costs associated with the actions linked to areas for improvement will be either met 
from existing budgets or subject to separate approval as required.

Legal Implications:
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that “every local authority shall 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall 
secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs”. 
CIPFA’s judgement is that compliance with the FM Code will assist local authorities to 
demonstrate that they are meeting these important legislative requirements.

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Effective management of the Council’s financial affairs supports each theme of the
Council’s Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above
Commission, broker and provide core services:
See comment above
Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above
Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above
Greater income for social investment: 
See comment above
Cleaner Greener
See comment above

Page 118

Agenda Item 10



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The review of compliance with the Financial Management Code, and the identification of 
further improvements, has been led by the Finance Service in consultation with the 
Senior Leadership Team. The final document as included at the appendix to this report 
has also been the subject of review and initial approval by the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer, prior to presentation to Members.

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6334/21......) 
and Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4436/21....) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Members of the Finance Service have attended events delivered by CIPFA in relation to 
the Financial Management Code to obtain advice and guidance and to understand other 
local authority approaches to compliance.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Andrew Bridson
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4096
Email Address: andrew.bridson@sefton.gov.uk 

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

Background Papers:

“Robustness of the 2021/22 Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of Reserves – Local 
Government Act 2003 - Section 25” – as presented to Council on the 4th March 2021 
(see paragraphs 2.41 to 2.43).

Page 119

Agenda Item 10

mailto:andrew.bridson@sefton.gov.uk


1. Introduction/Background

1.1 During the last three years and especially in the last 12 months, it has been widely
publicised that a number of authorities have encountered real financial
difficulties with some issuing Section 114 notices. 

1.2 To support financial sustainability, CIPFA have produced a Financial Management 
(FM) Code to ensure that financial management is of the required standard across 
local authorities. For the first time the FM Code sets out the standards of financial 
management for local authorities. This Code was launched in November 2019 and 
at that stage authorities were advised that they should introduce this in 2020/21 
prior to full implementation in 2021/22. This should also be considered by local 
authorities alongside the annually published CIPFA resilience index

1.3 The code is based on establishing Principles of Good Financial Management with 
these being translated into financial management standards. Each local authority 
has to then detail how it meets these standards through self-assessment and what 
improvements are required in order to ensure compliance.

1.4 In Q1 of 2021/22, a review the Council’s self-assessment has been carried out 
together with the development of an action plan that is presented to Members of 
Audit and Governance committee for consideration and this will be presented to 
the external auditor in due course.

1.5 CIPFA advise, that for 2021/22, local authorities should show direction of travel in 
terms of compliance with the code and proportionality. 

2. The CIPFA Statement of Principles of Good Financial Management

2.1 The FM Code applies a principle-based approach rather than prescribing the 
financial management processes that local authorities should adopt. They have 
been developed by CIPFA in consultation with senior practitioners from local 
authorities and associated stakeholders. The principles have been designed to 
focus on an approach that will assist in determining whether, in applying 
standards of financial management, a local authority is financially sustainable.

2.2 The principles include:

i. Organisational leadership – demonstrating a clear strategic direction based 
on a vision in which financial management is embedded into organisational 
culture.

ii. Accountability – based on medium-term financial planning that drives the 
annual budget process supported by effective risk management, quality 
supporting data and whole life costs.

iii. Financial management is undertaken with transparency at its core using 
consistent, meaningful and understandable data, reported frequently with 
evidence of periodic officer action and elected member decision making.

iv. Adherence to professional standards is promoted by the leadership team and 
is evidenced.

Page 120

Agenda Item 10



v. Sources of assurance are recognised as an effective tool mainstreamed into 
financial management, including political scrutiny and the results of external 
audit, internal audit and inspection.

vi. The long-term sustainability of local services is at the heart of all financial 
management processes and is evidenced by prudent use of public resources.

2.3 CIPFA’s view is that all financial management practices should comply with these 
principles.

3. Self-Assessment and Action Plan

3.1 As part of this budget setting process, the Council’s finance service has 
completed a self-assessment of compliance with the Code that has included input 
from the Strategic Leadership Board to reflect that financial management and 
good practice needs to be embedded across the Council and at all levels of the 
organisation. This is attached at the appendix to this report.

3.2 It is clear from this assessment that there are many areas of good practice in 
financial management evident across the organisation.

3.3 The action plan sets out activities which will improve compliance with the code. 
These are not necessarily new, with many currently being progressed, but are 
brought together in one place to show what is being done to sustain and improve 
good financial management across the authority.

4. Conclusion

4.1 The CIPFA Financial Management Code is intended to be a live document to 
support continuous improvement of financial management. This will be reviewed 
and updated annually and progress on the activities included within the Action 
Plan will be presented to a future meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

Page 121

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

Section Statement What FM Code guidance states 
in relation to compliance

Results of Self Assessment Action Plan

1 The Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer and Leadership Team
A The leadership 

team is able to 
demonstrate that 
the services 
provided by the 
authority are 
Value for Money 
(VfM)

The authority has a clear and 
consistent understanding of 
what value for money means to 
it and its leadership team.
There are suitable mechanisms 
in place to promote value for 
money at a corporate level and 
at the level of individual services.
The authority is able to 
demonstrate the action that is 
has taken to promote value for 
money and what it has achieved.

The Council has the following frameworks and systems in place to 
support Value for Money (VfM) in service delivery.
Governance
•The Finance Procedure Rules (FPRs) (Chapter 10 of the Council's 
Constitution) and Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) set out the 
financial governance arrangements for the Council including the 
requirement to achieve VfM. Supporting policies and procedures 
and service Schemes of Delegation have been produced as per the 
requirements. The Leadership Team and services have been 
actively involved in the development of these and their associated 
roles and responsibilities have been communicated via 
departmental management team meetings and through wider 
communications. These documents are available to all employees 
via the Council's Intranet.
Assets
•All members and staff have responsibility for taking reasonable 
action to provide for the security of assets under their control, and 
for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is warranted, 
properly authorised, provides VfM and achieves best value and is 
in the interest of the Council's citizens. Security of assets is 
governed by the Inventory Guidance issued as a supplementary 
document to the Council's FPRs.
Procurement 
•The Council has dedicated procurement function in place which 
advices on procurement activity and helps to ensure VfM.
•For tender exercises the FPRs state that all tenders should be 
evaluated on the basis of quality and price to ensure VfM is 
obtained. The Council's CPRs require that all award criteria must be 
designed to secure an outcome giving best VfM for the Council and 
these award criteria are defined by Heads of Service or their 

1. It is recommended that Legal 
Services continue with the review 
the Contract Procedure Rules 
(CPRs) and that these are 
refreshed together with 
arrangements for contract 
management and procurement. 
This will be included within the 
budget plan. 

2. It is recommended that a review is 
carried out into the use of 
benchmarking as part of the 
budget setting process, including a 
review of good practice in other 
authorities, to support the 
demonstration of VfM. Output 
from this exercise will be shared 
with services and used to inform 
themes which can be supported by 
the Medium-Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP). 

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

representatives and all tenders are evaluated and awarded on this 
basis. These rules were previously updated in July 2018 and a 
review is being led by Legal Services.  It is recommended that this 
review continues, together with a review of arrangements for 
contract management and procurement, and that the document is 
updated as appropriate.
•A contracts register is maintained and reported to services on a 
regular basis
Audit and Risk Management
•The role of the Audit and Governance Committee includes the 
requirement to comment on the scope and depth of the assurance 
work and ensure it gives VfM. This includes consideration and 
approval of the Council's accounts, internal control systems, risk 
management and corporate governance issues, as set out in 
Chapter 7 of the Council's Constitution.
•External auditors conduct a VfM assessment on an annual basis 
and this is incorporated into the statement of accounts. In the 
latest published statements, the external auditors gave an opinion 
that the Council had put proper arrangements in place to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
•Risk management reports are produced and shared with ELT, SLB 
and Audit and Governance each cycle.
Capital Expenditure Proposals
•The S151 Officer in conjunction with the Chief Executive have set 
up procedures in which capital expenditure proposals are 
appraised to ensure VfM is being achieved in accordance with the 
FPRs.
Financial and Performance Reporting on Service Delivery
•The Council operates regular budget monitoring which is co-
produced by service areas with input from business partners within 
Finance. This is reviewed by the Leadership Team and reported to 
Cabinet and Council on a monthly basis. Action is taken where 
variances against budget are identified. All savings options are 

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

produced with full engagement of the Leadership Team and 
service areas.
•Reports include specific reference to service performance against 
non-financial outcomes in the form of key performance targets. 
•Meetings are held between S151 Officer and Directors of Finance 
across the local region to discuss financial management including 
emerging pressures and how the Council is managing them.
•Executive Directors and Heads of Service are expected to achieve 
VfM in the delivery of services and reporting should demonstrate 
how this is achieved together with an analysis of how key policies 
and expenditure proposals have been implemented as per the 
FPRs.

B The authority 
complies with the 
CIPFA Statement 
on the Role of the 
Chief Finance 
Officer in Local 
Government

The CFO is a key member of the 
leadership team, involved in, and 
able to bring influence to bear 
on, all material business 
decisions.
The CFO leads and champions 
the promotion and delivery of 
good financial management 
across the authority.
The CFO is suitably qualified and 
experienced.
The finance team is suitably 
resourced and fit for purpose.

CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local 
Government
The key principles of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) in Local Government are:
 Principle 1 - The CFO in a local authority is a key member of the 

leadership team, helping it to develop and implement strategy 
and to resource and deliver the authority’s strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public interest.

 Principle 2 - The CFO in a local authority must be actively 
involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all material 
business decisions to ensure immediate and longer-term 
implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and 
alignment with the authority’s overall financial strategy.

 Principle 3 - The CFO in a local authority must lead the 
promotion and delivery by the whole authority of good financial 
management so that public money is safeguarded at all times 
and used appropriately, economically, efficiently, and effectively.

 Principle 4 - The CFO in a local authority must lead and direct a 
finance function that is resourced to be fit for purpose.

3. It is recommended that succession 
planning arrangements, and the 
associated Finance Service’s CIPFA 
Graduate Trainee Programme, are 
progressed to ensure that the 
service continues to be suitably 
resourced and fit for purpose.

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

 Principle 5 - The CFO in a local authority must be professionally 
qualified and suitably experienced.

The Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services is the CFO and Section 151 Officer at Sefton Council. They 
are a member of the Executive Leadership Team (ELT), help to 
develop and implement strategy, and to resource and deliver the 
authority's strategic objectives sustainably and in the public 
interest.
The Section 151 Officer is the financial adviser to the Council, the 
Cabinet and officers and is the Council’s ‘responsible financial 
officer’ under the Accounts and Audit Regulations. They are 
responsible for the proper administration of the Council’s affairs as 
specified in, and undertaking the duties required by, Section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, Section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989, the Local Government Act 2003 and all other relevant 
legislation.
The Section 151 Officer is responsible generally, for discharging, on 
behalf of the Council, the responsibilities set out in the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Statement on 
the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government. This 
includes leading and directing a finance function that is resourced 
to be fit for purpose together with:

a. in conjunction with the Executive Directors and Heads of 
Service, the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs
b. setting and monitoring compliance with financial 
management standards
c. advising on the corporate financial position and on the key 
financial controls necessary to secure sound financial 
management
d. providing financial information
e. preparing the revenue budget and capital programme

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

f. treasury management.
Each year the Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing a 
budget plan for the Council including an approved revenue budget, 
capital programme, treasury management strategy and capital 
strategy.
The Finance Team
The S151 Officer is supported by a highly skilled team and is able to 
offer advice and support when required. A significant proportion of 
the Finance team have accountancy qualifications (and maintain 
membership) or are actively involved in training. This includes 
Accounting Technician qualification (AAT) and finance and 
accountancy professional level qualifications (such as CIPFA, CIMA 
etc). The Chief Financial Officer is a fully qualified member of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).
Members of the finance team attend relevant conferences and 
events throughout the year in order to maintain up-to-date 
knowledge and skills in relation to their specialist subject areas.
Succession planning arrangements are being progressed via the 
Finance Services CIPFA Graduate Trainee Programme to ensure 
that the team continues to be suitably resourced and fit for 
purpose.

2 Governance and Financial Management Style
C The leadership 

team 
demonstrates in 
its actions and 
behaviours 
responsibility for 
governance and 
internal control

The leadership team espouses 
the Nolan principles.
The authority has a clear 
framework for governance and 
internal control.
The leadership team has 
established effective 
arrangements for assurance, 
internal audit and internal 
accountability.

The Leadership Team
The leadership team espouses the 7 principles of public life (the 
Nolan principles) through compliance with the Council’s 
Governance Framework.
The Council has the core frameworks and systems in place 
expected of a local authority to support proper governance and 
internal control, which are endorsed and overseen by the Council’s 
Leadership Team.
This includes a Constitution, decision making through Committees, 
an Internal Audit function which focuses on governance, together 

4. It is recommended that the actions 
within the Development Action 
Plan relating to the Internal Audit 
Service, as identified within the 
Annual Report and Opinion of the 
Chief Internal Auditor (September 
2020), continue to be delivered 
including:

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

The leadership team espouses 
high standards of governance 
and internal control.
The leadership team nurtures a 
culture of effective governance 
and robust internal control 
across the authority.

with Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers, registers of gifts, 
hospitality and interests.
To support this, the Council’s Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 
(Monitoring Officer) reports directly to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services and advises the 
Leadership Team and also attends meetings of Full Council and the 
Audit and Governance Committee.
Controls
There are a number of controls in place to ensure key financial 
decisions and scrutiny - including Investment Board, Growth and 
Strategic Investment Board, Programme Board, Contract 
Procedure Rules (CPRs) and Financial Procedure Rules (FPRs). The 
FPRs have been updated together with the supporting policies and 
procedures and schemes of financial delegation. They have been 
communicated via service management teams and are available on 
the Council intranet for all employees to view. These will be 
further embedded alongside training which will be delivered in 
support of the continued introduction of business partnering 
across the Council.
Internal Audit are a key part of the Council’s assurance framework 
and meet routinely with the S151 Officer and chief officers to 
ensure that Audit resources are appropriately directed towards 
areas of greatest need (applying a risk-based approach) and that 
audit actions are followed up.
Internal Audit
The Annual Report and Opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor, as 
required by the Accounts and Audit regulations and the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards, gives the Chief Internal Auditor’s 
opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
organisation’s governance arrangements, risk management and 
internal control environment, drawing attention to any issues 
particularly relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS). It also sets out key themes arising from the work 

 Development of the skills of the 
internal audit team so it is fit to 
meet the challenges of a modern 
Council

 Continuous review of the internal 
audit report

 Continuous review and update of 
working practices and reflection 
of associated changes in the 
Internal Audit Manual

 Management of sickness so as to 
minimise days lost and their 
impact on the delivery of the 
Internal Audit Plan.

 Improved mechanisms for the 
management review of internal 
audit work.

 Development of a more robust 
Counter-Fraud approach.

P
age 128

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

of the Audit Team during the financial year, and compared the 
audit work undertaken with that planned, summarising the 
performance of the Internal Audit function against its performance 
measures and targets.

So as to ensure that the authority not only continues to comply 
with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), but to 
ensure that the service continues to improve, the Service has 
created a Development Action Plan. This was reported to Audit 
and Governance Committee in September 2019 as part of the 
Annual Report and Opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor. This 
encapsulates several key actions such as:
• Development of the skills of the internal audit team so it is fit to 

meet the challenges of a modern Council
• Continuous review of the internal audit report 
• Continuous review and update of working practices and 

reflection of associated changes in the Internal Audit Manual 
• Management of sickness so as to minimise days lost and their 

impact on the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan. 
• Improved mechanisms for the management review of internal 

audit work. 
• Development of a more robust Counter-Fraud approach.

D The authority 
applies the 
CIPFA/SOLACE 
Delivering Good 
Governance in 
Local Government: 
Framework (2016)

The authority of aware of the 
provisions of the CIPFA 
Delivering Good Governance 
Framework.
The authority has sought to 
apply the principles, behaviour 
and actions set out in the 
Framework to its own 
governance arrangements.

Code of Corporate Governance
The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance sets out the Council's 
governance arrangements in conjunction with the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 
2016. Compliance with Framework is confirmed within the AGS. 
The code engages the seven core principles of corporate 
governance as set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework and 
describes the systems and processes that support these in the 
Council. The review of effectiveness is informed by: Senior 
Managers who have responsibility for the development and 

5. An update of the Code of 
Corporate Governance is 
scheduled to be taken to Audit and 
Governance Committee on the 
23rd June 2021 for approval and 
then to Council for approval. 

6. An update of the Audit and 
Governance Committee’s Terms of 
Reference is scheduled to be taken 
to Audit and Governance 

P
age 129

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

The authority has in place a 
suitable code of governance.

maintenance of the governance environment within their service 
areas; the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual report; and feedback, 
recommendations and comments made by the external auditors 
and other review agencies and inspectorates. The Annual 
Governance Statement is linked to the Good Governance Code 
through assessment of compliance with the framework principles.  
The Code of Corporate Governance and Annual Governance 
Statement are reviewed and presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee on an annual basis. 
The code was previously updated in September 2019 and so will be 
reviewed and updated where appropriate.
Statutory Officer Group
Sefton has in place a Statutory Officer Group which meets monthly 
to discuss all things in relation to governance and includes the 
Chief Executive, the Section 151 Officer, the Monitoring officer and 
the Chief Internal Auditor. 
Audit and Governance Committee
The Council has an Audit and Governance Committee who meet 
quarterly and provide independent assurance of the adequacy of 
the Council’s Risk Management Framework and the associated 
control environment. The role of the Audit and Governance 
Committee under their Terms of Reference includes considering 
the Council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing 
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice; to 
monitor the effective development and operation of risk 
management and corporate governance in the Council; and to 
consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report and Opinion, 
and  the level of assurance it can give over the Council's Corporate 
Governance arrangements. The Council has a Risk Management 
Handbook and the Audit and Governance Committee review the 
Corporate Risk Register at each meeting

Committee on the 17th March 2021 
for approval and then to Council 
for approval and inclusion in the 
Constitution.  

7. Updates of the Officers’ and 
Members’ Codes of Conduct are 
scheduled to be taken to Audit and 
Governance Committee on the 
17th March 2021 for approval and 
then to Council for approval and 
inclusion in the Constitution.  

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

The terms of Reference of the Audit and Governance Committee 
have been reviewed and updated and will be presented to Audit 
and Governance on the 17th March 2021 and then to Council for 
approval. Updates of the Officers’ and Members’ Codes of Conduct 
will also be updated and presented to the same meeting of the 
Audit and Governance Committee.

E The Financial 
Management Style 
of the authority 
supports financial 
sustainability

The authority has an effective 
framework of financial 
accountability.
The authority is committed to 
continuous improvement in 
terms of the economy, 
efficiency, effectiveness and 
equity of its services.
The authority’s finance team has 
appropriate input into the 
development of strategic and 
operational plans.
Managers across the authority 
possess sufficient financial 
literacy to deliver services cost-
effectively and to be held 
accountable for doing so.
The authority has sought an 
external view of its financial 
management style, for example 
through a process of peer 
review.

Financial sustainability underpins the Council corporate objectives 
with Sefton's '2030 Vision' being the key focus for service 
transformation.
The Council’s financial management style has the following 
characteristics:
• As highlighted in the Section 151 Officer’s Annual Report to 
Cabinet, it is prudent and cautious.
• The MTFP process means that the Council is able to understand 
longer term risks and plan a response to those appropriately.
• The use of resources is controlled through the Constitution, 
Finance Procedure Rules, Policies and Procedures and Schemes of 
Financial Delegation.
• All budget managers are given direct access to financial 
information to enable them to do this, including the Council’s 
Financial Management System Agresso, for forecasting their 
outturn position. Budget managers are expected to understand 
and explain significant variances from the budget to relevant 
Service Managers.
• The MTFP sets targets based on a minimum level of General 
Reserves by the end of each rolling financial planning period.
• All spending and resource proposals are brought to the attention 
of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services (s151 Officer) and/or their Deputy for prior sign-off.

As part of the Finance Service Review, a finance business 
partnering culture is being embedded within the organisation, 

8. It is recommended that financial 
training be provided to support the 
financial literacy of officers with 
delegated budget responsibility 
within the organisation. This will 
be delivered as part of the current 
implementation of a business 
partnering culture within the 
Council.

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

including research into good practice in other authorities, to 
maximise performance and in turn ensure resources are used in 
the most effective way. To support this change, financial training is 
required to aid the financial literacy of staff within the 
organisation.

3 Long to Medium Term Financial Management
F The authority has 

carried out a 
credible and 
transparent 
Financial 
Resilience 
Assessment

The authority has undertaken a 
financial resilience assessment.
That assessment tested the 
resilience of the authority’s 
financial plans to a broad range 
of alternative scenarios.
The authority has taken 
appropriate action to address 
any risks identified as part of the 
assessment.

Robustness of Budget Estimates
A report from the Chief Finance Officer " Robustness of the 
2021/22 Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of Reserves – Local 
Government Act 2003 - Section 25 " was presented to Cabinet on 
the 11th February 2021 along with "Revenue and Capital Budget 
Plan 2021/22 – 2023/24 and Council Tax 2021/22" with statements 
on:
 The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 

calculations of the budget; and
 The adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves.

CIPFA Financial Resilience Index
Budget Flexibility
The latest CIPFA Resilience Index of the Council, as reported in the 
Budget Plan, states 'when compared to other metropolitan district 
councils Sefton would appear to compare favourably in relation to 
its budget flexibility. Overall, this is classed as a medium risk to the 
authority within the latest resilience index analysis. 

However, this was based on analysis carried out prior to additional 
significant investment in Children’s Social Care (including 
additional budget of £7m in 2021/22). This included investment in 
staffing to ensure that caseloads of workers are manageable, to 
keep up with increased demands for services and to support 
improvements in good practice. From a financial resilience 
perspective, this will reduce future budget flexibility of the Council 
as a whole and increase the associated financial risk linked to this 

9. It is recommended that Demand 
Management workstreams within 
the Framework for Change 
continue to ensure budget 
flexibility to respond to risk and 
financial sustainability as per CIPFA 
Resilience Index.P

age 132

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

service area. Demand Management is included within the Council’s 
Framework for Change and aims to address these issues.

Income 
Sefton also is less reliant on grant income, being more reliant on 
council tax income as an overall percentage of its funding. 

Financial Stress
The Index shows that Sefton is at a higher risk of financial stress 
(relative to others) due to its level of reserves (both General Fund 
Balances and Earmarked Reserves) at the end of 2018/19 being 
relatively lower than many other metropolitan councils. The Index 
has highlighted the relatively low level of Sefton’s General Fund 
Balances when compared to other metropolitan councils. The 
average level of balances held is in the region of 5.5% of net 
revenue expenditure versus Sefton’s current level of approximately 
3%.' The Budget Report, presented to Council in March 2021, sets 
out a strategy to address these risks (see Section 6O for the 
associated action in relation to the level of reserves).

G The authority 
understands its 
prospects for 
financial 
sustainability in 
the longer term 
and has reported 
this clearly to 
Members

The authority has a sufficiently 
robust understanding of the risks 
to its financial sustainability.
The authority has a strategic plan 
and long-term financial strategy 
that addresses adequately those 
risks.
The authority reports effectively 
to the leadership team and to 
members its prospects for long-
term financial sustainability, the 
associated risks and the impact 

As per the AGS, the Council’s Vision (Sefton 2030) and Framework 
for Change programme are clear and demonstrates its 
commitment to its stakeholders. The Framework for Change has 
been developed to achieve financial sustainability, to ensure 
services align with the core purpose and that the Council works 
with partners to achieve better outcomes.
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
For longer term financial sustainability, the Council has prepared 
and consulted on a subsequently approved 3-year Medium Term 
Financial Plan. Sefton complies with CIPFA's advocation of a 3-year 
minimum MTFP. The Budget Report is reported to Members and 
provides them with an update on the overall financial position of 
the Council. It refreshes the MTFP for 2021/22 which is the first 

10. In order to address the issues with 
the High Needs Budget, the High 
Needs Budget Improvement Plan 
has focused on three key areas:

i. Short-term mitigating 
measures to help to reduce 
in-year spend;

ii. Longer-term aims and 
objectives linked to improving 
process, consistency and 
transparency in the funding 
process; and

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

of these for short- and medium-
term decision making.

year of the Council’s new Financial Strategy period. In addition, it 
provides an initial view on the likely funding position that the 
Council will face from 2022/23 to 2024/25, including implications 
of the local government finance settlement. In doing so the report 
presents the proposed budget for 2021/22.
As well as the aforementioned demand pressures highlighted in 
section 3F, there is a key risk to financial sustainability relating to 
the High Needs Budget which has significant implications for the 
Council’s reserves.
Capital Strategy
Alongside the MTFP, the Council have a 5-year Capital Strategy, 
also a CIPFA requirement which is approved by Members. Again, 
this allows for visibility of long-term sustainability. The Capital 
Strategy is a key policy document for Sefton and follows guidance 
issued in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities (2017 Edition), and it was first presented in 2019/20. It 
is an overarching document which sets the policy framework and 
governance for the development, management and monitoring of 
capital investment and the use of capital resources. The strategy 
reflects the Council’s Vision for 2030, Core Purpose, and sets out 
how capital expenditure will play a significant role in its delivery 
through the Framework for Change and Growth Programme. The 
Capital Strategy is aligned to the Treasury Management Strategy, 
MTFP, Asset Management Strategy and the Disposal Policy and all 
other approved policies and frameworks.

iii. Sufficiency planning to ensure 
that future provision meets 
the needs of children and 
young people whilst ensuring 
financial sustainability.

From a financial perspective the 
measures need to address the 
existing in-year funding shortfall, 
i.e. annual spend exceeding the 
annual High Needs funding 
allocation. The provision of 
specialist education needs to be 
provided within the available 
budget envelope from 2021/22 
and from there a strategy to 
payback the accumulated deficit 
will need to be developed.

H The authority 
complies with the 
CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital 
Finance in Local 
Authorities

The authority is aware of its 
obligations under the Prudential 
Code.
The authority has prepared a 
suitable capital strategy.
The authority has a set of 
prudential indicators in line with 
the Prudential Code.

Sefton complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code through approval 
on an annual basis of:
 Prudential indicators
 Annual Treasury Management Strategy including an Annual 

Investment Strategy and an annual Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

 A Capital Strategy
 A Capital Programme

No action required.

P
age 134

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

The authority has suitable 
mechanisms for monitoring its 
performance against the 
prudential indicators that it has 
set.

CIPFA introduced a revised version of the code in December 2017 
and this has been adopted in setting the estimated Prudential 
Indicators for financial years 2020/21 to 2023/24. The indicators 
are reviewed annually. The Treasury Management Strategy has 
been produced to incorporate the requirements of the CIPFA Code 
of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 and the Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance 2017. Updates on this are provided 
quarterly to Audit and Governance Committee and bi-annually to 
Cabinet and Council. Local Authorities have a statutory 
requirement to set aside each year part of their revenues as a 
provision for the repayment of debt, called the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). The provision is in respect of capital expenditure 
incurred in previous years and financed by borrowing. The MRP is 
reviewed annually. Updates on the Capital Programme are 
reported monthly to Cabinet to keep members informed of the 
progress of the Capital Programme against the profiled budget for 
2020/21 and agreed allocations for future years.

I The authority has 
a rolling multi-year 
Medium Term 
Financial Plan 
consistent with 
sustainable service 
plans 

The authority has in place an 
agreed medium-term financial 
plan.
The medium-term financial plan 
consistent with and integrated 
into relevant service plans and its 
capital strategy.
The medium-term financial plan 
has been prepared on the basis 
of a robust assessment of the 
relevant drivers of cost and 
demand.
The medium-term financial plan 
has been tested for resilience 
against realistic potential 

Medium Term Financial Plan
Sefton has a rolling multi-year MTFP which is revised annually and 
reflects the latest position of the Council in terms of funding, cost 
pressures, investments and savings. A Revenue and Capital Budget 
Update is presented to Cabinet monthly and provides a view on 
the forecast Revenue and Capital Programme outturn position.
Financial Sustainability
Financial sustainability within the MTFP is a key feature of the 
Framework for Change programme. The Framework for Change 
programme links to the Sefton 2030 vision and the Core Purpose 
and the MTFP underpins this. This was presented to Budget 
Council in February 2020.

No action required.

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

variations in key drivers of cost 
and demand.

4 The Annual Budget
J The authority 

complies with its 
statutory 
obligations in 
respect of the 
budget setting 
process 

The authority is aware of its 
statutory obligations in respect 
of the budget-setting process.
The authority has set a balanced 
budget for the current year.
The authority is likely to be able 
to set a balanced budget for the 
forthcoming year.
The authority is aware of the 
circumstances under which it 
should issue a Section 114 notice 
and how it would go about doing 
so.

A legal and balanced budget and corresponding Council Tax levels 
are set annually, by the statutory deadline of midnight on the 10th 
March. These, alongside the Robustness Report of the Chief 
Financial Officer, are presented to Cabinet ahead of final budget 
proposals being considered and agreed. Sefton's MTFP process is 
designed to deliver a balanced budget each year.
The authority is aware of the circumstances under which it should 
issue a section 114 notice and how it would go about doing so.

No action required.

K The budget report 
includes a 
statement by the 
Chief Finance 
Officer on the 
robustness of the 
estimates and a 
statement of the 
adequacy of the 
proposed financial 
reserves 

The authority’s most recent 
budget report includes a 
statement by the CFO on the 
robustness of the estimates and 
a statement of the adequacy of 
the proposed financial reserves.
The report accurately identifies 
and considers the most 
significant estimates used to 
prepare the budget, the 
potential for these estimates to 
be incorrect and the impact 
should this be the case.
The authority has sufficient 
reserves to ensure its financial 

To comply with statute, the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services (s151 Officer) is required to 
report to Council prior to the approval of the budget and the 
setting of the Council Tax, to give assurance that the budget is 
robust and that there are adequate reserves and balances. 
For the 2021/22 financial year this is set out in " Robustness of the 
2021/22 Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of Reserves – Local 
Government Act 2003 - Section 25" alongside the "Revenue and 
Capital Budget Plan 2021/22 – 2023/24 and Council Tax 2021/22".

As per Section 3F, the CIPFA Financial Resilience Index shows that 
Sefton is at a higher risk of financial stress (relative to others) due 
to its level of reserves (both General Fund Balances and Earmarked 
Reserves). The Budget Report, presented to Council in March 2021, 
sets out a strategy to address these risks (see Section 6O for the 
associated action in relation to the level of reserves).

No action required.

P
age 136

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

sustainability for the foreseeable 
future.
The report sets out the current 
level of the authority’s reserves, 
whether these are sufficient to 
ensure the authority’s ongoing 
financial sustainability and the 
action that the authority is taking 
to address any shortfall.

5 Stakeholder Engagement and Business Plans
L The authority has 

engaged where 
appropriate with 
key stakeholders 
in developing its 
long-term financial 
strategy, medium 
term financial plan 
and annual budget 

The authority knows who its key 
stakeholders are.
The authority has sought to 
engage with key stakeholders in 
developing its long-term financial 
strategy, its medium-term 
financial plan and its annual 
budget.
The authority has assessed the 
effectiveness of this 
engagement.
The authority has a plan to 
improvement its engagement 
with key stakeholders.

The MTFP and budget is developed in consultation with Members 
and the Leadership Team as well as key partners and stakeholder 
groups. 
In recent years the Council has carried out extensive consultation 
with the community and has a proven track record of engagement, 
consultation, listening and considering feedback in the budget 
setting process. Engagement and consultation will continue over 
the budget plan period and standard Council procedures will be 
observed in the instances where we are required to inform the 
public. 
Significant consultation took place regarding the Sefton 2030 
Vision which informs the Framework for Change and the Core 
Purpose. Whenever budget proposals are produced in relation to 
the Framework for Change then external and internal consultation 
takes place as necessary.
The MTFP, annual budget and Sefton 2030 Vision are all published 
on the Council website. 

No action required.

M The authority uses 
an appropriate 
documented 
option appraisal 
methodology to 
demonstrate the 

The authority has a documented 
option appraisal methodology 
that is consistent with the 
guidance set out in IFAC/PAIB 
publication ‘Project and 
Investment Appraisal for 

Capital Investment Appraisals
Sefton use the national Treasury Green Book Appraisal 
Methodology for all capital investment proposals to ensure they 
demonstrate VfM and officers received guidance from the Finance 
Service when developing business cases and options appraisals for 
investment proposals. These include detailed sensitivity analysis to 

11. It is recommended that – where 
significant policy decisions of a 
revenue nature have financial 
implications – they are supported 
by appropriate options appraisals.

P
age 137

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

value for money of 
its decisions 

Sustainable Value Creation: 
Principles in Project and 
Investment Appraisal’.
The authority offers guidance to 
officers as to when an option 
appraisal should be undertaken.
The authority’s approach to 
option appraisal includes 
appropriate techniques for the 
qualitative and quantitative 
assessment of options.
The authority’s approach to 
option appraisal includes suitable 
mechanisms to address risk and 
uncertainty.
The authority reports the results 
of option appraisals in a clear, 
robust and informative manner 
that gives clear 
recommendations and outlines 
the risk associated with any 
preferred option(s).

highlight the associated risks and uncertainty. These are captured 
within individual business cases together with clear 
recommendations. 

Where significant policy decisions of a revenue nature have 
financial implications, these should also be supported by 
appropriate options appraisals.
Governance
Internal governance processes are embedded in respective 
programmes of activity and workstreams including appropriate 
guidance on project development.
Reporting
Cabinet reports include revenue and capital implications to ensure 
decision makers are fully informed of the associated financial 
implications. In order to improve reporting, further training should 
be delivered regarding the early identification of the financial 
implications of policy proposals.

12. It is recommended that training is 
delivered to officers with 
delegated budget responsibility 
regarding the early identification 
of financial implications of policy 
proposals. A review will be 
undertaken of the Cabinet 
reporting template in support of 
this.

6 Monitoring Financial Performance
N The leadership 

team acts using 
reports enabling it 
to identify and 
correct emerging 
risks to its budget 
strategy and 
financial 
sustainability 

The authority provides the 
leadership team with an 
appropriate suite of reports that 
allow it to identify and to correct 
emerging risks to its budget 
strategy and financial 
sustainability.
The reports cover both forward- 
and backward-looking 
information in respect of 

Monthly summary financial monitoring is presented to Senior 
Officers, the Leadership Team and Members. Significant variances 
and emerging risks are identified and mitigating actions are 
discussed and agreed in response. The reports cover the position 
to date and the forecast for the remainder of the financial year. 
Monthly Revenue and Capital updates are reported to Cabinet 
addressing pressures, savings and potential offsetting measures for 
the current financial year budget and 3-year MTFP period. The 
financial monitoring is incorporated into these updates.

13. It is recommended that the 
Finance Service continue with 
the rollout of a business 
partnering approach across the 
Council within 2021/22.

P
age 138

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

financial and operational 
performance.
There are mechanisms in place 
to report the performance of the 
authority’s significant delivery 
partnerships.
The reports are provided to the 
leadership team in a timely 
manner and in a suitable format.
The leadership team is happy 
with the reports that it receives 
and with its ability to use these 
reports to take appropriate 
action.

All members of Cabinet, ELT and SLB receive 3-year view forward 
looking view.
The accuracy of budget monitoring has improved over the medium 
term and there have been improvements in the culture linked to 
financial monitoring and review. 
Going forward, in line with the objectives for the Finance Service 
Review, the Finance Service are seeking to embed a business 
partnering approach. This will include greater co-production of 
financial forecasts with frontline services, i.e. those making 
financial decisions, supported by the appropriate use of technology 
and with the intention of freeing up capacity to focus on future 
risks and opportunities.

O The leadership 
team monitors the 
elements of the 
balance sheet that 
pose a significant 
risk to its financial 
sustainability 

The authority has identified the 
elements of its balance sheet 
that are most critical to its 
financial sustainability.
The authority has put in place 
suitable mechanisms to monitor 
the risk associated with these 
critical elements of its balance 
sheet.
The authority is acting to 
mitigate the risk identified.
The authority reports unplanned 
use of its reserves to the 
leadership team in a timely 
manner.
The monitoring of balance sheet 
risks is integrated into the 

Reserves
The overall level of reserves and their planned use is reviewed 
each year as part of the outturn, MTFP and budget processes.
Commercial Investment Activity
The Council has an Investment Board which has delegated 
responsibility in relation to Commercial Investment activity as 
defined by the FPRs. Reports are made to members on this activity 
as and when required to ensure that any significant risks to 
financial sustainability are identified and appropriate action is 
taken.
Treasury Management
Treasury Management and Bank Reconciliations takes place to 
ensure suitable cash levels are in place and any borrowing in line 
with treasury management code of practice.

14. It is recommended that action is 
taken to increase reserves in 
support of financial sustainability 
as per the strategy included in the 
Budget Report presented to 
Council in March 2021, to address 
these risks 

15. It is recommended that further 
consideration is given to how risks 
relating to High Needs and 
Secondary Schools Deficits, as 
highlighted within the budget 
report, are brought together for 
senior officers within the 
organisation.

P
age 139

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

authority’s management 
accounts reporting processes.

7 External Financial Reporting
P The Chief Finance 

Officer has 
personal 
responsibility for 
ensuring that the 
statutory accounts 
provided to the 
local authority 
comply with the 
Code of Practice 
on Local Authority 
Accounting in the 
United Kingdom

The authority’s leadership team 
is aware of the CFO’s 
responsibilities in terms of the 
preparation of the annual 
financial statements.
The authority’s CFO is aware of 
their responsibilities in terms of 
the preparation of the annual 
financial statements.
These responsibilities are 
included in the CFO’s role 
description, personal objectives 
and other relevant performance 
management mechanisms.
The authority’s financial 
statements have hitherto been 
prepared on time and in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United 
Kingdom.

The authority’s leadership team and the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services (s151 Officer) are 
aware of their responsibilities in terms of the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. These responsibilities form part of the 
Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
role description and personal objectives.
The 2018/19 audit review shows that Sefton have prepared 
financial statement properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2018/19 (essentially confirming the CFO is overseeing 
finances and procedures correctly and ensuring statements are 
giving a true and fair view of Sefton's finances). Note that the 
statement of accounts for 2019/20 are currently in draft form as 
the completion of the audit has been delayed due to COVID.
The Council has consistently received an unqualified audit opinion 
from the external auditors.
The statutory financial statements are prepared by appropriately 
qualified and skilled accountancy staff within the overall 
governance and control process and are approved by the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services and the 
Council’s external auditors prior to submission to Audit and 
Governance Committee.

No action required.

Q The presentation 
of the final 
outturn figures 
and variations 
from budget allow 
the leadership 
team to make 

The authority’s leadership team 
is provided with a suitable suite 
of reports on the authority’s 
financial outturn and on 
significant variations from 
budget.

The presentation of the final outturn position to the leadership 
team and Cabinet compares the financial year outturn to the final 
forecast and explains any further variances from budget. Monthly 
in-year and final outturn reports highlight and provide analysis of 
key variances with recommendations for actions where 
appropriate. 

No action required.

P
age 140

A
genda Item

 10



Appendix – Self Assessment and Action Plan

strategic financial 
decisions.

The information in these reports 
is presented effectively.
These reports are focused on 
information that is of interest 
and relevance to the leadership 
team.
The leadership team feels that 
the reports support it in making 
strategic financial decisions.

Any key issues are reflected in the budget setting and MTFP 
process. 
The reports to Cabinet start with the financial position from when 
the budget is set and are updated monthly for known changes. 
They are an effective format for communicating variances in a 
concise, yet informative, manner.

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Treasury Management Position to January 2021

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report provides Members with a review of the Treasury Management activities 
undertaken to 31st January 2021. This document is the third report of the ongoing 
quarterly monitoring provided to Audit & Governance Committee whose role it is to carry 
out scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to note the Treasury Management update to 31st January 2021, 
to review the effects of decisions taken in pursuit of the Treasury Management Strategy 
and to consider the implications of changes resulting from regulatory, economic and 
market factors affecting the Council’s treasury management activities.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure that Members are fully appraised of the treasury activity undertaken to 31st 
January 2021 and to meet the reporting requirements set out in Sefton’s Treasury 
Management Practices and those recommended by the CIPFA code. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The financial position on the external investment budget to the end of January 
indicates a deficit to the end of the period. The forecast to the end of the financial 
year also shows that investment income will fall below the level set in the budget.

Page 143

Agenda Item 11



(B) Capital Costs

None.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
External interest income is forecast to fall below the target set for the year.

Legal Implications:
The Council has a statutory duty to review its Treasury Management activities from time 
to time during the financial year.
Equality Implications:

None.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: n/a

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: n/a

Commission, broker and provide core services: n/a

Place – leadership and influencer: Support strategic planning and promote innovative, 
affordable and sustainable capital investment projects through application of the CIPFA 
Prudential Code.

Drivers of change and reform: The Treasury Management function ensures that cash 
flow is adequately planned and cash is available when needed by the Council for 
improvements to the borough through its service provision and the Capital Programme.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  Pursuit of optimum performance on 
investments activities and minimising the cost of borrowing and the effective 
management of the associated risk continues to contribute to a balanced budget for the 
Council.

Greater income for social investment: n/a

Cleaner Greener: n/a

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6335/21) is 
the author of the report. 

Page 144

Agenda Item 11



The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4436/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

N/A

Implementation Date for the Decision

With immediate effect.

Contact Officer: Graham Hussey
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4100
Email Address: graham.hussey@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Background to the Report

1.1. As recommended under CIPFA’s revised 2017 Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in Public Services, the Council’s Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy document for 2020/21 (approved by Council on 27th February 2020) 
included a requirement for regular updates to be provided on the investment 
activity of the Authority. This report is the third of such reports for the year and 
presents relevant Treasury Management information for the period ending 31st 
January 2021.

1.2. The report includes information on the investments held / entered into during the 
period and the interest rates obtained (with a comparison of performance against 
a standard benchmark figure). In addition, the report highlights whether there has 
been any variance from the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy and the 
Council’s approved Prudential Indicators (the operational boundaries within 
which the Council aims to work).

2. Investments Held

2.1. Investments held at the 31/01/2021 comprise the following:

Institution Deposit Rate Maturity Rating
£m %

Money Market Funds:
Aberdeen 11.90 0.01 01/02/21 AAA
Aviva 11.90 0.01 01/02/21 AAA

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



Institution Deposit Rate Maturity Rating
£m %

Blackrock 8.36 0.00 01/02/21 AAA
BNP Paribas 11.90 0.02 01/02/21 AAA
Goldman-Sachs 9.74 0.00 01/02/21 AAA
HSBC 0.76 0.00 01/02/21 AAA
Invesco 11.90 0.01 01/02/21 AAA
Morgan Stanley 9.69 0.00 01/02/21 AAA
Federated 11.90 0.01 01/02/21 AAA
Insight 9.69 0.00 01/02/21 AAA

Total 97.74
Deposit Accounts:
Bank of Scotland 1.44 0.01 01/02/21 A+
NatWest 2.95 0.01 01/02/21 A+
Santander 2.95 0.08 01/02/21 A+

Total 7.34
Notice Accounts:
Lloyds 3.00 0.10 32 days A+
NatWest 3.00 0.10 35 days A+
Santander 3.00 0.15 35 days A+
Total 9.00
Property Fund:
CCLA 5.00 4.48 n/a n/a

Total 5.00

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 119.08

2.2. The above cash balances represent the full range of earmarked reserves such as 
school’s balances. The balances also include money received from the 
government’s COVID-19 response funds which are being redistributed to local 
businesses. The cash is initially held in a number of highly liquid Money Market 
Funds to ensure security of the funds until they required to be paid out. This 
approach is consistent with the Council’s approved Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy for 2020/21. The balance of investments is therefore expected to fall 
significantly over the coming months as the funds are fully distributed.

2.3. All of the investments made since April 2020 have been with organisations on the 
current counterparty list. The maximum level of investment permitted in the 
Treasury Management Strategy in any one institution, or banking group, is 
currently £25m. Whilst the maximum should be retained, in light of current 
economic conditions, a day to day operational maximum of 10% of the total 
portfolio is currently being imposed for specified investments. This will spread the 
risk for the Council but will have a small detrimental impact on the returns the 
Council will receive in the future. The Council has remained within that boundary 
during the year. At present, it is not expected that there will be any need to review 
this limit.

Page 146

Agenda Item 11



2.4. The Council will only invest in institutions that hold a minimum Fitch rating of A- 
for banking institutions, or AAA for money market funds. The ratings applied to 
investment grade institutions, and the much riskier speculative grade institutions, 
as defined by Fitch, have been placed into a risk matrix (paragraph 2.9).

2.5. An investment has been made with the Church, Charities and Local Authority 
Investment Fund (CCLA) in June 2014. CCLA invest in commercial property 
which is rented out to enterprises such as retail units, warehousing, and offices. 
The majority of properties owned are in the south of the country where the market 
is often more buoyant than the north. The Council has in effect bought a share of 
the property portfolio and returns paid are in the region of 4%. This is seen as a 
long-term investment with the potential for the capital value of the investment to 
vary as property prices fluctuate.

2.6. The Net Asset Value (NAV) of the Property Fund has decreased over a 12-month 
period to January 2021 from 301.14p per unit to 288.19p per unit, a decrease of 
4.3%. Much of this decrease has been during the period March to May 2020 as 
the COVID-19 crisis impacted on the property market, weakening values in the 
retail sector. The value of the Council’s investment still remains above that which 
it originally deposited and NAV in the fund has now stabilised.

2.7. The yield on the Property fund at the end of January 2021 was 4.48% which is 
consistent with returns received in the past. Rents collected by the fund since the 
onset of COVID-19 however, had initially fallen by as much as 50% in some 
sectors in early 2020 but then experienced a recovery later in the year with 
collection rates as high as 90% by the end of December. The forecast income 
from investments (see 3.1, below) has therefore been adjusted to reflect a 
prudent estimate of a reduction in income from the property fund.

2.8. The ratio of overnight deposits (short term) to fixed term investments and the 
property fund is shown below:

Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21
0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

Property Fund Fixed term Short term

Fixed and Short Term Investments

£m

Page 147

Agenda Item 11



2.9. The matrix below shows how the Council has set its risk appetite by being risk 
averse and putting security and liquidity before yield when investing:

PROBABLITY of 
DEFAULT High

INCREASING 
YIELD

High

F1 A+            
6

F2             
12

F3                 
18

B             
24

C             
30

D             
36

F1 A+             
5

F2           
10

F3            
15

F3             
20

B             
25

C             
30

F1+/AA-                              
4

F1 A                    
8

F2                                 
12                    

F3                       
16                     

F3             
20

B             
24 

F1+/AA                
3

F1 A+                                        
6

F1 A-                      
9

F2                                     
12                    

F3             
15

F3                 
18

F1+/AA+                
2

F1+/AA-                
4         

F1 A+                                        
6
£16.34m

F1 A                          
8

F2           
10

F2             
12

F1+/AAA               
1    
£97.74m

F1+/AA+                    
2

F1+/AA              
3

F1+/AA-                      
4

F1 A+            
5

F1 A+            
6

Low High
SEVERITY of 
CONSEQUENCE

SEFTON RISK TOLERANCE:

Risk Level Score Grade Amount Invested

LOW 1 - 4 Investment Grade £97.74m

LOW - MEDIUM 5 - 9 Investment Grade £16.34m

MEDIUM 10 - 20 Investment Grade £0

HIGH 21 - 36 Speculative Grade £0

2.10. The Council will continue to maximise any investment opportunities as they arise, 
but in light of current economic conditions and low investment yields it is not 
envisaged that any substantial increase in returns can be achieved for the 
remainder of the current financial year.  Cash balances available for investment 
will be held in overnight deposits to allow the council to respond to any 
exceptional demands for cash as they arise. The possibility for making long term 
deposits will also be reviewed now that economic conditions have stabilised to 
some extent. 

Page 148

Agenda Item 11



3. Interest Earned

3.1. The actual performance of investments against the profiled budget to the end of 
January 2021 and the forecast performance of investments against total budget 
at year end is shown below:

3.2. The forecast outturn for investment income shows a shortfall against the budget 
for 2020/21. The impact of COVID-19 and declining economic conditions in 
general mean that investment rates are low, and yields are expected to be well 
below the estimate originally forecast in the budget.

3.3. The Council invests the majority of its funds in AAA rated Money Market Funds in 
order to ensure security and liquidity of its cash balances. These funds however, 
have experienced a marked decline in yields since the onset of the pandemic. At 
the time of setting the budget for 2020/21 yields were around 0.75% on average. 
These rates have now declined to around 0% and hence forecast income is now 
much lower than the estimate.

3.4. The Council will continue to invest with Money Market Funds despite yields falling 
to zero, in order to preserve the security of its cash balances and ensure that 
cash is made available when needed. This is consistent with the approved 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 that prioritises security and liquidity 
with yield being a secondary consideration.

3.5. In addition to the above funds, the Council also invests in the CCLA property 
fund, and as mentioned in paragraph 2.7 the fund is expected to yield lower 
income compared with the forecast for 2020/21. The total income before the 
COVID-19 crisis was predicted to be £0.250m whereas at present it is anticipated 
that the amount to be collected will be around £0.240m.

3.6. In the current economic climate, it is considered prudent to keep investments in 
the short term to meet any exceptional demand for cash. It is therefore not 
envisaged that improved investment yields will be achieved during 2020/21 as 
cash balances are diminishing and held in short term deposits.

3.7. The Council has achieved an average rate of return across all of its investments 
of 0.38% that has out-performed the 7-day LIBID to the end of January 2021. As 
can be seen from the chart below, investment rates have been declining since 
March 2020.

Profile Budget
£m

Actual
£m

Variance
£m

January 2021 0.325 0.255 0.070

Profile Budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

Outturn 2020/21 0.415 0.317 0.098

Page 149

Agenda Item 11



Feb
-20

Mar-
20

Apr-
20

May
-20

Ju
n-2

0
Ju

l-2
0

Aug
-20

Sep
-20

Oct-
20

Nov
-20

Dec
-20

Ja
n-2

1
-0.2
0.0
0.2
0.4
0.6
0.8
1.0
1.2
1.4
1.6

Sefton 7 Day LIBID

Comparison of Investment Rates

%

4. Interest Rate Forecast

4.1. Arlingclose have supplied the interest rate forecast and commentary below:

Underlying assumptions:
 The medium-term global economic outlook has improved with the distribution of vaccines, but 

the recent upsurge in coronavirus cases has worsened economic prospects over the short term.
 Restrictive measures and further lockdowns are likely to continue in the UK and Europe until the 

majority of the population is vaccinated by the second half of 2021. The recovery period will be 
strong thereafter, but potentially longer than previously envisaged.

Page 150

Agenda Item 11



 Signs of a slowing UK economic recovery were already evident in UK monthly GDP and PMI data, 
even before the second lockdown and Tier 4 restrictions. Employment is falling despite an 
extension to support packages.

 The need to support economic recoveries and use up spare capacity will result in central banks 
maintaining low interest rates for the medium term. 

 Brexit will weigh on UK activity. The combined effect of Brexit and the after-effects of the 
pandemic will dampen growth relative to peers, maintain spare capacity and limit domestically 
generated inflation. The Bank of England will therefore maintain loose monetary conditions for 
the foreseeable future.

 Longer-term yields will also remain depressed, anchored by low central bank policy rates, 
expectations for potentially even lower rates and insipid longer-term inflation expectations. 
There is a chance yields may follow a slightly different path in the medium term, depending on 
investor perceptions of growth and inflation, or the deployment of vaccines.

Forecast: 
 Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 0.10% level. 
 Our central case for Bank Rate is no change, but further cuts to zero, or perhaps even into 

negative territory, cannot be completely ruled out.
 Gilt yields will remain low in the medium term. Shorter term gilt yields are currently negative 

and will remain around zero or below until either the Bank expressly rules out negative Bank 
Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve.

 Downside risks remain, and indeed appear heightened, in the near term, as the government 
reacts to the escalation in infection rates and the Brexit transition period ends.

5. Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits

5.1. For financial year 2020/21 to the end of January 2021, the Council has operated 
within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and in compliance with the Council's Treasury 
Management Practices with the exception of the following indicator:

 

2020/21
Original
Forecast

2020/21
Revised 
Forecast Variance

   
Ratio of Financing Costs to 
Net Revenue Stream 4.1% 4.2% 0.1%

    

5.2. There has been a reduction in the Council’s revenue streams over 2020 as a 
result of the COVID-19 crisis, the full impact of which is subject to a separate 
report presented to Cabinet and Council on a regular basis. The above variance 
is considered minor and financing costs for 2020/21 remain at affordable levels 
with the total borrowing requirement remaining below the operational boundary 
set at the beginning of the year.

Page 151

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Risk and Audit Performance Report

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected:

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report details the performance and key activities of the Risk and Audit Service for
the period 6 December 2020 to 6 March 2021.

Recommendation(s):
Members are requested to:

(1) Note the progress in the delivery of the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plans and the activity
undertaken for the period 6 December 2020 6 March 2021.

(2) Approve the revisions in the Annual Internal Audit Plan.

(3) Note the contributions made by the Health and Safety, Insurance, Assurance and
Risk and Resilience teams in facilitating the management of the Council’s key risks.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Approval of the recommendations will facilitate the continued provision of a
comprehensive and effective Risk and Audit Service.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs - There are no direct financial implications, outside of the 
approved budget for the function, arising from this report. However, the Council benefits 
from the work of the section in reducing the impact and likelihood (and so the cost) of
risk.

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



(B) Capital Costs - There are no capital costs arising from this report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no specific resource implications from the report.
Legal Implications:

There are no specific legal implications from the report.
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
The Council’s Risk and Audit Service is a key enabler to the delivery of the Council’s
Core Purpose as set out below:

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive

Drivers of change and reform: Positive

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Positive

Greater income for social investment: Positive

Cleaner Greener Positive

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6325/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4526/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None.

Page 154

Agenda Item 12



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4053
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Risk and Audit Service Performance Report

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the Internet can
be accessed on the Council website:

 Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 (as approved by this Committee on 16 September
2020)

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Risk and Audit Service is managed by the Chief Internal Auditor, who reports
to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services through
the Finance Service Manager.

1.2  The mission of the service is “to deliver a first-class risk and audit service that is
highly respected and valued by Sefton and is the envy of our peers”.

1.3 The Service has the following objectives:
 To lead the Council in embedding a system of internal control and risk
 management that facilitates the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.
 To be a valued corporate influence in promoting the due consideration of
 risk in Council decisions, strategies and plans.
 To align the service with the Council’s changing needs.

1.4 In delivering this mission and objectives, the Service encapsulates the following
teams:
 Internal Audit
 Health and Safety
 Insurance
 Risk and Resilience
 Assurance

1.5 This report summarises the main aspects of the performance of the Service during
the period 6 December 2020 – 6 March 2021, and gives members a detailed
overview of the following areas:

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



 Internal Audit:
o work undertaken in the period, including a summary of work and an
o outline of the high priority recommendations made
o performance against Key Performance Indicators
o developments relating to this part of the Service.

 Health and Safety, Insurance, Assurance and Risk and Resilience:
o work undertaken in the period, with key data provided
o developments relating to these parts of the Service.

1.6 The report concludes by looking ahead to the forthcoming activities being
undertaken by the service.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members are asked to note the progress outlined in the attached report

Page 156

Agenda Item 12



Audit and Governance Committee
17 March 2021 David Eden

Chief Internal Auditor
Risk and Audit Service
Corporate Resources
Magdalen House
30 Trinity Road 
Bootle
L20 3NJ

Risk and Audit Service: Performance 

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 12



Page 2 of 35

Contents

1. Executive Summary Page 3

2. Introduction Pages 4 - 5

3. Internal Audit Performance Update Pages 6 - 13

4. Health and Safety Performance Update Pages 14 - 21

5. Insurance Performance Update Pages 22 - 28

6. Risk and Resilience Performance Update Pages 29 - 30

7. Assurance and Counter Fraud Pages 31 - 33

8. Looking Ahead Page 34

9. Conclusions Page 35

P
age 158

A
genda Item

 12



Page 3 of 35

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This report summarises the performance and activity of the Risk and Audit Service for the period 7 December 2020 to 6 
March 2021.

1.2 The report covers each of the areas of the service:

 Internal Audit
 Health and Safety
 Insurance
 Risk and Resilience.
 Counter Fraud

1.3 The report highlights the following key points:

 This has continued to be a busy period for the Service, with the completion of a number of key pieces of work.  The 
performance indicators and key data in this report reflect this positive progress.

 The service continues to seek to support the effective management of risk, which is especially pertinent as the Council 
transforms.

 The development of the service continues, with a number of improvements having been completed in the period.

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 12



Page 4 of 35

2. Introduction

2.1 The Risk and Audit Service is managed by the Chief Internal Auditor.

2.2 The mission of the Service is “to deliver a first-class risk and audit service that is highly respected and valued by Sefton and 
is the envy of our peers” and the Service has the following objectives:
 To lead the Council in embedding a system of internal control and risk management that facilitates the achievement 

of the organisation’s objectives
 To be a valued corporate influence in promoting the due consideration of risk in Council decisions, strategies and 

plans
 To align the service with the Council’s changing needs.

2.3 In delivering this mission and objectives, the Service encapsulates the following teams:

 Internal Audit – this statutory service provides the internal audit function for all areas of the Council, including 
maintained schools.   Internal Audit can be defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. Internal Audit helps an organisation accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal Audit Standards)

 Health and Safety – supports Council officers and members in providing an effective health and safety management 
system that meets the Council’s statutory health and safety duties; thereby controlling the risks of injury and ill health 
to staff and others affected by the Council’s activities.

 Insurance – fulfils the duty to provide an appropriate insurance service for the Council, including claims management, 
advice on insurance issues and the management of insurable risk.

 Risk and Resilience – develops risk management and mitigation strategies for the Council on emergency planning 
(ensuring that the Council meets its statutory responsibilities as a Category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004), public safety and business continuity issues. 

 Assurance Team – will develop a Counter Fraud strategy and co-ordinate the development of counter fraud services 
across the Council.

P
age 160

A
genda Item

 12



Page 5 of 35

2.4 This report summarises the main aspects of the performance of the Service for the period 6 September 2020 to 6 December 
2020, covering the following areas:

 Internal Audit: 
 work undertaken in the period, including a summary of work completed and an outline of the high priority 

recommendations made.
 performance against Key Performance Indicators
 anti-fraud update
 developments relating to this part of the Service.
 Health and Safety, Insurance, Risk and Resilience and Assurance and Counter Fraud:
 work undertaken in the period, with key data provided where applicable 
 developments relating to these parts of the Service.

2.5 The report concludes by looking ahead to the challenges which will be addressed in the forthcoming period.

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 12



Page 6 of 35

3. Internal Audit: Performance Update

3.1 Work Completed 1 December 2020 to 28 February 2021

During the period 15 audit projects were completed. In addition, there are a number of pieces of work that are substantially 
complete and will be issued shortly including an ICT-Security Audit review, five school audit reports and two Liverpool City 
Region Grant Certifications.

The table below outline the audits that have been completed, the audit opinion and the recommendations identified:

Recommendations 
Audit Title  Audit Opinion High Medium Low 

1 December 2020 to 28 February 2021 (2020/2021)  
A59 2020/21 Grant Certification Q3 Assurance provided to facilitate certification
STEP 2020/21 Grant Certification Q3 Assurance provided to facilitate certification
Bootle Town Centre Grant Certification 20/21 Q3 Assurance provided to facilitate certification
Key Route Network – Urban Traffic Control 20/21 Q2 Assurance provided to facilitate certification
Crosby Lakeside Grant Certification 2020/21 Q3 Assurance provided to facilitate certification
Troubled Families – Claim period 20 (October – 
December 2020) Grant Certification

Assurance provided to facilitate certification

Troubled Families – Claim period 21 (January – March 
2021) Grant Certification

Assurance provided to facilitate certification

Assurance Mapping Exercise n/a
Audit and Governance Terms of Reference Review n/a
Corporate Governance Review 2019/20 – Follow-up.
To ensure progress with the implementation of the 
recommendations

Moderate
5 significant governance 

issues

9 3 0

Annual Governance Statement 2020-21 Preparation of timetable and improvements to questionnaire
Locality Services Procurement and Employee Conduct 
Review 1 – Appeal Support

n/a

P
age 162

A
genda Item

 12



Page 7 of 35

Audit Title  Audit Opinion 
Recommendations 

High Medium Low 
Covid-19 Business Grants Assurance Reports Co-
ordination – Report 6

Cross service co-ordination of Government returns

COVID-19 Business Support Grants Moderate 2 5 1
Framework for Change 2023 – Estates and Asset 
Disposals (Draft)

Moderate 1 8 3

Where the audit is at draft stage the audit is annotated in italics in the above table

Draft Audit Reports previously reported to Audit and Governance Committee where the management response 
remains outstanding.

Recommendations 
Audit Title  Audit Opinion High Medium Low 

Procurement – draft report issued 2019/20 Q3 Moderate 0 5 6

Audit have raised the delay in the response of the audit with the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services and this will be resolved when the Head of Service returns from long term sickness.

The high priority recommendations outlined in the audit reports issued in the period 1 December 2020 to 28 February 2021 
are summarised as:

COVID-19 Business Support Grants
 Management should prepare a Post Assurance Payment Report by 31 March 2021.  This is required as part of the 

Post Assurance Plan submitted to the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). 
 Management should use the Government’s Spotlight system when undertaking post assurance payment checking.  

BEIS strongly encourage Local Authorities to use Spotlight in their guidance.

Framework for Change 2023 – Estates and Assets Disposals
 The “1-Truth Report” Master Schedule needs to be updated to include relevant Accountancy cost codes.  The costs 

recorded in the Master Schedule need to be regularly checked to expenditure recorded in the Accounts.  This is 
required to ensure Senior Managers and Members are receiving accurate financial information.

P
age 163

A
genda Item

 12



Page 8 of 35

3.2 Key Performance Indicators 2020/21

The following table outlines the Audit Team’s performance against the Key Performance Indicators outlined in the Audit 
Plan agreed by the Committee in March 2019. In addition, at figure 1 there is performance information on the completion of 
the 2020/21 Audit Plan across all of the financial year.

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation
Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan completed 2020/21
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit Plan 
agreed by this Committee is being delivered.  The delivery 
of the Plan is vital in ensuring that an appropriate level of 
assurance is being provided across the Council’s systems.

92%
See graph 

below

59%
See graph 
below and 
narrative

33%
 See section 3.4

Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a 
“very good” or “good” opinion
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner.

100% 100% No variance

Percentage of recommendations made in the period 
which have been agreed to by management
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the 
recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment.

100% 100% No variance

P
age 164

A
genda Item

 12



Page 9 of 35

    

33%

67%

92%
100%

23%

45%

59%

To 30/7/20 To 30/11/20 To 28/02/21 To 31/03/21
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Target
Actual

Figure 1: Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Completed (profiled to coincide with the Audit and Governance Committee reporting dates)       

3.4 2020/21 Performance

The significant issue facing the audit team during the period has been the continuing impact from the Covid-19 pandemic 
on the Council and the challenges that have faced management in delivering core services whilst the majority of staff 
delivering services have been moved to home working and ensuring that social distancing is maintained. As previously 
highlighted the proposed audit plan due to be presented in March 2020 was essentially made redundent by the impact of 
Covid-19 impact on the Council and the plan did not reflect the risks that faced the Council. A revised Audit Plan for 2020/21 
financial year was presented to this Committee on 16 September 2020.

The delivery of the audit plan has been affected by resourcing issues which have arisen partly as a result of Covid-19. For 
the 2020/21 financial year there were plans for the recruitment for the post of ICT Auditor and CIPFA Finance Trainee on 
secondment which were included in the audit plan. Although we have been able to recruit for the Trainee ICT Auditor (April 
2020) we have not been able to carry out some of the training and joint working we would like to do both as it would normally 
involve face to face discussions but also the work areas themselves are not operating in the way planned at the outset of 
the review. The recruitment exercise for the CIPFA Finance Trainee was suspended during Covid-19 and hasn’t taken place.

In addition, two internal full time audit staff spent significant time completing Locality Services Procurement and Employee 
Conduct Reviews during the financial year.

P
age 165

A
genda Item

 12



Page 10 of 35

Also a member of the Audit Team has been absent from the organisation on  long term sickness leave since October 2020 
which has further impacted on the team’s capacity to complete planned audit work. A recruitment exercise was undertaken 
to alleviate the impact of the staff absence during the last quarter  but no suitable candidates applied for the vacancy.  
Further attempts to fill the vacancy will be made.  Additionally, in terms of staffing, the Trainee ICT Auditor has recently 
started her maternity leave in February 2021.

Covid-19 has also impacted on the delivery of audit work in reducing Officers’ capacity to respond quickly during the 
pandemic due to the scale of the issue and additional work has been required for example in assisting the Heads’ of Service 
and Executive Directors prepare written Governance Assurance Statements for the Annual Governance Statement which 
was outside of the planned work for this audit.  Covid-19 has placed significant pressures on many Council services 
restricting the range of services able to accommodate an audit due to the pressing needs of the Service responding to the 
pandemic e.g. social care, revenues and benefits, schools etc.

We have taken the view that in this unprecedented set of circumstances that we would work pragmatically through the 
proposed plan being mindful of the new risks that face the organisation and the pressures that face the Service Teams 
across the Council in responding to the pandemic.

To facilitate in the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Audit Opinion, the Audit team have now completed a wide-ranging 
assurance mapping exercise.  The assurance mapping is useful intelligence to the Audit Team on other types of assurance 
provided across the Authority.

3.5 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

As previously reported to the Committee, following the external assessment in March 2018 which confirmed that the service 
“generally complies” with the Standards the team, the Audit Team has been continuing to implement the Development Plan 
to ensure the continued development and improvement of the service going forward, with a particular emphasis on the 
service being able to meet the expectations of a modern service. 

One of the recommendations from the review of service in 2018 was an assurance mapping exercise. We have substantially 
completed the exercise which we should be entirely finalised by end of March 2021. The completed exercise will be used 
to shape the 2021/22 Audit Plan as well as assist in the development of the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Audit Opinion 
discussed below.

Further progress has been made investigating the potential use of specialist audit software to improve the speed and depth 
of testing through the development of a business plan.

P
age 166

A
genda Item

 12



Page 11 of 35

 An internal review of the team’s compliance with the PSIAS has been undertaken in the quarter with the work due to 
complete at the end of March. The results will be shared with the Committee at a future meeting.

3.6 Annual Audit Opinion 

The Chief Internal Auditor is obliged, under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), to provide an annual report 
summarising the work undertaken by internal audit during the financial year, and to provide an overall opinion of the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, derived from this work.  The work provide an 
overall opinion as well as prospects for improvement.  The opinions have not been historically qualified which may occur 
where there is either a reduction in audit delivery breadth or as a result of audit findings. 

For the financial year 2020/21 there has been a number of impacts which has impacted on the delivery of the audit plan 
from a resource perspective which has impacted on audit breadth, highlighted above, as well as the substantial impact on 
the organisation from Covid-19 which has re-orientated necessary activity towards emerging risks for example the grant 
funding from Central Government to local residents.

The Audit Team has recognised the potential impact this could have on the prospective Annual Audit Opinion and in light of 
guidance from CIPFA are proposing the following action to ensure there is a non-qualified opinion:

 The completion of the Assurance Mapping Exercise, which has been based on identifying alternative source of 
external validation of the Council Services across all Service area, will enable the Team to identify additional sources 
of assurance that can be used to supplement the audit programme. 

 Formalising the holistic approach of considering assurance over a multi year period which reflect the reality that not 
every specific area is looked at each year, unless there is knowledge to the contrary.

 The role of the Chief Internal Auditor is a senior manager within the organisation and as a result has visibility of the 
actions that the management team have responded to in particular on Covid-19 which provides positive assurance 
on the framework of governance.

 There will be a move towards a more narrative report that supports the approach.

Whilst the work for delivering the report has not started one area of concern is likely to be considered in the report which 
could potentially impact on the prospects for improvement. Whilst the organisation has responded highly effectively to Covid-
19 as resources and staff have been where necessarily re-deployed to the response, due to the limited bandwith an 
organisation has to meet his objectives, in part its resources are not infinite and elastic to cope with all demand,  there has 
been some reduced capacity to deliver business as usual objectives which deliver change in the way originally envisaged. 
This reflects the reality of the stretch there has been due to Covid-19. The Audit Team will carefully consider how this 
impacts on the prospects for improvement.   

P
age 167

A
genda Item

 12



Page 12 of 35

3.7 Resources

 In April 2020, a Trainee was recruited to a newly created Trainee ICT Auditor post. The Trainee ICT Auditor has recently 
gone on maternity leave which means there is a shortfall in capacity in the current financial year and next year.
  

 The Trainee ICT Auditor post was created following the deletion of the Value for Money (VFM) Auditor post, during the 
quarter 1 2019/20 re-structure, and will strengthen the team’s capability regarding ICT reviews.  Internal Auditors will ensure 
that that the issues surrounding value for money are considered as part of every review that is undertaken.

 An agency worker was used to backfill the vacant Principal Auditor post between June 2019 and July 2020.  Following a 
recruitment exercise the same worker was appointed on a fixed term contract until the end May 2021. One option being 
explored now is extending the contract into 2022.  This will provide team stability whilst options are considered for the future 
staff structure of the Audit function.  

 A separate recruitment exercise is underway for an experienced Principal Auditor to provide additional capability whilst an 
existing Audit staff member is on unplanned absence from the organisation.

 Until staff were advised to work from home at the end of March 2020, staff development continued through a mix of office-
based webinar and discussion training, engagement with regional audit groups (such as for school audits, ICT audits and 
contract audits) and through external conferences and training events.  The Trainee ICT Auditor has been able access a 
range of online resources as she develops.  

 To enhance audit coverage and to address one area of weakness identified in the external assessment in 2018, the 
viability of specialist audit software, IDEA, is being considered. A draft business plan has been developed. This is an 
exciting development and may have wide ranging impact on the way in which audits are undertaken in future. 

3.8     Developments

Since the last Audit and Governance Report Internal Audit has:
 Reviewed and improved the Audit Report template to improve the readability and reduce the time taken to write.
 Performance Development Reviews were completed before Christmas for all the team.
 Continue to monitor staff wellbeing during prolonged period of home working and maintained frequent and regular 

contact with all team members.

P
age 168

A
genda Item

 12



Page 13 of 35

 Completed a more comprehensive approach to obtaining alternative forms of assurance to inform the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s annual opinion given the reduced Internal Audit coverage in 2020/21.

 In addition to weekly catch-ups with the team, re-introduced monthly one-to-one supervisions of the team.
 Undertook a gap analysis of the revised PSIAS and completed 2020/21 self-assessment.

In the next quarter, the planned developments for the service include:
 Recruit a Principal Auditor for a fixed term period to provide cover for staff absences and assist in the delivery of 

the approved Audit Plan.
 Further enhance and simplify internal audit reports to improve clarity and reduce time spent producing the reports.
 Finalise proposals on the use of specialist audit software.
 Reintroduce team webinar and discussion training.

P
age 169

A
genda Item

 12



Page 14 of 35

4. Health and Safety: Performance Update
4.1     Progress
 

The Council continues to focus on improving the health and safety management system and support by reviewing existing 
arrangements and improving governance. 

  
The Health and Safety Team consists of two health and safety professionals supporting 7379 staff (including 4045 school 
staff), plus agency staff, contractors and volunteers. A temporary admin support has joined the team to provide support until 
June 2021. The team deliver a range of services across all Council departments including schools. These services can be 
divided into three main areas: Policy and communication, operational reactive response, and active monitoring. 
  
Health and safety objectives and key performance indicators are continually reviewed. It is acknowledged that outputs have 
been and are affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the team have adjusted service delivery to assist the Council in 
meeting its obligations and to provide managers and staff with the relevant support. 
  
Consultation arrangements are working well, with the Corporate Health and Safety Committee playing a key role in 
conjunction with the Departmental Health and Safety Committees. The committee meetings continue to be held virtually, 
using the TEAMS system, which has proved to be very successful.
  
Activities arising from the risk of the transmission of coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has been significant, as operations, work 
and home environments have continually been adjusted throughout the various periods of restriction.
 
Council building and operational risk assessments have been reviewed regularly providing assurance of COVID-Secure 
environments and activities for staff, agency workers, contractors, partner organisations and volunteers. Assistance, 
guidance and monitoring continues to be provided across all areas in the ever-changing climate. 

  
Considerable health and safety support was provided during the setup of SMART (Sustained Meaningful Asymptomatic 
Repeat Targeted) and Surge Testing sites across Sefton. Advice and guidance on the identification, implementation and 
monitoring of appropriate COVID-Secure arrangements was provided. The health and Safety developed a series of general 
health and safety, COVID-Secure and CoSHH risk assessment templates and a combined Public Health and Occupational 
Health and Safety Incident reporting form and process.

Advice and support were provided to Schools at the introduction of testing for staff and pupils. Several site inspections and 
onsite support visits have been undertaken by the Health and Safety Team. 

P
age 170

A
genda Item

 12



Page 15 of 35

Managers and staff have had access to Display Screen Equipment and home working forms and guidance during the 
pandemic. Due to the increased working from home arrangements, the Health and Safety Team have developed a 
responsibilities matrix, process flows, new forms and guidance under the Display Screen Equipment Regulations 1992 and 
the Stress Management Standards (HSE) as part of the Home and Agile working projects. The team have been supporting 
managers and staff with DSE and stress risk assessments and arrangements. They have worked collaboratively with other 
service areas to ensure the Councils obligations are being met, whilst ensuring the physical, psychological and emotional 
health, safety and wellbeing of staff is maintained. 

Onsite delivery of school and council inspections has ceased, although the Health and Safety Team continue to respond 
and visit premises when necessary. The audit process has been redesigned and takes the form of a desktop exercise. Audit 
evidence against practice will be verified during future site inspections.  
  
An online School Governor health and safety training course was provided to Sefton schools in late November. It was 
extremely well received.
 
The North-West networking groups, Liverpool City Region H&S Advisers Group and Outdoor Education Adviser’s Panel 
continues to meet virtually. The groups have proved invaluable for sharing information and good practice during the 
pandemic as guidance has changed so quickly.
 
CLEAPSS is an advisory service providing support in science, design, technology and art for educational settings. A large 
proportion of Sefton schools pay for the CLEAPSS RPA (Radiation Protection Adviser) Service. The Health and Safety 
Team continue to operate as a link between schools and the Radiation Protection Adviser, supporting school Heads of 
Science in the storage and use of radioactive sources. 
 
EVOLVE provide online services for schools, including a tool for planning and managing educational visits, after school 
clubs and sports fixtures. The system allows schools to upload risk assessments and other critical event information and 
take school staff through an authorisation process, which involves a schools internal Educational Visits Co-ordinator (EVC), 
Head Teacher, the Local Authority Corporate Health and Safety Team. EVOLVE have continued to provide online training.
 
The on-line incident reporting system continues to be well utilised with managers reporting accidents and incidents, as 
required. COVID-19 was added to the system as a new workplace condition during 2020. Workplace and non-workplace 
transmission cases are recorded and monitored.    

  
The Health and Safety Executive’s (HSE) Working Safely (COVID-Secure) campaign has impacted on Sefton Council sites 
and schools with a several telephone calls and site visits being carried out. The visits have gone well, and no concerns have 

P
age 171

A
genda Item

 12



Page 16 of 35

been raised. Visit outcomes are being monitored and lessons learnt will be communicated in Health and Safety updates, 
meetings and briefings.

4.2     Key Incident Data     
 

The Health and Safety Team continue to manage the Council’s incident reporting system which records work-related 
accidents and incidents involving employees, contractors and members of the public.  

Graph 1 below compares accident and incident data over the past year, highlighting the impact of the pandemic throughout 
2020 and into early 2021. 

   
Graph 1: Accident and incident data from January 2020 to February 2021.

The initial significant decline in reporting from Quarter 1 to Quarter 2 and the subsequent increase to Quarter 3 is consistent 
with the volume of staff remaining away from the workplace during March to May 2020 and the gradual re-populating of 
offices to a lower capacity level following the release of the National Lockdown. The increase in reporting within Quarter 3 
and Quarter 4 is due to the increased exposure and reporting of confirmed cases of COVID-19. Managers and staff continue 
to be encouraged to report all COVID-19 positive staff cases onto the Council health and safety accident and incident 
reporting system. This supports the effective review of risk assessments and monitoring of control measures.
 

P
age 172

A
genda Item

 12



Page 17 of 35

In addition, the Health and Safety Team have been working with managers to improve the reporting culture. A positive 
reporting culture provides greater accuracy in accidents, incidents and near misses’ data and enables the Council to identify 
trends and opportunities to prevent reoccurrence. 

Accidents and incidents reported across the Council Services between December 2020 and February 2021 are in the graph 
below.

 

Graph 2: Accident and incident data across Council Service Areas 
during the past quarter (December 2020 – February 2021).

The highest level of reporting is within Education Excellent, Locality Services and Communities. This is consistent with 
previous years and is influenced by a positive reporting culture. Other factors include continued service delivery during the 
pandemic restrictions where essential services have continued. From late Summer, accidents in areas of high public footfall 
rose as they included school pupils and those attending sports and exercise facilities. Most of these accidents were slips 
and trips and contact sports / play injuries. 
 

P
age 173

A
genda Item

 12



Page 18 of 35

Services areas not listed have not raised any reports during this period. These include Public Health and Wellbeing and 
Commercial Services. This is due in part to staff working substantially from home both during and after the National 
Lockdowns. Data and trends continued to be monitored as restrictions as the lockdown are initiated and then lifted.
  
The Health and Safety Team continue to promote a good reporting culture to manage the risk of injury, ill health and other 
losses. The reports impact on the assessment of risk, and suitability and sufficiency of controls and monitoring required. 
The Health and Safety Team are working with Workplace Learning and Development Colleagues based at the Corporate 
Learning Centre to develop the training offer to staff, which will include accident / incident reporting and investigation training.
  
Graph 3 identifies the cause of accidents across Sefton Council during December 2020 and February 2021. As previously 
highlighted, the most common cause has been the transmission of Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). Not all cases have been as 
a result of ‘workplace’ transmission. Staff have been asked to report non-work-related cases i.e., community transmission 
as this is a new hazard potentially being brought into the workplace and records are assisting with the improvement of 
controls and monitoring. The cases reported under RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 
Regulations 2013) are discussed below.

 
Graph 3: Accident and incident data by Cause 

during the past quarter (December 2020 – February 2021).

Through discussions with staff and at Health and Safety Committees, incidents of threatening and abusive behaviour have 
remained, despite restrictions, although not always reported through the incident reporting system. Staff who have faced 

P
age 174

A
genda Item

 12



Page 19 of 35

challenging behaviours are being encouraged by the Health and Safety Team and managers to report cases. Managers 
and staff have been carrying out thorough investigations. Further work is required to understand the number of actual events 
and reasons for underreporting. The Health and Safety Team are working with managers to ensure value and benefits are 
understood.
 
Through staff discussion and during Departmental Health and Safety Committees, concerns have been raised regarding a 
potential increase in muscular skeletal disorders from working at home and poor psychological well-being. Following the 
introduction of a new revised DSE / Workstation form and guidance and Stress Risk Assessment form and guidance in 
November, staff and managers have received support in adapting to alternative working practices and environments, 
whether at home or at a Sefton location. 
 
RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013) reporting is required where there 
is evidence of workplace transmission of Coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) resulting in a member of staff receiving a positive test 
for COVID-19. The greatest affected areas are Education Excellent, Children’s Services and Communities. 

  
Graph 4: Accident and incidents reported under RIDDOR 

from January 2020 to February 2021. 

Although workplace transmission remained high, this is reflective of the current climate and the national picture. Outbreaks 
in the workplace were predominately in schools, educational or support settings where social distancing was difficult at 

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 12



Page 20 of 35

times. There have been a small number of outbreaks (2 or more linked cases) outside of these settings which have been 
due to slips and lapses of attention. The number of RIDDOR reports and therefore outbreaks where there was evidence of 
workplace transmission being reported was of concern however the campaign to improve reporting across the Council 
services and schools may have influenced the number of reports raised. Outbreaks affecting staff are investigated by a 
member of the Health and Safety and Public Health to establish route causes and consider additional controls or 
reinforcement of the safety behaviour message.  
 
The Health and Safety Team have been working closely with Public Health colleagues to address the perception of risk, 
implementation of effective controls measures, monitoring and reinforcement of social distancing and other controls by 
managers. Managers and staff have engaged positively, especially during investigations and have expressed appreciation 
in identifying weaknesses, reviewing and strengthening control and monitoring measures.
 
There have been three non-COVID-19 cases raised during the period from December 2020 to February 2021. The first case 
involved an agency working slipping in corridor causing bruising to nose and forehead. They were taken to hospital by as a 
precaution. A further case was an over 7-day absence from a back injury. 

The third RIDDOR reportable incident was due to damage to Council residential property being hit by moving vehicle. 
Fortunately, the building was empty at time. Structural and services engineers were appointed to carry out tests, inspections 
and repairs to ensure the property was deemed safe for partial preoccupancy. The Health and Safety Team carried out an 
inspection to confirm suitable arrangements were in place.

4.3     Developments
 

There will be a continued focus during the next quarter of delivering the Health and Safety Improvement Plan and the 
ongoing recovery programmes from COVID-19 with planned priorities –  
  
Continue to support to assist Managers with the recovery programmes from COVID-19. 
  
Continue to review, update and monitor the Health and Safety Standards and Policies, with focus on working from home 
and agile working, display screen and workstation assessments and stress risk assessments.  
  
Monitoring and support remain in place for schools and the Smart Testing sites. 

Continue to develop the Council-wide training needs assessment which will build into the health and safety training plan 
and provision.  

P
age 176

A
genda Item

 12



Page 21 of 35

  
Continuing the delivery of risk assessment training for the managers who have responsibility to undertake risk assessments, 
in collaboration with the Corporate Learning Centre. Working with senior managers to identify staff who require risk 
assessment or refresher training. 
  
Focus on improving the accuracy of incident reporting across the Council will continue to ensure incidents of threatening 
and abusive behaviours towards staff are reported. 
  
Continue to deliver a health and safety management audit and inspection regime across the Council, to schools with a 
Service Level Agreement with the Council and those schools where the Council retains responsibility for the health and 
safety as the employer.  This will provide assurance that health and safety management systems are suitable and effective. 
  
The Council has a contract with its liability insurers which includes an allocation of free training or service days to assist with 
implementing effective risk management across the Council.  
  
Work continues to monitor outdoor education which includes offering advice and reviewing risk assessments for off-site 
visits and adventurous activities involving young people in schools. This is managed by the EVOLVE system which schools 
can purchase as part of the Service Level Agreement offering. Although these activities have been restricted due to the 
pandemic, it is anticipated plans will be in place to recommence off-site visits and adventurous activities in the coming 
months.
  
The team continue to support schools in the safe storage and where necessary, destruction of their radioactive sources. 
 
Promote the Educational Visits Co-ordinator courses being held virtually in April 2021. The course is aimed at new and 
existing EVCs in schools and will enable them to plan and manage their school’s educational visits and off-site activities in 
line with National Guidance, this in turn will help them fulfil their health and safety responsibilities.  

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 12



Page 22 of 35

 5. Insurance: Performance Update

5.1     Work Completed 

During the period, the following key pieces of work/projects have been undertaken: 
 
 As advised in the last update, an exercise was placed on The Chest to enable a sample of the Councils buildings to be 

revalued for insurance purposes.  Although only one bid, which met with requirements, was submitted, the contract has 
unfortunately not yet commenced as anticipated.  However, discussions are currently underway between the bidder and 
the Council’s Legal Services Team in order to agree the outstanding queries on the Councils Terms of Business and 
enable the work to be undertaken as soon as possible. We remain hopeful that the work can be competed before the 
renewal in September 2021.

 Previous updates have commented on the Government’s approach to offer all Local Authority Schools from April 2020 
a new insurance offering the Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA) which would enable schools to opt out of the Council’s 
insurance arrangements. Following significant work during the past six months the Insurance Team have developed 
alongside colleagues within Finance a new approach for the Council’s Maintained Schools insurance arrangements 
which provides within the existing Council’s Long-Term Agreement (LTA) insurance, an attractive insurance offering for 
Schools to consider. The proposed scheme has been shared with the Schools Forum with the intention that the School’s 
advise the Council which option, either the Council LTA or the RPA they would prefer by the next policy renewal in 
September 2021. The consultation is due to end on 28 February 2021 and an update will be provided to the meeting. 

 Following the recent identification of the South African Variant of Covid-19 in the borough , and the subsequent Testing 
exercise required, the Insurance Team, in liaison with Health & Safety colleagues, have ensured that appropriate 
insurance cover is in place to protect the Council for this unprecedented event. Insurers have also been advised of the 
change of use of some of the Council buildings for testing purposes to ensure that insurance cover is not compromised. 

 
 The Council continues to defend cases robustly to protect the public purse and, with the assistance of Weightmans, the 

Council’s Solicitors, has recently succeeded at Court involving a tripping claim.  The Court found that the third party 
could not identify the true character or dimensions of the alleged defect and that the Council had taken reasonable care 
to ensure the locus was not dangerous.  The decision resulted in cost avoidance for the Council of £13.5k.  

P
age 178

A
genda Item

 12



Page 23 of 35

 The last update reported that the Team were working closely with Weightmans Solicitors in an attempt to prove a case 
of fundamental dishonesty in a claim involving damage to a vehicle and alleged injuries. Although the Council were 
prepared to continue to defend this matter, the claimant discontinued his claim and an order has  been made which 
renders him responsible for paying the Council’s costs.  In addition, the reserve of £5,400 on his claim has been avoided.

 Further work is under way with Weightmans in relation to two claims where it is thought there may be some fraudulent 
activity as, although submitted separately by two different solicitors, claims have been received for alleged trips at a 
Council owned location using identical supporting evidence.

 The completion of a policy renewal for Sandway Home. The renewal was challenging due to the constant changing 
market view on risk and price resulting in the insurers providing reduced cover for the same price. A cyclical trend that 
started before Covid-19 but has since accelerated is a “hardening” up of pricing within the general insurance market 
leading to significant cost increases. Coupled with the increase of prices the market approach to risk particularly in some 
specialised insurance areas has changed to a reduced appetite for risk due to higher than expected numbers of claims 
appearing in their claim book. The focus has moved generally away from gaining market share with insurers pricing 
according to their appetite to gain a specific market share to a more technical focused pricing strategy based on claims 
and risk with a focus on profit. The Council has a robust risk management approach, for which insurers have commented 
on before, and we are prepared for the challenges the current insurance market will present with renewal in September 
2021.

 Regular review meetings are also conducted with Weightmans to ensure compliance of the contract set up between the 
two parties via the North West Legal Consortium Framework.

   
 The Team also continues to work extensively with Service Teams to improve the management of insurable risk in areas 

where there are high numbers of claims or areas of concern including Highways and Tourism colleagues.  The Council 
generally has high defensibility rates and such risk management activity will assist in maintaining and potentially 
improving the position further. 

5.2       Key Claims Data  

The following charts outline the insurance performance and include: 

 Numbers of claims for Public Liability (PL), Employers Liability (EL) and Motor (MV) received by Sefton Council for the 
period 1 November 2019 to 31 January 2021.

P
age 179

A
genda Item

 12



Page 24 of 35

 Value of the reserves for PL, EL and MV claims received by Sefton Council for the period 1 November 2019 to 31 
January 2021.

 The average reserve value for PL, EL and MV claims received by Sefton Council for the period 1 November 2019 to 31 
January 2021.

The chart below outlines the number of claims for PL, EL and MV received for the period 1 November 2019 to 31 
January 2021.

Claims Received 1 
November 2019 - 31 

January 2020

Claims Received 1 February 
2020 - 30 April 2020

Claims Received 1 May 2020 
- 31 July 2020

Claims Received 1 August 
2020 - 31 October 2020

Claims Received 1 
November 2020 - 31 

January 2021

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Public Liability Employer's Liability Motor

Number of PL, EL and MV Claims Received                                                               1 November 
2019 to 31 January 2021 

Despite a steady decrease in the middle 3 quarters, public liability claims numbers have risen between the fourth and fifth 
quarter by 26%.  This shift may, in part, be due to Government lockdown restrictions being eased leading to more general 
footfall by members of the public.  However, they remain 20% lower than the first quarter and 32% lower than the highest 
number received in quarter 2 which again may be reflected by adherence to Government restrictions in place at the time.  
The largest area of claims remains with the Highways service area.  These claims represent 71% of all claims received in 
the final quarter, of which 56% related to personal injury.   

There have been no Employer’s Liability claims received in the last quarter of the period and this may be a reflection of a 
large majority of staff continuing to work from home.  Although the previous update advised that insurers had been “put on 

P
age 180

A
genda Item

 12



Page 25 of 35

notice” of a number of staff contracting Covid-19 where it was believed to be as a result of the workplace, no claims have 
been intimated.  Throughout the whole period, numbers remain low for the Authority’s size, which is pleasing to note. 

Motor claims numbers have steadily increased from quarter 3 to 5.  Between quarters 4 and 5 this increase is 12% and 
numbers are now higher than any other quarter within the reporting period. As would be expected, due to the size of the 
service area fleet, Cleansing (Refuse Collection Service) accounts for 45% of claims received within the last quarter with 
62% of these claims being for own damage only with no third-party involvement. Due to Covid-19 restrictions, more vehicles 
have been required to ensure safe continuity of operations and claims may have therefore risen due to unfamiliarity with the 
hired vehicles.  Further investigations will be undertaken, and risk management advise will be provided if, and where, 
appropriate.  

Despite variance over the period, the current profile in all three areas presents no cause for concern.  However, numbers, in 
particular those for motor, will continue to be monitored for any changes in trend.

The chart below outlines the value of the reserves for PL, EL and MV claims received for the period 1 November 
2019 to 31 January 2021.

Claims Reserves 1 
November 2019 - 31 

January 2020

Claims Reserves 1 February 
2020 - 30 April 2020

Claims Reserves 1 May 
2020 - 31 July 2020

Claims Reserves 1 August 
2020 - 31 October 2020

Claims Reserves 1 
November 2020 - 31 

January 2021

0
50,000

100,000
150,000
200,000
250,000
300,000

Public Liability Employer's Liability Motor

Value of Claims Reserves (£) for PL, EL and MV Claims Received                           1 November 
2019 to 31 January 2021

Claim reserves are allocated by the insurers and/or claims handlers independent of the Council and are determined by the 
type of injury sustained by the third parties and/or damage occasioned to their property.

P
age 181

A
genda Item

 12



Page 26 of 35

Despite an increase in Public Liability claims numbers between the fifth and fourth quarter, reserves have decreased by 
3.8%.  In line with claims numbers, reserves also decreased by 6.6% between the start and close of the reporting period.  
The trend between quarters 2 and 5, despite a decrease in claims numbers, is that reserves increased by 13%.  This reflects 
that reserve values do not always follow claims numbers and that both the nature of the claims and the injury and/or damage 
sustained by third parties determine the reserves allocated. 

As there have been no Employer’s Liability claims received, the value of the reserves for quarter 5 is £nil.

Although the increase in Motor claims numbers between the fourth and fifth quarter was relatively small, due to the 
injuries/damage sustained by third parties, and the value of repairs to our own fleet, the value of reserves rose significantly 
by 413%.  However, the main reason for this increase was a Sefton hired vehicle being stolen and subsequently making 
impact with street furniture.  This resulted in the front of the vehicle suffering extensive damage, although not deemed to be 
beyond economical repair. Unfortunately, to date, the Police have been unable to apprehend the driver. 

The chart below outlines the average value of the reserves for PL, EL and MV claims received for the period 1 
November 2019 to 31 January 2021.

Average Claims Reserves 1 
November 2019 - 31 

January 2020

Average Claims Reserves 1 
February 2020 - 30 April 

2020

Average Claims Reserves 1 
May 2020 - 31 July 2020

Average Claims Reserves 1 
August 2020 - 31 October 

2020

Average Claims Reserves 1 
November 2020 - 31 

January 2021

0
5,000

10,000
15,000
20,000
25,000
30,000

Public Liability Employer's Liability Motor

Average Claims Reserves (£) for PL, EL and MV Claims Received                          1 November 
2019 to 31 January 2021

P
age 182

A
genda Item

 12



Page 27 of 35

Public Liability average claims reserves have fluctuated over the overall period which is due to the nature of the claims and 
severity of injury and/or damage suffered by third parties.  Based on the narrative for the previous chart for the Value of 
Claims Reserves, there has been decreases of 24% between the fourth and fifth quarter, an increase of 14% between the 
start and close of the reporting period and an increase of 40% between quarters 2 and 5. 

The low number of Employer’s Liability claims has yielded an average value of £16k for each claim received for the overall 
reporting period. There is no cause for concern in this area. 

Average reserves for Motor claims rose by 360% between the fourth and fifth quarter however this significant increase is 
explained in the narrative above for Values of Claims Reserves and is not typical of usual claim performance.

Trends in claims performance will continue to be monitored.  

5.3    Developments

 The Team are yet to review the internal All Risks Policy to align with other Council policies as reported in the last update. 
The plan is for this to be addressed in the 2d quarter of 2021/22 before being re-launched to service areas and schools. 

 Work has recently commenced in assisting the Transport Section at Hawthorne Road Depot in attaining information 
required to ensure that all relevant detail of the Council’s Fleet is recorded in a timely manner on the Motor Insurers 
Database (MID).  Compliance with this will ensure that all Fleet used by the Council, whether owned or hired, will be 
afforded appropriate insurance cover for the relevant period.  In addition, internal processes for dealing with the reporting 
of data, incidents and subsequent claims will be reviewed to become more streamlined and efficient. 

 The Council’s Property Insurers, Zurich, have recently commenced a further round of Risk Improvement Surveys as part 
of the current Long-Term Agreement. The surveys seek to identify major loss potentials and offer risk improvement advice 
to the Council for action to be taken to mitigate the risks identified. The reports are shared with the appropriate building 
managers and all action points are followed up in due course to ensure compliance and provide Zurich with assurance.

   
 The Team continue to work with service areas to improve the management of insurable risk in general and as a possible 

result of Covid-19 implications (especially where there are high numbers of claims) which in turn should assist in 
maintaining defensibility of any claims received.  Discussions are currently taking place with the Highways Team regarding 
changes required within their safety inspection systems and with Green Sefton for the development of their Tree 
Management Strategy and Winter Weather Policy. 

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 12



Page 28 of 35

 As the Council continues to change and commercialism develops, discussions will continue with the Insurance Broker to 
ensure that all new risks/liabilities to the Council are identified, and, where appropriate, relevant insurance cover is sourced 
and procured. Risks and liabilities for Sefton New Directions such as the recent request for provision of a Covid-19 
Emergency Response Service and some care homes being considered for Designated Settings have also been discussed 
with Insurers and assurance provided. 

P
age 184

A
genda Item

 12



Page 29 of 35

6. Risk and Resilience: Performance Update

6.1 Work Completed

The Risk and Resilience team facilitated the production of Business Continuity plans for the introduction and ongoing 
operation of the SMART testing sites in Southport, Bootle and Aintree. 

Monitoring and review of Business Continuity plans from each Service area continues to be delivered by the team. As part 
of the regular review, each plan is being revised to incorporate details of key IT systems used within the service, further 
identifying the timescales within which these systems need to be restored and the minimum number of staff requiring access. 
This is in recognition of the significant reliance we have on IT and the considerable changes we have experienced since the 
plans were initially produced.  We are at towards the end of this programme of activity with the aim of 2021/22 being further 
testing and exercising of the revised plans to build up experience and competence of management team to respond in a 
variety of incidents. 

The Business Continuity and Emergency Planning Cell as part of the Council’s Covid-19 response continues to meet each 
fortnight, chaired by a member of the Risk and Resilience team. The cell was established to provide effective oversight of 
Business Continuity activity ensuring that priority activities and outputs continued to be delivered. Weekly reports from each 
service area are completed and returned to the Cell Chair for presentation to the SCG.  These reports identify significant 
changes within the Service Areas as well as issues which require escalation to the SCG for consideration. 

In January the Risk and Resilience team co-ordinated and participated in the response to a potential major flood incident in 
Maghull as a result of Storm Christoph. To support the Emergency Duty Coordinator, a team of volunteers was mobilised to 
warn and inform residents in the affected area and a reception centre was opened to provide a place of safety to those who 
chose to leave their homes. With the support of multi-agency partners, a swift and appropriate response to the warning was 
activated. Once the flood alert level had decreased, affected residents were safely able to return to their homes in the early 
hours of the morning.  A debrief for the above incident was arranged by the team and consideration was given to “what went 
well” in the out of hours response as well as areas for improvement. The team have set up a working group, consisting of 
members of those service areas involved in responding to severe weather incidents so that learning and good practice can 
be shared, and the Council are proactively ready to respond to similar incidents in the future. 

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 12



Page 30 of 35

The team joined the group established at pace to introduce Surge Testing in the borough lowing the detection of the South 
African variant of Covid in the area. Using key information from each service area Business Continuity plan capacity issues 
were recognised, therefore identifying available resource to support testing in Southport.

The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed and is due to be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee for 
approval. Meetings with risk owners continue to be held virtually to ensure ongoing improvement to risk management 
arrangements across the Council.

Additional temporary resources are being recruited to provide capacity on Emergency Planning during the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

Developments

 Major incident plans and processes will continue to be reviewed and associated risk assessment of operational activities 
documented to ensure safe working for members of the team and colleagues, partners and stakeholders.

 The team are working to develop a proposal for the development of the Council’s Risk Appetite which will help to inform 
decisions from a number of perspectives.

 The team continue to facilitate review of Business Continuity plans for each service area which will, in turn, support an 
update of Sefton’s Corporate Business Continuity plan. 

 The team is currently reviewing the roles of the Crisis Response Team volunteers and loggists to ensure that there is on-
going awareness and training opportunities are made available.

P
age 186

A
genda Item

 12



Page 31 of 35

7.   Assurance and Counter Fraud: Performance Update

7.1 Work Completed

 In response to the Coronavirus, COVID-19, the Government has been providing support for many businesses in the form 
of business grants during 2020-21. Guidance provided by the Government in 2020 set out the role of Local Authorities in 
providing assurance to both themselves and to the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to 
minimise the risk of error and fraud. To deliver this requirement, and as part of an assurance plan, Internal Audit and the 
Assurance Manager have been supporting the service areas in the development of post-payment assurance checking 
regimes, which were informed by fraud risk assessments undertaken for each of the business grant schemes, detailing the 
likelihood of fraud and error. 

 The Government’s Grant Management Function and Counter Fraud Function made their digital assurance tool, Spotlight, 
available to Local Authorities to support the administration of COVID-19 emergency grants. Spotlight has a number of key 
features namely processing initial due diligence checks, using data from Companies House and the Charity Commission, 
government grant awards and contracts, to help build a picture of the grant recipient and used as part of the post payment 
assurance programme.   Spotlight is now being utilised by the Council during the period January – March 2021 to investigate 
all payments made over the last twelve months under the Small Business Grant Fund, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure 
Grants Fund and Local Authority Discretionary Fund Grants Fund.

 In November 2020, Sefton’s Council Tax and Electoral Register data was submitted to the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) as 
part of an official annual data matching exercise to check sole occupier discount entitlement where there is information to 
suggest there may be more than one person in the household. NFI matches are made available immediately after the upload 
of both datasets and any discrepancies investigated. 

 Business Support Grants and Business Rates datasets were mandated as part of The Cabinet Office’s 2020/21 National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) Work Programme data matching exercise in order to identify potential fraud. Sefton Council’s Grant 
recipient datasets for the Small Business Grant Fund, the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund and Local Authority 
Discretionary Fund Grants Fund data were submitted in January 2021. The results of the data matching will be released to 
the Council by NFI before 31 March 2021, and the Council will then follow up the data matches between 31 March 2021 
and 31 December 2021.  

P
age 187

A
genda Item

 12



Page 32 of 35

  Data matching is undertaken based on established NFI methodologies to identify potential fraud in relation to:

 multiple grants paid to businesses within or between LA’s;
 duplication between grant schemes where relevant; and 
 payments made to business or individuals flagged in proven fraud ‘watchlist’ data, where available.  

 All other mandatory dataset requirements for the 2020/21 NFI work programme have been successfully submitted by the 
Council to NFI as follows: -

 Council Tax Reduction Scheme
 Housing Waiting List
 Payroll
 Pensions
 Resident Parking Permits
 Taxi Driver Licences
 Trade Creditors

7.2 Developments 

 Regular COVID-19 intelligence bulletins are received from CIFAS, a not-for-profit fraud prevention membership 
organisation, which give an insight into the latest phishing techniques, cyber-enabled threats, internal risks and other fraud 
threats identified by the CIFAS Intelligence team. Their bulletins are designed to help protect, prevent, mitigate and 
anticipate the key fraud threats that could target the Council, our citizens, businesses and employees. These updates are 
available on the Sefton intranet: - 
http://intranet.smbc.loc/our-council/data-protection-information-handling/covid-intelligence-bulletins.aspx

 The Assurance Team continues to provide support the Economic & Regeneration service (Invest Sefton) in the delivery of 
the latest round of Discretionary Business Grants, including rounds 1, 2 and 3 of the Liverpool City Region Grants. 

 As part of the Counter Fraud strategy, Heads of Service nominated Fraud Risk Owners for their individual service areas. 
The Fraud Risk Owners have been completing fraud risk assessments for current and any new activities and submitting to 
the Assurance Manager for review. The risk assessment process documents roles and responsibilities for managing the 
fraud risks within the organisation.  

P
age 188

A
genda Item

 12

http://intranet.smbc.loc/our-council/data-protection-information-handling/covid-intelligence-bulletins.aspx


Page 33 of 35

 A Counter Fraud Profession pilot is being undertaken in the North West, which will deliver Apprenticeship Levy Funded 
Counter Fraud Training. The training is due to commence in the Spring of 2021 and Sefton has nominated a member of the 
Internal Audit team to take part. Sefton’s Learning and Development team have been assisting in the process. 

 The Council’s Counter Fraud Strategy is in development and consultation with the Strategic Leadership Board will take 
place once the Fraud Risk Assessments have been reviewed. 

 In December 2020 instructions were issued to the Council’s solicitors to handle two insurance claims involving suspected 
fraudulent collusion over tripping incidents in the Borough.  

 On another matter relating to insurance fraud, also in December 2020, the Council’s solicitors brought to a successful 
conclusion a motor insurance claim where fundamental dishonestly was found. Over £4k of legal costs incurred in pursuing 
the matter are now being reclaimed from the claimant. 

 Irregularities referred to Internal Audit in January 2021 on a social care matter have resulted in further investigations being 
undertaken into potentially fraudulent activity by the same client in another Council area.

 The Council continues to cooperate with other local authorities in sharing relevant intelligence about frauds and scams. One 
such joint investigation is currently underway relating to misrepresentation in relation to Business Grant applications in both 
Sefton and the other billing authority.

 For Business Grant Fraud the Government provided debt recovery guidance to Local Authorities in September 2020. There 
are three types of ineligible payments; error, non- compliance and fraud. If reclaiming funds is not possible the debts are to 
be referred to the BEIS to establish the next steps and ultimately determine whether the Local Authority will be held 
accountable for the debt. All identified fraud regardless whether it is local, cross boundary or organised will be referred to 
Action Fraud via the website www.actionfraud.police.uk

 Assurance on all the various national and local business grant schemes being administered by the Council, including Fraud 
Risk Assessments, Post Payment Assurance Plans, NFI Data Matching exercises, and the Grants Debt Recovery 
programme will continue to be provided by the Assurance Manager, linking in to the formal audit work programme.  

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 12

http://www.actionfraud.police.uk/


Page 34 of 35

8. Looking Ahead

8.1 The Service continues to develop, with a number of key projects being undertaken to embed the role and influence of the 
team over the next quarter:

 The embedding of regular risk management review across the Council to ensure that Operational and Service Risk 
Registers are updated on a regular basis.  

 Define a draft risk management statement on appetite to be shared with Strategic Leadership Board. 

 Continued delivery of the Internal Audit Plans for 2020/21, focusing attention on reviewing the key risks to the 
organisation, which will evolve as the Council changes particularly in light of Covid-19.

 Building up Business Continuity Plans at Service level and the starting of limited testing of existing business continuity 
plans. 

 Delivery of the final Health and Safety Risk Assessment Training sessions for Managers and designing a health and 
safety training needs assessment.

 Developing the Council’s Counter Fraud approach firstly through rolling out the actions from the CIPFA Fraud Risk 
Assessment. 

 Delivering on the service improvement plans for the Risk and Audit Team.

  

P
age 190

A
genda Item

 12



Page 35 of 35

9. Conclusions 

9.1 Internal Audit has made promising progress in the completion of the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21. Performance in respect of 
the agreement of recommendations and the feedback from clients has been particularly positive and reflects the value 
added by the Service. 

9.2 The Council’s accident record continues to be positive and there are plans to improve the risk management further by 
working with colleagues across the organisation.

9.3 The Health and Safety team has been responding to the significant impact of Covid-19 helping to ensure that management 
put appropriate risk assessments are in place and provide guidance and support to colleagues as well as supporting the 
SMART and Surge Testing. There is ongoing work on the School Inspection regime as well as assisting the development 
of post Covid Agile working.  

9.4 The Council’s insurance claims performance remains good.

9.5 Further work is planned to improve risk management within the Council by ensuring that a risk appetite is developed and 
ensuring that there is an effective review of risk registers in place. The revised scoring methodology approved by the 
Committee in December is being rolled out across the Risk Management Framework.

9.6 Progress has been made in embedding business continuity with a clear road map for the completion of the outstanding 
business continuity plans over the remainder of the financial year before looking at testing and exercising further.  

9.7 There are clear implementation plans in place across each of the service areas to deliver improvements which will result in 
improved services as well as an integrated risk and audit approach.

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2021/22

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No  

Summary:

This report presents the revised Internal Audit Charter and the proposed Internal Audit
Plan 2021/22 for approval by Members.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to:
(i) Approve the Internal Audit Charter
(ii) Approve the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Approval of the recommendations will facilitate the continued provision of a 
comprehensive, efficient and effective Internal Audit Service which meets professional
Standards.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs - There are no direct financial implications arising from this
report. However, the Council benefits from the work of the section in reducing the impact
and likelihood (and so the cost) of risk.

(B) Capital Costs - There are no capital costs arising from this report.

Page 193

Agenda Item 13



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no specific resource implications arising from this report other than the report
stating how many days will be spent on internal audit during 2021/22 and the 
recruitment of temporary staff contained within the Finance staffing budget.

Legal Implications:

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (SI 2015/234).

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: The Council’s Risk and Audit Service
is a key enabler to the delivery of the Council’s Core Purpose as set out below

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive

Drivers of change and reform: Positive

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Positive

Greater income for social investment: Positive

Cleaner Greener: Positive

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6330/21.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4431/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None.

Page 194

Agenda Item 13



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 943 4053
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2021/22

Background Papers:

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

1. Introduction/Background

1.1  From 1 April 2013, new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred
to as “the Standards”) came into effect. These were jointly developed by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Chartered
Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA).

1.2 The Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local
Government (2006) as the mandatory guidance, and provide a coherent and
consistent internal audit standards framework for the whole of the public sector.

1.3 Two of the key requirements of the Standards are:
 “The purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be

formally defined in an internal audit charter, consistent with the Definition of
Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Standards. The chief audit
executive must periodically review the internal audit charter and present it to
senior management and the board for approval.” (Standard 1000)

 “The chief audit executive must establish a risk-based plan to determine the
priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation‘s goals”.
(Standard 2010)

1.4 This report sets out the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22,
in order to comply with these Standards and demonstrate the role, purpose and
focus of Internal Audit during the forthcoming year.

1.5 There are no material changes to the Audit Charter this year although there has 
been a change in the job title where the role denotes the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services from the Head of Corporate 
Resources. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 13



2.  Recommendation

2.1 Members are requested to approve the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit
Plan 2020/21.

Page 196

Agenda Item 13



Audit and Governance Committee
17 March 2021 David Eden

Chief Internal Auditor
Risk and Audit Service
Corporate Resources
Magdalen House
30 Trinity Road 
Bootle
L20 3NJ

Risk and Audit Service: 
Internal Audit Charter and Plan 2021/22

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 13



Page 2 of 27

Contents

1. Executive Summary Page 3

2. Introduction Page 4

3. Internal Audit Charter Page 5

4. Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 Pages 6 - 7

5. Conclusions Page 10

6. Appendix A: Internal Audit Charter Pages 11 - 21

7. Appendix B: Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 Pages 22- 27

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 13



Page 3 of 27

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides the Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 for approval.  

1.2 These documents are key requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the Standards”), 
and so are vital in demonstrating the Internal Audit service’s compliance with these Standards.

1.3 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose and authority of Internal Audit.

1.4 The Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 demonstrates how internal audit resources will be used during the forthcoming financial year so 
as to provide assurance on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control system.

1.5 Particular attention has been paid to ensuring that the Internal Audit Plan is reflective of the changing risk landscape of the Council, 
and that it provides tangible added value to the Council in maintaining an effective system of internal control and management of 
risk. The plan has an emphasis on the role Internal Audit can play at a strategic level. This has been achieved through consultation 
with relevant stakeholders, and through incorporation of the principles of industry best practice.

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 13



Page 4 of 27

2. Introduction

2.1 From 1 April 2013, new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (hereafter referred to as “the Standards”) came into effect. These 
were jointly developed by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors (CIIA). 

2.2 The Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government (2006) as the mandatory guidance 
and provide a coherent and consistent internal audit standards framework for the whole of the public sector. The Standards have 
been updated a number of times, most recently with effect from 1 April 2017.

2.3 Internal Audit is defined by the Standards as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value 
and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”.

2.4 In executing its duties and complying with the Standards, Internal Audit must establish two key documents, and these must be 
presented to this Committee for approval on an annual basis:

 Internal Audit Charter
 “The purpose, authority, and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be formally defined in an internal audit charter, 
consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, and the Standards. The chief audit executive must periodically 
review the internal audit charter and present it to senior management and the board for approval.” (Standard 1000)

 Internal Audit Plan 
“The chief audit executive must establish a risk-based plan to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with 
the organisation ‘s goals”. (Standard 2010)

2.5 This report presents both documents for approval and outlines the purpose of the documents and the process underpinning their 
compilation.

P
age 200

A
genda Item

 13



Page 5 of 27

3. Internal Audit Charter

3.1 In compliance with the Standards, Internal Audit is required to establish a Charter which sets out its role, purpose and authority.

3.2 This provides clarity and legitimacy to the role of Internal Audit in the organisation, and assists the function is operating in line 
within an agreed framework.

3.3 The document acts as a guide for Internal Auditors in their daily work, but also assists officers and members of the Council in 
understanding what internal audit is and how it operates.

3.4 The Charter has been prepared to meet the Standards and incorporates all relevant requirements.

3.5 The Charter is shown at Appendix A.  This is reviewed and presented to this Committee on an annual basis.P
age 201

A
genda Item

 13



Page 6 of 27

4. Internal Audit Plan 2021/22

Plan Compilation and Principles

4.1 The Standards state that the “Chief Audit Executive” must “establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal 
audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals”. They refer to the need for the plan to reflect the assurance framework, risk 
management arrangements and input from management and “the board”. 

4.2 In meeting this Standard, an extensive consultation exercise has been undertaken to identify potential areas for audit, comprising: 

 Review of the Corporate Risk Register 
 Review of Service Risk Registers
 Review of Committee reports and decisions
 Cumulative audit knowledge and experience
 Findings and outcomes from previous audit work 
 Engagement with Heads of Service 
 Evaluation of the risks highlighted by the Internal Audit Plan 2020/21.

4.3 A risk assessment exercise took place to form an overall view on the level of organisational risk each area poses.  This was then 
used to inform a draft Internal Audit Plan, which was shared with the Chief Executive, external audit and senior managers prior to 
being presented to this meeting for approval. 

Organisational Context

4.4 The organisational context for the Internal Audit Plan remains one of significant and fast-paced change in part due to 
transformational change and due to Covid-19 which is discussed later.  Transformation in the design and delivery of services has 
continued over the past 12 months and is planned to continue.   

4.5 In this context, the Internal Audit Plan must continue to be flexible to be able to adapt to and reflect the changing risk landscape 
of the organisation.  Any material changes made to the plan during the year will be notified to this Committee. 

P
age 202

A
genda Item

 13



Page 7 of 27

Composition

4.6 The Internal Audit Plan has been based upon 791 available audit days.  This is following the deduction of annual leave and other 
non-audit time.

4.7 The approach to the plan has changed this year in light of the impact of Covid-19 has had on both the design of the plan and the 
implementation of the Audit Plan during 2020/21. As previous reports to members have highlighted Covid-19 has generated new 
risks for the organisation to address, which has created pressures on the operational team to deliver to residents whilst ensuring 
that the operations remain in alignment with the latest Government requirements. Audits have as a result taken a little longer to 
undertake as staff are balancing business as usual against the response to Covid-19. In addition, the requirements around 
Covid-19 have been fluid which has added a degree of complexity for the organisation to respond to leading in some as well as 
in some cases Audit having to undertake a more hands on role in audits which in a normal environment would not be required.

4.8 The Audit Plan for 20/21 was built on a number of resourcing assumptions which Covid-19 and other events have unfortunately 
detrimentally impacted on them:

 Appointment of ICT Trainee Auditor appointed during April 2021 during pandemic which meant that more normal induction 
and joint working was made challenging and time consuming. The staff member is on planned absence from February 
2020 until late in the 2021/22 financial year.

 Two staff members were involved in the Localities review for longer than originally envisaged.
 The unplanned absence of an Auditor from October 2020.

4.9 The general approach for this forthcoming financial year is to assume for the audit plan that Covid-19 will still have a significant 
impact on the organisation’s activities for at least the first six months. During this initial time a focus will be in place on a smaller 
number of activities to enable recruitment to take place for additional temporary staff and to allow the team to focus on some of 
the existing emerging risks surrounding for example the Central Government Covid-19 grants. This will also provide some 
flexibility should any unplanned activity be required. 

4.10 For the forthcoming financial year the audit plan reflects that the majority of the resource gaps are filled, and we have used 
prudent dates for the return of two colleagues.  We intend to use colleagues from the Assurance Team to undertake some 
fieldwork under close supervision for areas where they are familiar with the area for example Council Tax as well as recruit two 
new temporary staff members.

4.11 The Audit Team will be focused solely on Assurance activities for the forthcoming year and the proposed plan does not include 
any time to provide support for the roll out of wider initiatives in the Risk and Audit Service.   The intention is that with the 

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 13



Page 8 of 27

proposed Annual Audit plan alongside the updated Assurance Plan should be able to provide sufficient coverage of assurance 
through the year to provide an unqualified Annual Audit Opinion.

4.12 In summary due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic there will be a focus on a smaller number of high-risk activities in the first six 
months before reverting to a broader assurance plan as it is hoped that the impact from the pandemic subsides. Although there 
is a clearly defined pathway to the ending of the restrictions there may be some unexpected events left in the pandemic which 
may mean the plan will need to be altered. Members will be kept informed of any proposed changes. 

Reporting and Performance

4.11 Progress against the Plan and key details of the outcomes of audit work will continue to be presented to every meeting of this 
Committee.

4.12 The suite of performance indicators will continue to be used to measure the delivery of the Internal Audit Plan and the effectiveness 
of the work undertaken.  These will continue to be reported to each meeting of this Committee. 

P
age 204

A
genda Item

 13



Page 9 of 27

 The performance indicators and associated targets for 2021/22 are:

Description and Purpose Target
Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 completed
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit Plan agreed by this Committee is being delivered.  The delivery 
of the Plan is vital in ensuring that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided across the Council’s systems.

100%

Percentage of Client Survey responses indicating a “very good” or “good” opinion
This measures the feedback received on the service provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal Auditors 
conduct their duties in a professional manner.

100%

Percentage of recommendations made in the period which have been agreed to by management
This measures the extent to which managers feel that the recommendations made are appropriate and valuable in 
strengthening the control environment.

100%

Percentage of audit recommendations implemented at the original target date
This measures the extent the effectiveness and timeliness to which management implements audit recommendations. 
Provides assurance that control weaknesses are addressed promptly.

65%

4.13 The Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 is shown at Appendix B.
 

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 13



Page 10 of 27

5. Conclusions 

5.1 The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, purpose and authority of the Internal Audit section, and assists Internal Audit in 
complying with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

5.2 The Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 has been prepared on a risk basis, following consideration of a number of sources and consultation 
with key stakeholders.

5.3 The Internal Audit Plan acknowledges the organisational context, particularly in relation to the impact of Covid-19, and aligns 
resources with the most pertinent risks facing the Council during this time of significant and fast-paced change. There is a small 
temporary reduction in coverage for the first half of 2021/22, whilst recruitment is undertaken, however there will be sufficient 
coverage and depth in the audit plan to provide a good level of assurance for the Annual Audit Opinion by the end of the 
financial year.P

age 206

A
genda Item

 13



Page 11 of 27

Appendix A

Internal Audit Charter

March 2021

Page 207

Agenda Item 13

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/sefton-home.aspx


Page 12 of 27

1. Introduction
1.1 The requirement for local authorities to have an Internal Audit function is determined by Section 

151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities ‘make arrangements for 
the proper administration of their financial affairs’.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (SI 
2015/234), regulation 6, more specifically require that a ‘relevant authority must undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal audit standards or guidance.”  

2. Purpose of this Charter
2.1 The purpose of the Internal Audit Charter is to define internal audit’s purpose, authority and 

responsibility.  It establishes internal audit’s position within Sefton Council and defines the scope 
of internal audit activities. 

2.2 This Charter also covers the arrangements for the appointment of the Head of Internal Audit and 
internal audit staff, and identifies the nature of professionalism, skills and experience required.

2.3 This Charter will be appropriately updated following any changes to the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (“the Standards”) or internal audit’s operating environment and, as a minimum, 
will be reviewed by the Chief Internal Auditor and presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on an annual basis.

3. Definitions
3.1 The Standards define Internal auditing is as “an independent, objective assurance and consulting 

activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”.

3.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (“the Standards”) require that the Internal Audit 
Charter defines the terms ‘board’ and ‘senior management’ in relation to the work of internal audit.  
For the purposes of internal audit work, the ‘board’ refers to the Sefton Council Audit and 
Governance Committee, which assumes responsibility for overseeing the work of internal audit.  
Sefton Council’s senior management team is the Senior Leadership Board members.

3.3 Sefton Council’s Chief Internal Auditor fulfils the Chief Audit Executive (CAE) role as defined by 
the Standards.

4. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards
4.1 The internal audit function is required to comply with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

(PSIAS).  The Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setters, which includes the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), adopted the PSIAS from 1 April 2013.  These 
Standards replaced the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the 
United Kingdom 2006 (“The Code”). The PSIAS encompass the mandatory elements of the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) International Professional Practices Framework 
(IPPF). 

Page 208

Agenda Item 13



Page 13 of 27

4.2 Compliance with the Standards is mandatory and must be subject to both internal and external 
assessment.  The Chief Internal Auditor must undertake a self-assessment on a regular basis.  
An external assessment must also be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, 
independent assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation.  The results of these 
assessments will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

5.  Mission of Internal Audit
5.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards define the mission of Internal Audit as:

“To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective assurance, 
advice and insight.”

5.2 The mission of Sefton Council’s Risk and Audit Service is:
“To deliver a first-class risk and audit service that is highly respected and valued by Sefton and 
is the envy of our peers.”

6. Responsibilities
6.1 Internal audit is responsible for establishing procedures and applying the required resources to 

ensure that the service conforms to the Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards.  All 
members of the Internal Audit team must also demonstrate conformance with the Code of Ethics, 
which is attached at Annexe 1 and the Core Principles:

 Demonstrates integrity
 Demonstrates competence and due professional care
 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent)
 Aligns with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the organisation
 Is appropriately positioned and adequately resourced
 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement
 Communicates effectively
 Provides risk-based assurance
 Is insightful, proactive, and future-focused
 Promotes organisational improvement

6.2 The Chief Internal Auditor must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and annual report that are 
used to inform Sefton Council’s Annual Governance Statement.  The annual internal audit opinion 
must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control.  This is the ‘assurance role’ of internal audit. 

6.3 Internal Audit may also provide an independent and objective consultancy service, which is 
advisory in nature and is generally performed at the specific request of senior management.  The 
aim of the consultancy service is to assist line management to improve the Council’s risk 
management, governance and internal control arrangements.

6.4 Sefton Council’s Chief Executive has overall responsibility for the establishment of a sound 
system of internal control, and through the Annual Governance Statement, is required to 
demonstrate that this is in place and that actions are being taken to address any identified 
governance issues.

Page 209

Agenda Item 13



Page 14 of 27

6.5 Sefton Council’s Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services acts as the 
Responsible Financial Officer as defined by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which 
requires every authority in England and Wales to "... make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their Officers has responsibility 
for the administration of those affairs".  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 emphasise the 
need for effective financial management and sound systems of internal control. They require that 
the Council should maintain an adequate and effective system of internal audit for their accounting 
records and control systems. It is a function of the Chief Financial Officer to direct Internal Audit 
and ensure that it is adequate for the Authority's purposes.

6.6 The Council’s Chief Legal and Democratic Officer is the designated Monitoring Officer.  This is a 
statutory appointment under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 as 
amended by paragraph 24 of schedule 5 Local Government Act 2000. The role involves 
ensuring the Council’s compliance with any General Guidance issued, from time to time, by the 
Standards Committee and the Monitoring Officer; making lawful and proportionate decisions; 
complying with the Council's Constitution and standing orders.

6.7 Sefton Council will ensure it has taken all necessary steps to provide internal audit with 
information on its objectives, risks, and controls to allow the proper execution of the audit strategy 
and adherence to internal audit standards.  This will include notifying internal audit of any 
significant changes in key control systems which may affect the internal audit plan.

6.8 Management has a responsibility to respond promptly to audit plans, reports and 
recommendations.

6.9 Responsibility for monitoring and ensuring the implementation of agreed recommendations rests 
with management and is monitored by Internal Audit and reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

6.10 Where Sefton has joint ventures, shared services or where services are outsourced the Chief 
Internal Auditor will be responsible for providing risk-based assurance on the activities which 
would be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

7. Independence of Internal Audit
7.1 Internal Audit must be independent and internal auditors must be objective in performing their 

work.  The Chief Internal Auditor must confirm the organisational independence of Internal Audit 
at least annually.  Internal Audit has no operational responsibilities.

7.2 Any operational (non-audit) activities undertaken by the Chief Internal Auditor or a member of the 
Internal Audit team will be recorded, and any conflict of interest declared, so as to ensure that the 
independence of audit work is not seen to be compromised.

7.3 The Chief Internal Auditor is also responsible for the operational management of the Insurance, 
Risk and Health and Safety functions, and there are safeguards in place to avoid any potential 
conflict of interest or impairment to objectivity.  This involves that in the event that is identified that 
an audit is required for these areas of work the audit work would be undertaken by an external 
auditor to ensure that there is no conflict of interest or impairment of objectivity in accordance with 
guidance from the Institute of Internal Auditors.  Terms of reference for such audits are approved 
by the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services, as is the resulting 
report, so as to provide transparency.

Page 210

Agenda Item 13



Page 15 of 27

8. The Chief Internal Auditor
8.1 The Chief Internal Auditor is appointed by Sefton Council and must have sufficient skill, 

experience and competencies to work with senior management and the Audit and Governance 
Committee to influence and inform the risk management, governance and internal control 
arrangements of Sefton Council. 

8.2 The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for ensuring that the members of the Internal Audit team 
possess the appropriate knowledge, skills, qualifications and experience to deliver the audit plan 
and meet the requirements of the Standards.  The Chief Internal Auditor will hold a full, 
professional qualification, defined as CCAB, CMIIA or equivalent, and will adhere to professional 
values and the Code of Ethics.

8.3 The Chief Internal Auditor reports to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services through the Head of Finance.  The Chief Internal Auditor, or an appropriate 
representative of the internal audit team, attends meetings of the Audit and Governance 
Committee unless, exceptionally, the Committee decides that they should be excluded from either 
the whole meeting or for particular agenda items.  

8.4 The Chief Internal Auditor shall have an independent right of access to the Chair of the Audit 
Governance Committee, if required.  In exceptional circumstances, where normal reporting 
channels may be seen to impinge on the objectivity of the audit, the Chief Internal Auditor may 
report directly to the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee.

8.5 Internal Audit will co-operate with and assist External Audit.

9.  Scope of Internal Audit
9.1 The Chief Internal Auditor should develop and maintain a strategy for providing the Executive 

Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services with an objective evaluation of, and 
opinions on, the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management, governance and internal 
control arrangements.  Internal Audit’s activities should be undertaken effectively and efficiently. 
The annual Internal Audit Plan will be risk based, prepared in consultation with Heads of Service 
and Directors and be presented to the Audit and Governance Sub-Committee for approval.  The 
opinions of the Chief Internal Auditor are a key element of the framework of assurance needed to 
inform the completion of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS).

Opinion Work

9.2 The internal audit activity must evaluate and contribute to the improvement of governance, risk 
management and control processes using a systematic and disciplined approach.

Governance

9.3 Internal audit must assess and make appropriate recommendations for improving the governance 
process in its accomplishment of the following objectives:

 promoting appropriate ethics and values within Sefton Council; 

Page 211

Agenda Item 13



Page 16 of 27

 ensuring effective organisational performance management and accountability; 
 communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of Sefton Council; and 
 co-ordinating the activities of and communicating information to the Audit and Governance 

Committee, external and internal auditors and management.

Risk Management

9.4 Internal audit must evaluate the effectiveness of, and contribute to, the improvement of risk 
management processes by:

 assessing organisational objectives to support and align with Sefton Council’s corporate 
objectives; 

 ensuring significant risks are identified and assessed; and
 ensuring that audit recommendations are appropriate to address key risk areas identified.

Internal Control

9.5 Internal audit must assist the organisation in maintaining effective controls by evaluating their 
effectiveness and efficiency and by promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit activity 
must evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of controls in responding to risks within the 
organisation’s governance, operations and information systems regarding: 
 achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives; 
 reliability and integrity of financial and operational information;
 economical, effective and efficient use of resources;
 effectiveness and efficiency of operations and programmes; 
 safeguarding of Sefton Council’s assets and interests from losses of all kinds, including those 

arising from fraud, irregularity corruption or bribery; 
 compliance with laws, regulations, policies, procedures and contracts.

9.6 The Chief Internal Auditor must ensure appropriate internal audit arrangements are in place in 
respect of partnership or joint working arrangements, where relevant.

Non - Opinion Work

9.7 Internal Audit may provide, at the request of management, a consultancy service which evaluates 
the policies, procedures and operations put in place by management.  A specific provision will be 
made in the Internal Audit Plan to allow for such work.

9.8 The Chief Internal Auditor must consider the effect on the opinion work before accepting 
consultancy work or management requests over and above the contingency allowed for in the 
Internal Audit Plan.  Approval would be sought from the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services and the Audit and Governance Committee for any significant 
additional consulting services not already included in the Internal Audit Plan, prior to accepting 
the engagement.  The Chief Internal Auditor must consider if consultancy work contributes 
towards the overall opinion.  

Fraud

9.9 Managing the risk of fraud is the responsibility of line management.  Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services has specific responsibilities in relation to the 

Page 212

Agenda Item 13



Page 17 of 27

detection and investigation of fraud and may request internal audit to assist with the investigation 
of suspected fraud or corruption, in accordance with the Investigation Protocol. Internal audit 
should be notified of all suspected or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety, to inform their 
opinion on the control environment and their Audit Plan. 

 
Reporting

9.10 The Chief Internal Auditor will agree reporting arrangements with the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services which will include procedures for the:

 distribution and timing of draft audit reports;
 Manager’s responsibilities in respect of responding to draft audit reports;
 distribution of finalised audit reports;
 follow up by internal audit of agreed recommendations; and 
 escalation of recommendations where management responses are judged inadequate in 

relation to the identified risks.

9.11 The Chief Internal Auditor will present a formal report annually to the Chief Executive, Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services and the Audit and Governance 
Committee giving an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of Sefton Council’s 
framework of governance, risk management, and internal control.  This report will conform to the 
PSIAS and will provide a summary of the work to support the opinion.  It will be timed to support 
the production of the Annual Governance Statement.  Reports of progress against the planned 
work will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on a quarterly basis during the 
year.

 
Internal Audit Access Rights

9.12 Where necessary in the conduct of their work, internal auditors are entitled to require and receive:

 access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or other 
relevant transactions, including documents of a confidential nature;

 access at all reasonable times to any land, premises and officer of Sefton Council;
 the production of any cash, stores or other property of Sefton Council under an officer’s 

control; and
 explanations concerning any matter under investigation.

Internal Audit Resources

9.13 If the Chief Internal Auditor or the Audit and Governance Committee consider that the level of 
audit resources or the terms of reference in any way limit the scope of internal audit, or prejudice 
the ability of internal audit to deliver a service consistent with the Definition of Internal Auditing 
and the Standards, they should advise the Chief Executive and the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services accordingly.

Page 213

Agenda Item 13



Page 18 of 27

Annexe 1 - Internal Audit Code of Ethics
Requirements

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, internal auditors in UK public sector 
organisations must conform to a Code of Ethics. 

If individual internal auditors have membership of a professional body, then he or she must also comply 
with the relevant requirements of that organisation.

The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to promote an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. 
A Code of Ethics is necessary and appropriate for the profession of internal auditing, founded as it is on 
the trust placed in its objective assurance about risk management, control and governance.

The Code of Ethics includes two essential components:

1. Principles that are relevant to the profession and practice of internal auditing; 

and

2. Rules of Conduct that describe behaviour norms expected of internal auditors. 

These rules are an aid to interpreting the Principles into practical applications and are intended to guide 
the ethical conduct of internal auditors.

The Code of Ethics provides guidance to internal auditors serving others.
The term ‘Internal auditors’ refers to members of recognised Professional Bodies (e.g. CIPFA, IIA) and 
those who provide internal auditing services within the definition of internal auditing.

Applicability and Enforcement

This Code of Ethics applies to both individuals and entities that provide internal auditing services. 
Disciplinary procedures of professional bodies and employing organisations may apply to breaches of 
this Code of Ethics.

Integrity

Principle: 
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance on their 
judgement.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility.
 Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the profession.
 Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity or engage in acts that are discreditable to the 

profession of internal auditing or to the organisation.
 Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation.

Page 214

Agenda Item 13



Page 19 of 27

Objectivity

Principle:
Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating and 
communicating information about the activity or process being examined.
Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are not unduly 
influenced by their own interests or by others in forming judgements.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to impair their 
unbiased assessment. This participation includes those activities or relationships that may be in 
conflict with the interests of the organisation.

 Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their professional judgement.
 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the reporting of 

activities under review.

Confidentiality

Principle:
Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not disclose 
information without appropriate authority unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties.
 Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be contrary to the law 

or detrimental to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation.

Competency

Principle:
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of internal 
auditing services.

Rules of Conduct:

Internal auditors:

 Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, skills and 
experience.

 Shall perform internal auditing services in accordance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

 Shall continually improve their proficiency and effectiveness and quality of their services.

Internal auditors who work in the public sector must also have regard to the Committee on Standards of 
Public Life’s Seven Principles of Public Life (the “Nolan Principles”):

Page 215

Agenda Item 13



Page 20 of 27

 Selflessness;
 Integrity;
 Objectivity;
 Accountability
 Openness;
 Honesty; and
 Leadership.

Further information on these principles can be found at:

www.public-standards.gov.uk

Page 216

Agenda Item 13

http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/


Page 21 of 27

Appendix B - Sefton Internal Audit Plan 2021/2022

Audit Title Context Corporate Risk Register 
(black)
Other reasons for 
inclusion (italics)

Apr-
Sept
Days

Oct-Mar
Days

Annual 
Governance 
Statement 
2020/21

High level governance 
review

Statutory requirement 25

Covid-19 Grants Including Payments to 
Care Homes; Self 
Isolation Payments

Public interest. Reputation 
for Sefton
Ability to effectively manage 
and support the response to 
a pandemic incident 

80

Surge Testing 
Review

Lessons learned; Ability to effectively manage 
and support the response to 
a pandemic incident

15

Procurement Cross cutting review of 
service areas’ 
compliance with 
corporate rules. 

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

20

Council tax Review of key financial 
system

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

20

Family Welfare 
Centres

Assurance delivery of 
objectives and VFM.

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

15

Debt Management Audit and Assurance 
team to provide support 
to a multi-team review

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

20

Page 217

Agenda Item 13



Page 22 of 27

Audit Title Context Corporate Risk Register 
(black)
Other reasons for 
inclusion (italics)

Apr-
Sept
Days

Oct-Mar
Days

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

Localities Multi-team holistic review 
of Sefton Security

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

25

Payroll Part of project team and 
post implementation 
assurance

implementation of major 
corporate system with risks 
around  management of staff   
Financial probity, timely and 
accurate payment of salaries 
ICT security and  Data 
Protection 

15

Specialist 
Transport Project 
Support

Support to Finance Team 
on alternative options

Dedicated Schools Grant 
High Needs Funding for 
Special Educational Needs is 
inadequate to meet 
requirements.

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable
• Commission, broker and 
provide core services

5

Specialist 
Transport

Post review Assurance Dedicated Schools Grant 
High Needs Funding for 
Special Educational Needs is 
inadequate to meet 
requirements.

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable
• Commission, broker and 
provide core services

15

SEND Policy review; Aiming 
High; Spend Analysis; 
Direct Payments 

Dedicated Schools Grant 
High Needs Funding for 
Special Educational Needs is 

20

Page 218

Agenda Item 13



Page 23 of 27

Audit Title Context Corporate Risk Register 
(black)
Other reasons for 
inclusion (italics)

Apr-
Sept
Days

Oct-Mar
Days

oversight and 
reconciliations

inadequate to meet 
requirements.

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable
• Commission, broker and 
provide core services

Mayor’s Charity 
Fund

Review of accounts Reduce costs to Charity of 
external audit.

5

Disabled Facilities 
Grant

Grant Certification Requirement to receive grant 
funding

4

Troubled Families 
Grants

Grant Certifications Requirement to receive grant 
funding

5 5

School Audits Finance and governance 
reviews

Government expectation that 
schools will be audited.

15 10

Public Sector 
Internal Audit 
Standards 
(PSIAS)

Improvements to planned 
service

Requirement of PSIAS of 
ongoing review and 
improvements

10 10

IDEA 
Implementation

Audit Improvements Recommendation 
implementation from external 
review.

15 10

Follow-up 
Recommendations

Follow up of agreed audit 
recommendations

PSIAS requirement 5 5

Counter Fraud 
Development

Development of counter 
fraud capability.

Audit Improvements – 
develop capability and 
capacity

19 19

Various Quarterly 
LCR Grants

Grant certifications Requirement to receive grant 
funding

10 14

AGS 2021/22 Annual requirement Statutory requirement 25

CSC Demand 
Management

To include placement 
sufficiency for Looked 
After Children and Foster 
Carers’ recruitment

Failure to manage increasing 
demand for services within 
Children's Social Care

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable

20

Page 219

Agenda Item 13



Page 24 of 27

Audit Title Context Corporate Risk Register 
(black)
Other reasons for 
inclusion (italics)

Apr-
Sept
Days

Oct-Mar
Days

Independent 
Residential 
Placements

Commissioning, 
sourcing, monitoring and 
reviewing of residential 
placements.

Failure to plan within annual 
budget for increased 
placement costs for 
Children's Social Care

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable
• Commission, broker and 
provide core services

20

Performance 
Management

Review performance 
framework and reporting 
including C/Tax/ Bus 
Rates/ Children Service/ 
Highways 

Statutory area in PSIAS to 
review.

20

Highways 
Maintenance 
Procurement

Review of the plan to 
procure the Highways 
Maintenance Contract

Failure to adequately invest 
in the Highway network and 
associated assets.

Core Purpose
• Facilitate sustainable 
economic prosperity

15

Highways Review system of 
highways maintenance

Failure to adequately invest 
in the Highway network and 
associated assets.

Core Purpose
• Facilitate sustainable 
economic prosperity

10

Planning Review of proposed 
planning controls to 
address new legislation.

Significant impact on Service 
Delivery for Planning and 
Sefton LA

10

Regeneration 
Programme 
(Southport)

Governance 
arrangements.

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

15

Well Young 
Persons Team

Can service be delivered 
differently; shortfall in 

Impact of regulatory 
framework and outcome of 

15

Page 220

Agenda Item 13



Page 25 of 27

Audit Title Context Corporate Risk Register 
(black)
Other reasons for 
inclusion (italics)

Apr-
Sept
Days

Oct-Mar
Days

income vs costs; 
integration of its mental 
health offer 

Joint Target Area Inspection

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable

Business Rates Review of key financial 
system

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

15

Data Protection Compliance with 
legislation; staff training

Data breach resulting in the 
wrongful release of personal 
and/or sensitive information

Core Purpose
• Place-leadership and 
influence

20

Education 
Excellence – 
Financial 
Management

Users’ understanding of 
financial 
statements/information; 
training of users.  
Consideration of all costs 
of placements

Dedicated Schools Grant 
High Needs Funding for 
Special Educational Needs is 
inadequate to meet 
requirements.

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable
• Commission, broker and 
provide core services

15

Risk Management External Review of 
SMBC arrangements

PSIAS requirement 15

ICT – Patching Processes and 
procedures to ensure 
software patches are 
installed

The Council is the victim of a 
cyber-attack.

Core Purpose
• Protect the most vulnerable
• Commission, broker and 
provide core services

15

Ethics Review element of ethics 
framework in Sefton.

PSIAS requirement 15

Sandway Homes Scope to be agreed   Key Governance Area 10

Page 221

Agenda Item 13



Page 26 of 27

Audit Title Context Corporate Risk Register 
(black)
Other reasons for 
inclusion (italics)

Apr-
Sept
Days

Oct-Mar
Days

Partnerships Review arrangements Key Governance Area 15

Property 
Disposals (F4C 
follow-up)

Follow-up audit 2020/21 
and review 2021/22 
disposals.

Financial sustainability post 
2020.

Core Purpose
This risk is directly related to 
the delivery of all aspects of 
the Council’s core purpose

10

Agresso Invoice 
Approval

System review Counter fraud activity 
following events in 
neighbouring LA

10

Transport Capital 
Block Funding

Grant Certification Requirement to receive grant 
funding

4

Local Highways 
Maintenance 
Incentive Element 
Fund

Assurance to S151 Requirement to receive grant 
funding

1

Contingency Good practice to have plan flex for emerging risks 30 30

Total Days 383 408

Page 222

Agenda Item 13



Page 27 of 27Page 223

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Proposed changes to the constitution in relation to Planning 
Committee

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member Planning and Building Control

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No  

Summary:   It is proposed to change the constitution in in relation to the exercise of the 
Council’s planning powers in two key areas.  

Changes are proposed to clarify what matters are delegated to Planning Committee to 
make sure that the more significant types of applications are reported to Committee and 
those which are more routine are not reported to Committee.  This will result in the more 
efficient management of Planning Services’ workload.

Minor changes are also proposed to when petitions are submitted and to the public 
speaking process.

Recommendations:

(1) that Council are asked to approve the proposed changes to matters which are 
delegated to Planning Committee and matters which will not be determined by Planning 
Committee as set out in Table 1 and reflected in the revised wording set out in Figure 1

(2) that Council are asked to approve the proposed changes to the public speaking  
process as set out in section 3 of the report. 

Reasons for the Recommendations:

It is considered that the proposed changes would clarify those applications which are 
reported to Planning Committee.  The minor changes proposed to public speaking at 
Committee would make the process more efficient, transparent and fair. 

Page 225

Agenda Item 14



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The first proposal is to clarify what already happens.  The only alternative is to retain the 
current wording which has been the source of some confusion.

The second proposal seeks minor improvements to the process of speaking at 
Committee and the only alternative is to stick with the current approach. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs    
It is not expected that the changes will result in any change to costs.

(B) Capital Costs
None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:  Not applicable 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:  The proposals give applicants an 
opportunity to explain any technical proposals at the discretion of the Chair of Planning 
Committee

Commission, broker and provide core services:   Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer:   Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform:   Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:   Not applicable

Greater income for social investment:   Not applicable

Cleaner Greener   Not applicable

Page 226

Agenda Item 14



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6339/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4440/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Steve Matthews
Telephone Number: Tel:   07870 379722 
Email Address: steve.matthews@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 227

Agenda Item 14



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 It is proposed to change the constitution in relation to the exercise of the Council’s 
planning powers in the following areas:
 matters which are delegated to Planning Committee and matters which will not be 

determined by Planning Committee
 minor amendments to the public speaking process.

2. Matters which are delegated to Planning Committee and matters which will 
not be determined by Planning Committee

2.1 The reason for proposing changes to what is delegated to Planning Committee is 
to make sure that the more significant types of applications are reported to Committee 
and those which are more routine, less contentious or where there is a tight statutory 
timescale for determination are not reported to Committee.  This will enable more 
efficient management of the Planning Services’ workload and promote timely decisions. 

2.2 The current wording has allowed some ambiguity in what should be delegated to 
Planning Committee and what will not be determined by Planning Committee. The term 
‘planning application’ is used in the constitution but this is capable of being defined in 
different ways.  The proposed changes list clearly those kinds of applications which 
would not be determined by Planning Committee but will be delegated to the Chief 
Planning Officer). These include those which are more minor in nature, for example 
Certificates of Lawfulness, approval or variation of conditions, and advertisement 
consent.  A full list is set out in Table 1 below. 

2.3 The proposed changes also make clear that applications which require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment (and which are therefore likely to be contentious) will 
be reported to Planning Committee.    

2.4 The proposed changes in Table 1 set out:
• the existing situation
• what is proposed, and 
• the reason for the change.

2.5  The implications of these changes for the wording of the constitution are set out in 
Figure 1 which immediately follows Table 1. 

Page 228

Agenda Item 14



TABLE 1

DELEGATION TO PLANNING COMMITTEE AND WHAT WILL NOT BE DETERMINED 
BY PLANNING COMMITTEE :   TABLE SHOWS WHAT EXISTS CURRENTLY, WHAT 
IS PROPOSED AND THE REASON FOR THE SUGGESTED CHANGE  
(Chapter 7, paragraphs 22 & 23)

Existing Proposed Reason
22(a) – currently 
members can call in 
application by 
written request

Amended to require receipt of call 
in within 21 days of neighbour 
notification letter. Must be done 
on agreed template.  Now 22(c)

Improved certainty to process 
for all parties including 
applicants.

22(b) – requires 5 
objections on major 
applications to go to 
committee 

Amended to refer to 
“representations” where this 
aligns with the officer 
recommendation. 

Addresses anomaly where 
officers can delegate refusal 
of a well-supported scheme.
Ensures consistency and 
fairness in decision making.

22(d) – where an 
application raises an 
issue of principle

Now reverts to 22(f) and 
rebranded to allow discretion to 
Chief Planning Officer where 
application requires more public 
debate.

Gives CPO more flexibility to 
bring applications that would 
benefit from wider debate.  

23 (b) – applications 
subject to written 
request or petition, 
and officer 
recommendation in 
line with request or 
petition

Now reverts to 23(a).  Greater certainty for officers.

23 (c) – applications 
for phone masts and 
use of Urgent 
Referrals

Now covered by 23 (g) which 
covers all ‘prior approval’ 
applications.

Prior approval is permission in 
principle and applications 
must be determined in a 
timely manner.

New New paragraph 22(a) for planning 
applications requiring 
Environmental Impact 
Assessment. 

Enables Members to make 
decisions on applications of 
wider environmental 
significance.

New New paragraph 23(b) confirming 
householder applications will go 
to Committee if objection 
received and subject to written 
request.

Ensures democratic process, 
but limits the need for random 
call-ins just for political 
benefit.

New Paragraphs 23 (d), (e), (f), (g), 
(h), (i) and (j) to clarify all other 
forms of application NOT to be 
determined by Planning 
Committee regardless of written 
request.

Committee can concentrate 
on more significant forms of 
development, improving 
performance of Service 
overall.

Page 229

Agenda Item 14



FIGURE 1   
HOW THE CONSTITUTION WOULD READ IF THE CHANGES ARE AGREED – 
CHAPTER 7, PARAGRAPHS 22 & 23

PLANNING COMMITTEE
22 Determination of applications comprising:
a) planning applications for EIA (Environmental Impact Assessment) development 
b) major planning applications1 which are the subject of five or more representations 

on planning grounds (Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990), 
except where the application is being recommended for determination by officers 
in line with those representations

c) planning applications which are subject of a formal written request2 from a Council 
Member or are the subject of a petition endorsed by a Council Member (except as 
set out in paragraph 23 below)

d) a material departure from the development plan
e) planning applications for their own private development made by serving 

Councillors or Senior Officers at Head of Service level or above or any member of 
staff of Planning Services

f) any application at the Chief Planning Officer’s discretion which is considered to 
require more formal public debate. 

23 The following applications will not be considered by the Planning 
Committee irrespective of any Member’s written request, unless otherwise 
stated:

a) Any planning application which is subject to a written request by a Council 
Member, or which is the subject of a petition endorsed by a Council member, but 
which is to be recommended for approval or refusal by the Chief Planning Officer 
in line either with the view of the Council Member who made the written request or 
the wish of the petitioner

b) Applications for householder development3, unless objection has been received 
from one or more adjoining neighbours and a written request has been received 
from a Council Member under paragraph 22(c) above

c) Applications for Certificates of Proposed or Existing Lawfulness
d) Applications for advertisement consent
e) Applications for ‘relevant demolition’ in a conservation area
f) Applications for Listed Building Consent and other heritage consents
g) Applications made under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 (as amended), or any subsequent order revoking or re-
enacting said Order

h) Applications for the removal, variation or approval of planning conditions subject 
to paragraph 22(f) above 

i) Applications for non-material amendments
j) Applications for works under TPO or for tree works in Conservation Areas.

1 ‘major planning applications’ for the purpose of the above comprise
a) 10 or more dwellings, or the site area is 0.5 hectares or more where the number of dwellings is not specified
b) new floor space (other than changes of use) of 1000 sq. metres or more, or the site area is 1 hectare or more where the 
floorspace involved is not specified

2  ‘formal written request’ comprises a template to be completed in full (including the reason for the request) and submitted to the 
Chief Planning officer within 21 days of the date on which neighbours are notified.

3    Householder developments are defined as those within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse which require an application for planning   
permission and are not a change of use. Included in householder developments are extensions, conservatories, loft conversions,  
dormer windows, alterations, garages, car ports or outbuildings, swimming pools, walls, fences, domestic vehicular accesses 
including footway crossovers, porches and satellite dishes. 

Page 230

Agenda Item 14



3. The public speaking process

3.1 Three minor amendments are sought to the public speaking process:

 to clarify that petitions should be submitted within the notification period of an 
application:  this is not specified at the moment and can cause problems with 
petitions being submitted even after the agenda has been published  

 to enable the applicant or agent to speak even if the petitioner fails to appear:  
currently an applicant/ agent can only speak in response to the petitioner; 
sometimes the petitioner fails to turn up and the applicant or agent can travel a 
long way prepared to speak on behalf of the application, and is deprived of this 
opportunity at the last minute

 to allow the applicant or agent to speak for up to 5 minutes at the discretion of the 
Chair of Planning Committee:  it may be helpful for Members to be able to hear 
the viewpoint of an applicant and to be able to ask questions (e.g. applications of 
a complex or technical nature), even if there is no objection to the scheme for the 
applicant to respond to.  

4. CONCLUSION

4.1 This report recommends two sets of proposed changes to the constitution in 
relation to the exercise of the Council’s planning powers.

4.2 The first set of changes aims to clarify what matters are delegated to Planning 
Committee and those matters which will not be determined by Planning Committee. The 
focus is on making sure that the more significant types of applications are reported to 
Committee and those which are more routine, less contentious or where there is a tight 
statutory timescale are determined by the Chief Planning Officer.  This will assist in 
offering an efficient planning service and in meeting statutory timescales for making 
decisions. 

4.3 The second set of changes are minor amendments to the public speaking process 
at Planning Committee. These would make clear the date by which any petition should 
be submitted, enable an applicant or agent to respond even if the petitioner fails to show 
up, and would enable the applicant / agent to speak at Committee at the Chair’s 
discretion.

 4.4 The proposed changes would bring greater clarity to what is determined by 
Planning Committee and to submitting a petition, and greater fairness and transparency 
to the process of speaking at Committee. 

Page 231

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Audit and 
Governance 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 17 
March 2021

Subject: Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts > £10,000

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No - but the appendices to the report are NOT FOR 
PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The Public Interest 
Test has been applied and favours the information being treated 
as exempt

Summary:

As outlined within the Council’s constitution, all outstanding debts over £10,000 cannot 
be written off without Member approval. 

This report requests the authorisation of the Audit & Governance Committee to write off 
the debts listed in Appendices 1 and 2 to this report.

Recommendation(s):

(1)  To approve the write off of all individual debts detailed in the appendices to this 
report.  The total amount for write off is £643,883.41.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The debts detailed in the Appendices have all been assessed on an individual basis as 
all means of recovery have been exhausted.  These debts are now considered to be 
irrecoverable and are recommended for write off. 

Approval will ensure uncollectable debt will be removed from the system

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not to write off the debt.

Page 233

Agenda Item 16



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The amounts proposed for write off are within the provisions set aside for doubtful debts 
and the Council will write off these debts against these provisions. 

(B) Capital Costs

Not Applicable

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None
Legal Implications:

None
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Not Applicable

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Place – leadership and influencer:

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Page 234

Agenda Item 16



The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6306/21) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4457/21.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not Applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Contact Officer: Mark Barry
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4361
Email Address: mark.barry@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 
 Appendix 1 - Business Rates accounts over £10,000.
 Appendix 2 - Sundry Debt accounts over £10,000.

Background Papers:

Write Off terms of reference that are attached to this report.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Council collected income of over £274.46m during 2019/20 which included:

 £154.9m in Council Tax,
 £70.8m in Business Rates,
 £48.1m Sundry Income, and
 £0.66m Housing Benefit overpayment.

For 2020/21, the forecast for collectable debits i.e. billed amounts is £270.6m.  As at 31 
January 2021 this comprises of: 

 £166.3m - Council Tax,
 £33.6m - Business Rates,
 £70m - Sundry Income, and 
 £0.7m – Housing Benefit Overpayment.

1.2 Whilst the Council seeks to limit the level of debt that is written off, every effort is 
also made to ensure that collection levels remain high.  The table below shows 
the percentage collection rate for Council Tax and Business Rates. As has been 

Page 235

Agenda Item 16



previously reported to various council committees, these collection rates compare 
favourably to all metropolitan local authorities nationally.

Council Tax Business Rates
Year Collection Rate Year Collection Rate
2011 97.10% 2011 97.80%
2012 97.30% 2012 98.00%
2013 96.20% 2013 97.80%
2014 96.30% 2014 98.40%
2015 96.20% 2015 99.30%
2016 96.30% 2016 99.30%
2017 96.30% 2017 98.70% 
2018 96.00% 2018 99.22%
2019 95.81% 2019 98.34%
2020 90.51% as at 

02/02/21
2020 84.45% as at 

02/02/21

1.3 All debts, taxes and rates are actively pursued and, in most instances, are 
collected with little difficulty.  As a result, debts are monitored to ensure they are 
collected in the most efficient and economical manner and are only considered 
for write off where all means of recovery have been exhausted.  This report will 
provide Members with details of those sums that are over £10,000 in value and 
need to be written off as a result of these processes having been completed.

2 Recovery Procedures Undertaken

2.1    For those sums where a payment is outstanding the following recovery actions are 
undertaken: -

 Bill / Invoice sent.
 Reminder sent.
 Final Notice sent.
 Summons sent.
 Liability Order granted at Magistrates Court for NNDR.
 Telephone debt chasing to make arrangements to pay.
 In appropriate cases home visits are made to make arrangements to pay.
 14 Day Warning Letter or Letter before action sent.  
 Cases referred to Enforcement Agents or Debt Collectors.
 Charging Orders and Land Charges are obtained against the property if 

appropriate.  However, the vast majority of businesses in Sefton are in leased 
properties.

 Statutory Demands issued for Bankruptcy proceedings.
 For cases that are at potential committal and Statutory Demand stage, a 

contracted- Enforcement Agent is undertaking further tracing and propensity to 
pay checks. Where a case is identified with a medium or high propensity to pay 
score then a final attempt at debt recovery will be made by the Enforcement 
Agent. 

2.2   If a person or business is having difficulty making the payment, special 
arrangements are used to effect recovery, and this may mean extending the 

Page 236

Agenda Item 16



period to collect the debt.  Only when all options have been explored would a debt 
be considered for write off.

2.3 There are a number of key reasons why a debt is put forward for write off.  These 
include:

 The debt is uneconomical to collect i.e. the cost of collection. 

 The debtor cannot be found despite all reasonable attempts to trace. The 
Revenues service has access to a credit reference agency database which 
is used for tracing absconded debtors.  Each case is checked against the 
system before a decision is taken to put forward the debt for write off. 

 The debtor is deceased and there is no likely settlement from the estate or 
next of kin. 

 Insolvency and personal bankruptcy where there are no assets to claim 
against and there is no/limited likelihood of settlement.

3.  Approach to Debt Write off

3.1 Bad debt provision - Business Rates proposed for write off relating to the current 
year are not met from the existing provision at 31st March 2020 but will be offset 
against the amount for bad debts included in the 2020/21 NNDR1(Government 
Return). There are also specific bad debt provisions for Council Tax, Housing 
Benefit Overpayments and Sundry Debts.

3.2 Legal checks – The Council’s Legal Team were sent a list of accounts proposed 
for write off. After taking their advice a case was removed from the list and 
further recovery action will be pursued. 

3.3 Whenever an amount is written off it is possible that further sums may be 
recovered in due course as new information is obtained. This would happen in 
the following instances: 

 Where a new address is found for an absconded debtor attempts will be 
made to recover any outstanding sums. 

 Whenever a firm or individual goes into bankruptcy, liquidation, 
receivership etc., the Council's interest is registered with the Receiver, 
Liquidator etc. and the receiver may pay a dividend to creditors; and

 Companies that have ceased trading but have not entered into insolvency 
may restart their business.

3.4 Reconciliation - following approval for the write off of individual cases, the 
Revenues Manager will provide a reconciliation statement identifying any 
discrepancies that have arisen and reasons for discrepancies.   Schedules of 
balances actually written off will accompany the statement and be submitted to 
Financial Management for evidence and monitoring of the bad debt provision.

Page 237

Agenda Item 16



4. Council’s constitution:

4.1 Within the Council’s financial regulations, debts for any single item or group of 
items up to £10,000 are submitted for approval to the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services in conjunction with the Chief Legal 
and Democratic Officer and the relevant Executive and/or Head of Service. 

4.2 Individual debts above this level (£10,000) require the approval of Audit & 
Governance Committee.  

5. Debts of over £10,000 Identified for Write-Off 

5.1 24 individual accounts with balances over £10,000 and totalling £643,883.41 have 
           been identified for write off. 

5.2 The accounts are summarised as follows: -

All Debts - Write offs over £10,000

Write off Reason No. of 
Cases Amount for Write Off

Ceased Trading No Assets 12 £                230,265.75
Deceased No Assets 1 £                141,757.11
Gone No Trace 1 £                  12,514.66
Individual Voluntary Arrangement 1 £                  30,353.99
In Administration 2 £                  31,953.45
Liquidation 5 £                167,603.37
Unable to Collect - Recovery 
Exhausted 2 £                  29,435.08
Totals 24 £                643,883.41

All Debts - Write Off amounts by Debt Year
Year Amount for Write Off
2009  £                             3,970.15 
2010  £                             3,596.00 
2011  £                           11,401.25
2012  £                           45,283.52                              
2013  £                           33,441.00
2014  £                           38,964.26
2015  £                           41,205.69
2016  £                           20,736.88
2017  £                         134,981.77
2018  £                         181,559.61
2019  £                         128,743.28
Total  £                         643,883.41 

Page 238

Agenda Item 16



Business Rates - Write offs over £10,000

Write off Reason No. of 
Cases Amount for Write Off

Ceased Trading No Assets 12 £                230,265.75
Deceased No Assets 1 £                141,757.11
Gone No Trace 1 £                  12,514.66
Individual Voluntary Arrangement 1 £                  30,353.99
In Administration 2 £                  31,953.45
Liquidation 4 £                121,362.80
Unable to Collect - Recovery 
Exhausted 2 £                  29,435.08
Totals 23 £                597,642.84

All Debts - Write Offs by Debt Year
Year Amount for Write Off
2009  £                             3,970.15 
2010  £                             3,596.00 
2011  £                           11,401.25
2012  £                           45,283.52                              
2013  £                           33,441.00
2014  £                           38,964.26
2015  £                           41,205.69
2016  £                           20,736.88
2017  £                           88,741.20
2018  £                         181,559.61
2019  £                         128,743.28
Total  £                         597,642.84 

Sundry Debts - Write offs over £10,000

Write off Reason No. of 
Cases Amount for Write Off

Liquidation 1  £                 46,240.57 
Totals 1  £                 46,240.57 

Sundry Debts - Write Offs by Debt Year
Year Amount for Write Off 
2017  £                               46,240.57 
Total  £                               46,240.57 

Page 239

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 241

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 245

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Write Off reason Recovery activity undertaken Checks undertaken When is the debt submitted for 
w/off

Bankruptcy/DRO  All recovery activity 
ceases at the date of 
bankruptcy regardless of 
what stage in recovery 
we have reached.

 Evidence of Bankruptcy Order or Debt 
Relief Order (DRO) can be found at 
Insolvency services website  
www.insolvencydirect.bis.gov.uk/eiir/

 For Bankruptcy - ensure that if an 
Insolvency Practitioner has been 
appointed that a proof of debt 
document is issued to register our 
claim. 

 In instances of Bankruptcy where no 
Insolvency Practitioner is appointed 
this means that no dividend will be 
paid and no proof of debt is required. 

 Once a person is declared bankrupt 
or made subject to a DRO no further 
recovery action may be taken against 
the debt.

 In respect of a DRO - 
immediately as there is no 
Insolvency Practitioner 
involved and no future 
dividend will be paid.

 In respect of Bankruptcy 
whilst we may receive some 
dividend in the future the 
debt is also submitted for 
write off immediately. 

 If we subsequently receive a 
dividend the credit reduces 
the amount of the original 
write off and these credits are 
reported as part of our year 
end write off reconciliation file 
to accounts.

P
age 247

A
genda Item

 16

http://www.insolvencydirect.bis.gov.uk/eiir/


2

Ceased Trading 
No Assets

 All recovery activity 
ceases when we are 
satisfied that the 
company has ceased 
trading and there are no 
assets available. 

 For a limited company evidence is 
required from Companies House that 
company is no longer trading. 

 Check most recently submitted 
audited accounts to determine if the 
company has any assets available.

 Evidence may also be requested 
regarding bank statements to 
determine no company activity. 

 In respect of a sole trader we will 
determine if the sole trader has any 
personal assets. 

 In absence of assets there is an 
unrealistic possibility of collection.

 Once evidence received that 
there are either no company 
assets or individual assets 
the case will be passed for 
write off. 

 Credit searches will 
determine if there are any 
personal assets available.

Deceased No 
Assets

 All recovery activity 
ceases at the date of 
death regardless of what 
stage in recovery we 
have reached.

 Evidence of death required. 

 Probate register will determine if there 
are any assets. In absence of this, a 
letter from the executor to indicate 
that there are no funds available to 
repay our debt.

 Once we are satisfied that 
the estate has no funds to 
pay debt off.

Gone No Trace  All recovery activity 
ceases at the date we 
are aware that a case is 
GNT. Recovery activity 
will recommence if 
located.

 When a gone away case is identified 
we do Internal system checks. 

 Credit Reference search is 
undertaken. 

 If unsuccessful pend the case for 9 
months when a further credit search is 
undertaken. If unsuccessful again, 
submit the case for write off.

 9 months after original gone 
no trace enquiries were 
made, if a forwarding 
address is still not found.

P
age 248

A
genda Item

 16



3

Irrecoverable 
CTRS

 There is no recovery 
activity with this type of 
write off

 In these cases, we have agreed not to 
collect an amount of Council Tax 
reduction scheme monies which have 
been reclaimed but deemed as 
irrecoverable.

 Immediately once identified 
by benefits team

IVA/CVA  All recovery activity 
ceases at the date of 
bankruptcy regardless of 
what stage in recovery 
we have reached.

 Individual Voluntary Arrangement and 
Company Voluntary Arrangements - 
These schemes may last for up to 5 
years. The debt is written off 
immediately. 

 We are required to submit a proof of 
debt to the Insolvency Practitioner 
overseeing the scheme. 

 We will receive a dividend each year 
pro rata to the total indebtedness of 
the customer. 

 If the customer fails to maintain 
payments the IVA fails and the 
original full debt outstanding then 
becomes due.

 As soon as the IVA/CVA is 
registered.

 Annual dividends will reduce 
the original balance written 
off. If the IVA/CVA fails the 
debt will be written on as it 
then legally becomes due 
again.

Liquidation  All recovery activity 
ceases at the date of 
bankruptcy regardless of 
what stage in recovery 
we have reached.

 Evidence required from Companies 
House that company has gone into 
liquidation (refer to)– 
www.companieshouse.gov.uk 

 If an Insolvency Practitioner has been 
appointed a proof of debt form is 
submitted. 

 If no Insolvency Practitioner is 
appointed and there are no company 
assets available the balance will be 
submitted for write off.

 Whist we may receive some 
dividend in the future the 
debt is submitted for write off 
immediately. 

 If we subsequently receive a 
dividend the credit reduces 
the amount of the original 
write off and these credits are 
reported as part of our year 
end write off reconciliation file 
to accounts.

P
age 249

A
genda Item

 16

http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/


4

Outside 
Jurisdiction

 There are certain 
circumstances where we 
can commence recovery 
action but alternative 
methods of service may 
be required subject to 
the country of residence. 

 Within our enforcement 
agents contract we have 
an option to use a third-
party specialist debt 
recovery team for high 
balance cases.

 If the debtor resides in a country 
outside our or our agent’s jurisdiction 
a decision must be taken to see if it is 
cost effective to pursue the debt. 

 Each case is looked at on its own 
merits and after a recommendation 
has been given by either our own 
legal team or a third-party partner to 
pursue or not. 

 Subject to the outcome of the 
items mentioned in column b

Receivership  All recovery activity 
ceases at the date of 
bankruptcy regardless of 
what stage in recovery 
we have reached.

 Evidence required from Companies 
House that company has gone into 
receivership (refer to) 
www.companieshouse.gov.uk

 The Receiver is sent a proof of debt 
form outlining the company debt.

 Whist we may receive some 
dividend in the future the 
debt is submitted for write off 
immediately. If we 
subsequently receive a 
dividend the credit reduces 
the amount of the original 
write off and these credits are 
reported as part of our year 
end write off reconciliation file 
to accounts.

Small Balance  Minimum requirement is 
to issue a bill. 
Uneconomical to issue 
further notices.

 Balances of £5 or less where it is not 
economical to pursue the debt.

 Immediately

Unable to collect 
- recovery 
exhausted

 Bill / Invoice sent.

 Reminder / Final Notice 
sent.

 All reasonable means of collection 
have been considered and proved 
unsuccessful e.g. Enforcement, 
Attachment, Committal, Bankruptcy, 
Charging Order.

 Once all the steps indicated 
in column b have been 
undertaken and proved to be 
unsuccessful or 
uneconomical to collect

P
age 250

A
genda Item

 16

http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/


5

 Summons sent.

 Liability Order granted at 
Magistrates Court for 
Council Tax and NNDR.
 

 Wherever possible 
Attachment of Earnings 
for Sundry Debts and 
Council Tax or a Direct 
Earnings Attachment for 
Housing Benefit 
Overpayment will be set 
up. 

 Wherever possible an 
Attachment of Benefit is 
set up for Council Tax 
and Housing Benefit 
Overpayment.

 Telephone debt chasing 
to make arrangements to 
pay.

 Home visits are made to 
make arrangements to 
pay.

 14 Day Warning Letter / 
Letter before action sent.  

 County Court Judgement 
can be obtained for 
Sundry Debt cases if 
appropriate. 

P
age 251

A
genda Item

 16



6

 Cases referred to 
Enforcement Agents / 
Debt Collectors.

 Charging Orders and 
Land

 Charges put against the 
property if appropriate.

 Committal action taken 
on Council Tax debts 
including surgeries at 
both One Stop shops.

 Statutory Demands 
issued for Bankruptcy 
proceedings.

 Cases where all 
available methods of 
enforcement have been 
exhausted are being 
returned to an 
enforcement agent for a 
further attempt to trace a 
new address and provide 
a propensity to pay 
score. Those reported 
with high or medium 
propensity to pay 
undergo a final attempt 
to enforce the debt 
before consideration is 
given to write off.

P
age 252

A
genda Item

 16



7

Unable to collect 
- over 6 years 
old (Sundry 
Debt /Reclaimed 
Housing Benefit 
and 
unsummonsed 
Council 
Tax/NNDR)

 All debts that have a 
limitation of 6 years 
should have a diary 
event when they are 
getting near to limitation. 

 All matters over 4 years 
to be looked at to see if 
any further Legal 
enforcement action could 
be taken.  

 All reasonable means of collection 
have been considered and proved 
unsuccessful e.g. County Court 
Judgement and associated recovery 
activities, Bankruptcy, Charging 
Order. 

  For Sundry Debts and 
Housing Benefit cases, 6 
years after the issue of any 
notice, follow up letters or 
payment the debt becomes 
statute barred and is 
uncollectable. 

 For Council Tax and NDR a 
Liability Order may not be 
applied for 6 years from the 
date of issue of demand.

Unable to 
establish 
liability

 Recovery action will 
cease once the debt is 
disputed. 

 In instances where the 
supporting 
documentation is unclear 
or unavailable we may 
have no other alternative 
but to submit for write 
off. 

 Liaison with legal 
department before final 
sign off is required.

 The checks we or the Sundry Debt 
client teams have undertaken have 
not been sufficient to correctly 
determine liability.

 As soon as practicable. 

 In some cases of larger 
balances these cases must 
receive approval for write off 
from the legal team.P

age 253

A
genda Item

 16



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 December 2020
	5 Corporate Risk Management
	Enc. 1 for Corporate Risk Management

	6 Audit and Governance Terms of Reference
	7 Members Code of Conduct
	8 Revisions to Employee Code of Conduct
	Appendix A - Revised Draft Employee Code of Conduct Policy
	Appendix B - Recommended format for Service Area Registers

	9 Amendments to the Constitution - Highways
	10 Financial Management Code
	Enc. 1 for Financial Management Code

	11 Treasury Management Position to January 2021
	12 Risk and Audit Performance Report
	Enc. 1 for Risk and Audit Performance Report

	13 Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2021/22
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Charter and Internal Audit Plan 2021/22

	14 Proposed changes to the Constitution in relation to Planning Committee
	16 Write Off of Irrecoverable Debts > £10,000
	Appendix 1 Business Rate cases over 10000_
	Appendix 2 Sundry Debt cases over £1000
	Background Paper Write Off Terms of Reference


